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accelerated filerA A &’ A SmallerA reportingA company 4’ A A A EmergingA growthA company &~ A If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not
to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards provided to SectionA 7(a)(2)(B) of the Securities Act.A &~ A The registrant hereby
amends this registration statement on such date or dates as may be necessary to delay its effective date until the registrant shall file a further amendment which specifically states that this
registration statement shall thereafter become effective in accordance with SectionA 8(a) of the Securities Act of 1933 or until the registration statement shall become effective on such date as
the Commission, acting pursuant to SectionA 8(a), may determine. A A A A A A The information contained in this preliminary prospectus is not complete and may be changed. These
securities may not be sold until the registration statement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission is effective. This preliminary prospectus is not an offer to sell these securities and
it is not soliciting an offer to buy these securities in any state where the offer or sale is not permitted. A PRELIMINARY PROSPECTUS A SUBJECT TO COMPLETION A DATED FebruaryA 14,

FundedWarrants to purchase AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAA shares of Common Stockand AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAA Warrants to purchase AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAA
Shares of Common Stock A We are offering on a best efforts basis up to $20 000,000 of our securities, consisting of units (the é€ernitsé€) each consisting of one share of our common stock

an exercise price of $ AAAAAAAA A per share of common stock (equal to 100% of the public offering price of each Umt sold in this offering), will be exermsable immediately, and will expire
five years from the date of issuance. A We are also offering pre-funded warrants (the 4€cePre-Funded Warrantsa€), to purchase up to an aggregate of shares of common stock to those
purchasers whose purchase of shares of common stock in this offering would result in the purchaser, together with its affiliates and certain related parties, beneficially owning more than 4.99%
(or, at the election of the purchaser, 9.99%) of our outstanding common stock following the consummation of this offering in lieu of the shares of our common stock that would result in
ownership in excess of 4.99% (or, at the election of the purchaser, 9.99%). Each Pre-Funded Warrant will be exercisable for one share of common stock at an exercise price of $0.001 per share.
Each Pre-Funded Warrant is being issued together with the same Common Warrant described above being issued with each share common stock. The assumed combined public offering price
for each such Pre-Funded Warrant, together with the Common Warrant, will be equal to the price per Unit including one share of common stock less the $0.001 per share exercise price of each
such Pre-Funded Warrant. Each Pre-Funded Warrant will be exercisable upon issuance and will expire when exercised in full. For each Pre-Funded Warrant we sell, the number of shares of
common stock we are offering will be decreased on a one-for-one basis. A The shares of our common stock and Pre-Funded Warrants, if any, and the accompanying Common Warrants can only
be purchased together in this offering but will be issued separately and will be immediately separable upon issuance. We are also registering the shares of common stock issuable from time to
time upon exercise of the Common Warrants and Pre-Funded Warrants included in theA units offered hereby. A Because this is a best-efforts offering, the Placement Agent does not have an
obligation to purchase any securities, and, as a result, there is a possibility that we may not be able to sell the securities. We expect that the offering will close on a T+1 basis after we first enter
into a securities purchase agreement relating to the offering and the offering will settle delivery versus payment (&4€0eDVPa€). Accordingly, we and the Placement Agent have not made any
arrangements to place investor funds in an escrow account or trust account since the Placement Agent will not receive investor funds in connection with the sale of the securities offered
hereunder. A A A A We have engaged AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAA (the A€cePlacement Agenta€) to act as our exclusive placement agent in connection with this offering. The
Placement Agent has agreed to use its reasonable best efforts to arrange for the sale of the securities offered by this prospectus. The Placement Agent is not purchasing or selling any of the
securities we are offering and the Placement Agent is not required to arrange the purchase or sale of any specific number or dollar amount of securities. We have agreed to pay to the Placement
Agent the Placement Agent fees set forth in the table below, which assumes that we sell all of the securities offered by this prospectus. There is no arrangement for funds to be received in
escrow, trust or similar arrangement. We will bear all costs associated with the offering. See 4€cePlan of Distributiona€ on pageA 66 of this prospectus for more information regarding these
arrangements. A Our common stock are currently listed on Nasdaq under the symbols &€ceRVYLA€. The last reported sale price of our common stock on the Nasdaq onA February 13, 2025 was
$1.24A per share of common stock. There is no established public trading market for the Pre-Funded Warrants or Common Warrants being offered in this offering, and we do not expect a
market to develop. In addition, we do not intend to apply to list the Pre-Funded Warrants or Common Warrants on any national securities exchange or other nationally recognized trading
system, including Nasdaq. Without an active trading market, the liquidity of the Pre-Funded Warrants or Common Warrants will be limited. A The actual combined public offering price per
share and Common Warrant and the actual combined public offering price per Pre-Funded Warrant and Common Warrant will be determined between us, the Placement Agent and investors in
this offering based on market conditions at the time of pricing and may be at a discount to the current market price of our common stock. Therefore, the recent market price used throughout
this prospectus may not be indicative of the final offering price.A A Investing in our securities involves a high degree of risk. See 4&€ceRisk Factorsa€ beginning on page 9. A Neither the
Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved of these securities or determined if this prospectus is truthful or complete. Any

representation to the contrary is a criminal offense. A A A Common Units(1)A A Pre-Funded Unit(1) JA A TotalA Public Offermg PriceA $AAAAAAAAA $AAAAAAAAAA

$AAAAAAAA Placement Agent fees(1)A $AAA $AAA $A A Proceeds, before expenses, tousA $AAA $AAA $AA A (1)We have agreed to pay the Placement Agent a total cash fee up
to 7.0% of the gross proceeds raised in this offering; provided, however, that we will pay placement agent fees equal to 3.5% per Common Unit or Pre-Funded Unit, with respect to any investors
in this offering introduced by us (the &€ceCompany Introduced Investorsa€). Table assumes that there are no Company Introduced Investors.. The Placement Agent will receive compensation in

common stock and Common Warrants, or Pre-Funded Warrants and Common Warrants, constituting the Units against payment on or about AAAAAAAAAAA, 2025 A A The date of this
prospectus sSAAAAAAAAA,2025A A A A Table of Contents A A A Page Prospectus Summary A 1 The Offering A 6 Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements A 8 Risk
Factors A 9 Use of Proceeds A 20 Capitalization A 21 Dilution A 22 Market Information for Common Stock and Dividend Policy A 23 Managementa€™s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operation A 24 Business A 37 Management A 49 Executive Compensation A 54 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions A 57 Security Ownership of Certain
Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters A 59 Description of Capital Stock A 60 Description of Securities We Are Offering A 63 Plan of Distribution A 66 Material
U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences A 71 Experts A 77 Legal Matters A 77 Where You Can Find More Information A 77 Index to Financial Statements A F-1 A i A A About this
Prospectus A We and the Placement Agent have not authorized anyone to provide any information or to make any representations other than those contained in this prospectus or in any free
writing prospectuses prepared by us or on our behalf or to which we have referred you. We take no responsibility for, and can provide no assurance as to the reliability of, any other information
that others may give you. This prospectus is an offer to sell only the securities offered hereby, but only under circumstances and in jurisdictions where it is lawful to do so. We are not making an
offer to sell these securities in any jurisdiction where the offer or sale is not permitted or where the person making the offer or sale is not qualified to do so or to any person to whom it is not
permitted to make such offer or sale. The information contained in this prospectus is current only as of the date on the front cover of the prospectus. Our business, financial condition, results of
operations and prospects may have changed since that date. A You should rely only on the information provided in this prospectus. You should not assume that the information contained in this
prospectus or any related free writing prospectus is accurate on any date subsequent to the date set forth on the front of the document, even though this prospectus or any related free writing
prospectus is delivered, or securities are sold, on a later date. This prospectus contains summaries of certain provisions contained in some of the documents described herein, but reference is
made to the actual documents for complete information. All of the summaries are qualified in their entirety by the actual documents. Copies of some of the documents referred to herein have
been or will be filed as exhibits to the registration statement of which this prospectus forms a part, and you may obtain copies of those documents as described in this prospectus under the
heading 4€ceWhere You Can Find More Information.a4€ You must not rely upon any information or representation not contained in this prospectus or any related free writing prospectus. This
prospectus and any related free writing prospectus do not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy any securities other than the registered securities to which they relate,
nor does this prospectus or any related free writing prospectus constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy securities in any jurisdiction to any person to whom it is unlawful to
make such offer or solicitation in such jurisdiction. A Persons who come into possession of this prospectus and any applicable free writing prospectus in jurisdictions outside the UnitedA States
are required to inform themselves about and to observe any restrictions as to this offering and the distribution of this prospectus and any such free writing prospectus applicable to that
jurisdiction. See 4€cePlan of Distribution&€ for additional information on these restrictions. A Industry and Market Data A Unless otherwise indicated, information in this prospectus concerning
economic conditions, our industry, our markets and our competitive position is based on a variety of sources, including information from third-partyA industry analysts and publications and our
own estimates and research. Some of the industry and market data contained in this prospectus are based on third-partyA industry publications. This information involves a number of
assumptions, estimates and limitations. A The industry publications, surveys and forecasts and other public information generally indicate or suggest that their information has been obtained
from sources believed to be reliable. None of the third-partyA industry publications used in this prospectus were prepared on our behalf. The industry in which we operate is subject to a high
degree of uncertainty and risk due to a variety of factors, including those described in &€ceRisk Factors&€ in this prospectus. These and other factors could cause results to differ materially from
those expressed in these publications. A ii A A Prospectus Summary A This summary highlights certain information appearing elsewhere in this prospectus. Because it is only a summary, it
does not contain all of the information that you should consider before investing in our securities and it is qualified in its entirety by, and should be read in conjunction with, the more detailed
information appearing elsewhere in this prospectus. Before you decide to invest in our securities, you should read the entire prospectus carefully, including &€ceRisk Factorsa€ beginning on
page 9 and the financial statements and related notes included in this prospectus. A Unless the context indicates otherwise, when we refer to &4€eRYVYL,&€ a€cewe,a€ a€ceour,a€ a€ceusa€ and
the 4€ceCompanya€ in this prospectus, we mean RYVYL Inc. unless otherwise specified. When we refer to 4€ceyou,4€ we mean the potential investors of the common stock offered hereby. A
Our Company A RYVYL&€™s strategy is rooted in our mission to transform the global payments landscape through technology-driven, customer-centric, and compliance-focused financial
solutions. Our legacy product was developed to facilitate payment processing for previously all cash businesses, offering a cloud-based network interface, merchant management system, Point
of Sale connectivity to facilitate noncash payment methods such as credit cards, debit cards and prepaid gift cards and to disburse those funds electronically to merchants later upon request.
The business has expanded both organically and through acquisitions. The companya€™s second-generation platform and financial service layers provide a dual-sided payment platform that
facilitates both acquiring and disbursements services. We operate globally in two segments, North America and Europe, expanding our product offerings, cultivating strategic partnerships, and
maintaining robust regulatory compliance across all markets in which we operate. A RYVYL&A€™ s comprehensive product suite is designed to create value across the entire financial ecosystem.
By combining advanced technology, global reach, and deep regulatory expertise, we empower businesses to manage payments, optimize cash flow, and scale operations efficiently in an
increasingly digital world. We believe that our commitment to continuous innovation helps us to remain at the forefront of the global fintech landscape, delivering secure, reliable, and
transformative financial solutions that drive growth and create lasting value for our clients and stakeholders. A RYVYL INC. operates through distinct business segments designed to meet the
diverse and evolving needs of global markets. Our business model is strategically structured around two primary geographic regionsa€”Europe and North Americaa€”each offering
complementary product and service portfolios that encompass payment processing, treasury management, acquiring, issuing, and electronic money institution (EMI) services. This segmentation
allows RYVYL to deliver tailored, market-specific solutions while maintaining a cohesive global strategy that supports operational efficiency, regulatory compliance, and financial growth. A Our
business segments are not siloed; rather, they are interconnected through shared technology platforms, unified compliance frameworks, and collaborative global partnerships. This integration
enables us to capitalize on synergies across regions, optimize resource allocation, and drive innovation that resonates across all markets in which we operate. A In North America, our focus is
on expanding treasury management services, Bank Identification Number (BIN) sponsorship for credit card processing, and comprehensive payment solutions such as ACH and wire transfers.
By leveraging third-party sponsorship arrangements alongside our technology, we are positioned to capture growth opportunities in key sectors, including e-commerce, fintech, and B2B
payments. Our strategy also emphasizes enhancing cross-border payment infrastructure, enabling businesses to transact efficiently across more than 200 markets and 140 currencies, thus
solidifying RYVYL&€™s role as a critical connector in the global financial ecosystem. A Product Innovation and Diversification A Innovation is the cornerstone of RYVYLA€™s growth strategy.
We continuously evolve our product portfolio to anticipate and meet the dynamic needs of businesses worldwide. Central to this is the enhancement of our dual-sided payment platform, which
facilitates both acquiring and disbursement services. This platform is designed to support emerging use cases in acquiring, disbursements, and embedded finance, delivering seamless, end-to-
end financial solutions. A Our treasury management services are evolving to include advanced features such as real-time liquidity tracking, dynamic fund allocation, and sophisticated FX risk
management tools, providing businesses with greater control and flexibility over their financial operations. We are expanding our card issuing capabilitiesd€”encompassing debit, prepaid, and
virtual cardsd€”and strengthening our BIN sponsorship programs to support fintech companies, neobanks, and enterprises looking to launch customized card programs on a global scale.
Furthermore, by integrating banking-as-a-service (BaaS) capabilities, RYVYL is positioned to power the financial infrastructure for platforms and marketplaces seeking embedded finance
solutions. A 1 Table of Contents A Operational Efficiency and Scalability A Operational excellence is fundamental to sustaining RYVYLA€™s growth and profitability. Our strategy is focused on
enhancing efficiency through technology, automation, and optimized resource management. By leveraging our advanced ledger technology, we believe that we can ensure real-time transaction



processing, data integrity, and the scalability required to handle high transaction volumes with minimal latency. A The implementation of automation across key functionsa€”including
compliance, reconciliation, and reportingd€”enables us to reduce operational costs, improve accuracy, and enhance service delivery. We are also optimizing our global operations by aligning
activities across Europe and North America, creating synergies that improve resource utilization, reduce overhead, and accelerate the deployment of new products and services. A Sustainable
Growth and Value Creation A RYVYL&€™s long-term success is anchored in sustainable growth strategies that deliver value to our customers, shareholders, and partners. We are committed to
diversifying revenue streams beyond traditional transaction-based income through the expansion of value-added services such as FX trading, treasury advisory, and compliance-as-a-service for
fintech partners. A A customer-centric approach underpins our growth strategy. We focus on enhancing client relationships, improving user experiences, and fostering customer loyalty through
tailored support models and innovative service offerings. Strategic mergers and acquisitions play a key role in our growth trajectory, allowing us to acquire complementary technologies, expand
our customer base, and strengthen our regulatory footprint in critical markets. Our commitment to environmental, social, and governance (ESG) principles is embedded in our operations. We
prioritize ethical business practices, data privacy, financial inclusion, and environmental responsibility, aligning our corporate values with the expectations of our stakeholders and the broader
global community. A Strategic Objectives A As we look ahead, RYVYLA€™s strategic objectives are focused on expanding our global reach, increasing transaction volumes, enhancing
profitability, and setting industry benchmarks in compliance and risk management. We aim to deepen our presence in key markets across Europe, North America, and emerging regions,
targeting new industries and verticals that align with our growth ambitions. A We believe that our commitment to innovation will drive the development of new products and platform
enhancements, with the intent to position RYVYL at the forefront of financial technology. We are dedicated to fostering an agile, resilient, and future-ready organization that can adapt to the
evolving demands of the global financial ecosystem. A Company History A The Company was formerly known as ASAP Expo, Inc. and was incorporated in the State of Nevada on April 10, 2007.
On January 4, 2020, RYVYL Inc. (4€cePubCoé&€) and GreenBox POS LLC (&€cePrivCoa€) entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement to memorialize a verbal agreement (the &€ceVerbal
Agreementa€) entered into on April 12, 2018, by and among PubCo (the buyer) and PrivCo (the seller). On April 12, 2018, pursuant to the Verbal Agreement, the Company acquired PrivCoa€™s
gateway and payment system business, point of sale system business, delivery business and kiosk business, bank and merchant accounts, as well as all intellectual property related thereto (the
a€meGreenBox Businessa€). As consideration for the GreenBox Business, on April 12, 2018, the Company assumed PrivCod€™ s liabilities that had been incurred in the normal course of the
GreenBox Business. A On May 3, 2018, the Company formally changed its name to &€ceGreenBox POS, LLC,4€ then subsequently changed its name to &€ceGreenBox POSA€ on December 13,
2018. On October 13, 2022, GreenBox POS changed its name to 4€ceRYVYL Inc.4€ A On May 21, 2021, the Company acquired all of the outstanding stock of Northeast Merchant Systems, Inc.
(&€eNortheasta€) in a transaction treated as a business combination. Northeast is a merchant services company providing merchant credit card processing through its own BIN with the
acquiring bank, Merrick. This involves inside operations for new merchants that include sales assistance and applications processing, underwriting, and onboarding and inside operations for
existing merchants include risk monitoring and customer service. Outside operations include equipment service or replacement; sales calls and applications; site inspections and identity
verification; security verification; and on-site customer service and technical support. A On July 13, 2021 (the 4€ceClosing Datea€), GreenBox POS entered into and closed on a Membership
Interest Purchase Agreement (the &€ceMembership Purchase Agreementa€) with Charge Savvy LLC, an Illinois limited liability company (4€ceCharge Savvya€), and Charge Savvya€™s three
members (collectively, the &€eMembership Sellersa€). One of the Membership Sellers, Ken Haller, was an employee of the Company on the Closing Date. As a result of the Membership
Purchase Agreement, the Company purchased all of Charge Savvya€™s issued and outstanding membership interests from the Membership Sellers and Charge Savvy became a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company. The purchase price under the Membership Purchase Agreement for the all-stock transaction consisted of 1,000,000 shares of the Companya€™s common stock being
issued and delivered to Membership Sellers in proportion to the Membership Sellersa€™ share of their membership interests in Charge Savvy. The share price at issuance was $12.14. Charge
Savvy is a fintech company specializing in developing software and providing payment processing and point-of-sale (&€cePOS&€) services to the merchant services industry. Charge Savvy also
owned an approximately 64,000 square foot office building located in Chicago, Illinois, where it is headquartered. A 2 Table of Contents A On March 31, 2022, the Company acquired a
portfolio of merchant accounts from Sky Financial & Intelligence LLC, a Wyoming limited liability company (&€ceSky Financiala€) for $18,110,000. The Company paid $16,000,000 of cash in
March 2022 and issued 500,000 shares of restricted common stock for the transaction on May 12, 2022. As of December 31, 2022, the Company had not received the delivery of the acquired
merchant list and the associated ISO management portal access, and as a result, it wrote-off the entire purchase price during the year ended December 31, 2022. The Company is currently in
Arbitration for breach of contract against Sky Financial, please refer to &€ceLegal Proceedingsa€ herein for further details on the status of this matter. A On April 1, 2022, the Company
completed the acquisition of Transact Europe Holdings OOD (a€ceTransact Europe Holdingsa€). Transact Europe Holdings is the holding company of Transact Europe EAD (4€0eTEU&€). TEU
formally changed its name to RYVYL EU on December 16, 2022. RYVYL EU is a European Union (a€ceEU&€) regulated electronic money institution headquartered in Sofia, Bulgaria. RYVYL EU
is a Principal Level member of Visa, a worldwide member of MasterCard, and a principal member of China UnionPay. In addition, RYVYL EU is part of the direct Single Euro Payments Area
(&€0eSEPA&€) program, a payment system enabling cashless payments across continental Europe. RYVYL EU provides complete payment solutions by offering acquiring, issuing of prepaid cards
and agent banking, serving hundreds of clients. With a global footprint, payment gateway, and technology platforms, RYVYL EU offers a comprehensive portfolio of services and decades of
industry experience. The Company paid approximately $28.8 million (4,—26.0 million) in total consideration for the purchase. A Recent Developments A In February 2024, the Company
transitioned its QuickCard product in North America away from terminal-based to app-based processing. This transition was driven by a change in our banking partner that was prompted by
recent changes in the compliance environment and banking regulations impacting certain niche high-risk business verticals, which were the predominant revenue driver for QuickCard. A
Management planned to recover the loss of revenues resulting from this product transition through the acceleration of business development efforts to launch the new app-based product in
existing and new business verticals. However, due to continuous changes in the regulatory environment and our previous banking relationships, during the second quarter of 2024, management
determined that the app-based product may not be a viable long-term solution for certain niche high-risk business verticals and made the decision to terminate the rollout of the app-based
product in those business verticals. To address this change, the Company recently introduced a licensing product for its payments processing platform, which it believes will enable it to serve
the same customer base in such verticals through a business partner with more suitable banking compliance capabilities. Revenues from the new licensing product are not expected to
materialize until late 2025. Due of this strategy shift as well as a reorganization of the Companya€ ™s business to better align with managementa€™ s revised strategy, which was executed
during the second quarter of 2024, the recovery of the loss of revenues resulting from this product transition is now not expected to occur until late 2025. A The decline in revenues resulting
from this product transition has adversely impacted the Companya€ ™s liquidity in its North America segment in the short term. As a result, management has determined that its cash and cash
equivalents in the North America segment as of December 31, 2024, will not be sufficient to fund the segmenta€™s operations and capital needs for the next 12 months from the date of this
prospectus. Managementa€™s intended plan over the next twelve months to address the liquidity shortfall in the North America segment includes, but is not limited to, the following: A
Continued execution of its accelerated business development efforts to drive volumes in diversified business verticals with the Company&€™s other products, including the recently launched
licensing of the Companya€ ™ s payments processing platform in certain niche high-risk business verticals; A Continued implementation of cost control measures to more effectively manage
spending in the North America segment and right sizing the organization, where appropriate; the sale of certain noncore assets; and A Repatriation of offshore profits from the Companya€™s
European subsidiaries, whose continued accelerated growth and generation of positive cash flow have already provided, and, the Company believes, will continue to provide, an immediate and
viable short-term source of capital during this product transition (as of February 8, 2025, the Company has repatriated approximately $15.3 million from Europe). A Management has assessed
that its intended plan described above, if successfully implemented, is appropriate and sufficient to address the liquidity shortfall in its North America segment and provide funds to cover
operations for the next 12 months from the date of this prospectus, and, in the case there is no revenue growth in the North America segment, approximately 6 months from the date of this
prospectus. However, there can be no guarantee that we will be successful in implementing our plan, that our projections of our future capital needs will prove accurate, or that any additional
funding will be sufficient to continue our operations in the North America segment. A 3 Table of Contents A Preferred Stock Repurchase And Note Repayment Agreement A On January 23,
2025, the Company entered into a Preferred Stock Repurchase and Note Repayment Agreement (the 4€ceRepurchase Agreementa€) with a securityholder of the Company (the
4€ceSecurityholdera€) which provides for repayment of the outstanding balance of an 8% Senior Convertible Note issued to the Securityholder on November 8, 2021 (the &€ceNotea€), which
Note was originally due on November 5, 2023, and which maturity date was extended through April 5, 2026, pursuant to subsequent extensions provided by the Securityholder. Additionally,
pursuant to two Exchange Agreements between the Company and the Securityholder entered into on July 25, 2023 and November 27, 2023, respectively, a portion of the outstanding balance of
the Note was exchanged for 55,000 shares of the Companya€™s Series B Convertible Preferred Stock, par value $0.01 per share (the &€ceSeries B Preferred Sharesa€). A Pursuant to terms of
the Repurchase Agreement, in consideration for an aggregate payment ofA $17,000,000 by the Company to the Securityholder (the &€ceRepurchase Pricea€), (i) the entire outstanding principal
balance of the Note, including all accrued and unpaid interest, shall be deemed to have been paid and (ii) all outstanding Series B Preferred Shares held by the Securityholder will be
repurchased by the Company. A The Repurchase Agreement provides for the payment of the Repurchase Price in two installments, the first in the amount of $13 million (the 4€ceFirst
Installmenta€), which was paid on January 27, 2025. The second installment, in the amount of $4 million (the &€ceSecond Installmenta€), is due and payable on or before April 30, 2025 (the
a€meSecond Installment Dated€), and the maturity date of the Note is advanced to such date. Upon the payment of the First Installment, all Series B Preferred Shares held by the Securityholder
were repurchased. A The Repurchase Agreement further provides that, during the period from the payment of the First Installment until the Second Installment Date, no interest will accrue on
the remaining balance of the Note and certain restrictive covenants under the Note will be temporarily waived. If the Company fails to make the Second Installment on or before the Second
Installment Date, then interest will continue to accrue again on the outstanding balance of the Note and all other terms of the Note will also be restored as they were prior to the date the First
Installment was paid. A Stock Purchase Agreement and Financing A On January 23, 2025, in connection with the Companya€™s securing financing (the 4€ceFinancinga€), the Company
entered into a stock purchase agreement (the 4€0eSPA&€) with a purchaser (the &€cePurchasera€) which provides for the sale to the Purchaser of all of the issued and outstanding shares of
capital stock (the 4€ceRyvyl EU Sharesa€) of the Companya€™ s indirect subsidiary domiciled in Bulgaria, Ryvyl (EU) EAD (&€ceRyvyl EU&€), by Transact Europe Holdings EOOD, the
Companyéa€™s wholly owned subsidiary, also domiciled in Bulgaria (&€ceTransact Europea€) for an aggregate purchase price of $15,000,000 (the &€ceFinancing Purchase Priced€). Under the
terms of the SPA, the Company was required to use $13 million of the net proceeds raised in the Financing to pay the First Installment of the Repurchase Price. A On January 23, 2025, the
Company, Transact Europe and the Purchaser also entered into a Termination Agreement (the &€ceTermination Agreementd€). Among other things, the Termination Agreement provides the
Company with the right to terminate the SPA and all of the transactions contemplated therein, by paying the Purchaser $16.5 million on or before 90 days after the date of execution of the SPA
(April 23, 2025), provided that such date may be extended an additional 30 days (May 23, 2025) in consideration for the Companya€™s payment of $500,000 to the Purchaser. If the SPA is
terminated as a result of such payment by the Company, the Ryvyl EU Shares will not be sold to the Purchaser and will be returned to Transact Europe and the SPA will be void and of no
further effect, except for some provisions that survive termination. In the event that the SPA is not so terminated, then the Purchaser will close on its purchase of the Ryvyl EU Shares; provided,
however, if the Purchaser is unable to close for any reason other than the Companya€ ™s breach, including the inability to obtain any regulatory clearances required for such transfer, then the
Company is liable for damages in the amount of $16.5 million. In the event that the Purchaser is unable to close on the transfer of the Ryvyl EU Shares, as a result of the Company4a€™s breach,
then the Company is liable for damages in an amount equal to the appraised value of the Ryvyl EU Shares. A 4 Table of Contents A Risks Associated with our Business A Our business and
ability to execute our business strategy are subject to a number of risks of which you should be aware before you decide to buy our common stock. In particular, you should carefully consider
the following risks, which are discussed more fully in the section entitled &€ceRisk Factorsa€ in this prospectus: A &—Our financial situation creates doubt whether we will continue as a going
concern A 4—We have entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement to sell a material subsidiary, which represents a substantial portion of our current business. Additionally, we may be
required to pay significant liquidated damages if the prospective purchaser unable to close the acquisition. A &—The loss of key personnel or the inability of replacements to quickly and
successfully perform in their new roles could adversely affect our business. A 4&—Low demand for new products and the inability to develop and introduce new products at favorable margins
could adversely impact our performance and prospects for future growth. A 4—Litigation may adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. A &—Fluctuations in
exchange rates could have a material and adverse effect on our results of operations and the value of your investment. A &—Adverse developments affecting the financial services industry,
including events or concerns involving liquidity, defaults or non-performance by financial institutions, have and could in the future, adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of
operations, or prospect. A 4—Our revenue projections related to our new licensing arrangements with payment services providers may not materialize due to customer acquisition and banking
compliance issues that are outside of our control. A &—Our financial statements may be materially affected as a result of material weaknesses in internal accounting controls. A &—We will
require additional financing to sustain or grow our operations. Raising additional capital may cause dilution to our existing stockholders and investors, restrict our operations or require us to
relinquish rights to our products and/or product candidates on unfavorable terms to us. A &—We are increasingly dependent on information technology, and potential cyberattacks, security
problems, or other disruption and expanding social media vehicles present new risks. A &—Data privacy and security concerns relating to our technology and our practices could cause us to
incur significant liability and deter current and potential users from using our products and services. Software bugs or defects, security breaches, and attacks on our systems could result in the
improper disclosure and use of user data and interference with our usersa€™ ability to use our products and services, harming our business operations. A Corporate Information A Our
principal executive offices are located at 3131 Camino Del Rio North, Suite 1400, San Diego, CA 92108. Our telephone number is (619) 631-8261. The address of our website is www.ryvyl.com.
The inclusion of our web address in this prospectus does not include or incorporate by reference the information on our website into this prospectus.A A Implications of Being a Smaller
Reporting Company A We are a smaller reporting company as defined in the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the 4€ceExchange Acta€). We may take advantage of certain of the
scaled disclosures available to smaller reporting companies and will be able to take advantage of these scaled disclosures for so long as (i)A the market value of our voting and non-voting
common stock held by non-affiliates is less than $250 million measured on the last business day of our second fiscal quarter or (ii)A our annual revenue is less than $100 million during the most
recently completed fiscalA year and the market value of our voting and non-voting common stock held by non-affiliates is less than $700 million measured on the last business day of our second
fiscal quarter. Specifically, as a smaller reporting company, we may choose to present only the two most recent fiscalA years of audited financial statements in our Annual Reports on FormA 10-
K and have reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation, and if we are a smaller reporting company with less than $100 million in annual revenue, we would not be
required to obtain an attestation report on internal control over financial reporting issued by our independent registered public accounting firm. A 5 Table of Contents A The Offering A Units
offered by us A Up to $20,000,000 of Units on a best-efforts basis, at an assumed public offering price of $ AAAAAAAAAA A A A per Unit. Each Unit consists of one share of common stock
and one Common Warrant. A We are also offering to each purchaser, with respect to the purchase ofA Units that would otherwise result in the purchasera€™s beneficial ownership exceeding
4.99% of our outstanding shares of common stock immediately following the consummation of this offering, the opportunity to purchase one Pre-Funded Warrant in lieu of one share of common
stock. A holder of Pre-Funded Warrants will not have the right to exercise any portion of its Pre-Funded Warrant if the holder, together with its affiliates, would beneficially own in excess of
4.99% (or, at the election of the holder, such limit may be increased to up to 9.99%) of the number of shares of common stock outstanding immediately after giving effect to such exercise. Each
Pre-Funded Warrant will be exercisable for one share of common stock. The purchase price per Pre-Funded Warrant will be equal to the price per Unit, minus $0.001, and the exercise price of
each Pre-Funded Warrant will equal $0.001 per share. The Pre-Funded Warrants will be immediately exercisable (subject to the beneficial ownership cap) and may be exercised at any time in
perpetuity until all of the Pre-Funded Warrants are exercised in full. TheA Units will not be certificated or issued in stand-alone form. The shares of common stock, and/or Pre-Funded Warrants,



placement agent fees and estimated offering expenses payable by us. However, this is a best efforts offering with no minimum number of securities or amount of proceeds as a condition to
closing, and we may not sell all or any of these securities offered pursuant to this prospectus; as a result, we may receive significantly less in net proceeds. If we raise the maximum amount of
gross proceeds in this offering of $20 million, the net proceeds received by us from this offering, in an approximate amount of $ AAAAAAAAA A A A A million, will be used (i) to pay $16.5
million to the proposed purchaser of our subsidiary, Ryvyl EU, in order to terminate the sale of our Ryvyl EU business to such proposed purchaser, and (ii) the remainder will be used to pay
down all or a portion of the $4 million outstanding balance of the Note. If the net proceeds received by us from this offering are insufficient to pay the prospective purchaser $16.5 million on or
before April 23, 2025, or in consideration of payment of an additional $500,000 to the prospective purchaser, on or before May 23, 2025, the prospective purchaser would acquire substantially
all of our current business operations, and it is likely that we would not be able to continue our business. See &€ceUse of Proceeds.4€ A A A Description of the Common Warrants A The
Common Warrants will have an exercise price of $ AAAAAAAAAAAA A per share of common stock (100% of the public offering price of the Common Units), will be immediately
exercisable and will expire five years from the date of issuance. Each Common Warrant is exercisable for one share of common stock, subject to adjustment in the event of stock dividends, stock
splits, stock combinations, reclassifications, reorganizations or similar events affecting our common stock. A A holder may not exercise any portion of a Common Warrant to the extent that the
holder, together with its affiliates and any other person or entity acting as a group, would own more than 4.99% of our outstanding shares of common stock after exercise, as such ownership
percentage is determined in accordance with the terms of the Common Warrants, except that upon notice from the holder to us, the holder may waive such limitation up to a percentage, not in
excess of 9.99%. This prospectus also relates to the offering of the common stock issuable upon exercise of the Common Warrants. A 6 Table of Contents A A A To better understand the terms
of the Common Warrants, you should carefully read the a€ceDescription of Securities We Are Offeringa€ section of this prospectus. You should also read the form of Common Warrant, which is
filed as an exhibit to the registration statement that includes this prospectus. A A A Nasdaq Symbol and Trading A Our common stock is currently listed on Nasdaq under the symbols
4€eRVYLA€. There is no established public trading market for the Pre-Funded Warrants or Common Warrants, and we do not expect a market to develop. In addition, we do not intend to apply
to list the Pre-Funded Warrants or Common Warrants on any national securities exchange or other nationally recognized trading system. Without an active trading market, the liquidity of the
Pre-Funded Warrants and Common Warrants will be limited. A A A Risk Factors A Investing in our securities involves a high degree of risk. See a€ceRisk Factorsa€ beginning on page 9 and
the other information in this prospectus for a discussion of the factors you should consider carefully before you decide to invest in our securities. A A A Lock-Up A In connection with this
offering, our directors and executive officers and holders of 5% or more of our outstanding shares of common stock have agreed not to offer, issue, sell, contract to sell, encumber, grant any
option for the sale of or otherwise dispose of any of our securities for a period of ninety (90) days following the closing of the offering of the Units. Additionally, we have agreed, subject to
certain exceptions, not to offer, issue, sell, contract to sell, encumber, grant any option for the sale of or otherwise dispose of any shares of our common stock or other securities convertible into
or exercisable or exchangeable for our common stock for a period of ninety (90) days after this offering is completed without the prior written consent of the Placement Agent (the &€ceLock-Up
Perioda€). See 4€cePlan of Distributiona€ for more information. A A A Right of First Refusal A For a period of nine (9) months after this offering, we have provided the Placement Agent with a
right of first refusal to act as sole managing underwriter and sole book runner, sole placement agent, or sole sales agent, for any all future public or private equity, equity-linked or debt
(excluding commercial bank debt) offerings for which we retain the service of an underwriter, agent, advisor, finder or other person or entity in connection with such offering. See &€cePlan of
Distributiona€ for more information. A A A Best Efforts Offering A We have agreed to offer and sell the securities offered hereby to the purchasers through the Placement Agent. The
Placement Agent is not required to buy or sell any specific number or dollar amount of the securities offered hereby, but it will use its reasonable best efforts to solicit offers to purchase the
securities offered by this prospectus. See 4€cePlan of Distributiona€ on pageA 66 of this prospectus. A The number of shares of our common stock to be outstanding upon completion of this
offering is based on 8,351,086 shares of our common stock outstanding as of February 1, 2025, and excludes: A 4—75,687 unvested restricted stock awards, at a weighted average fair value
price of $1.88 per share; A 4—573,127 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of stock options currently outstanding, at a weighted average exercise price of $4.20 per share with
expiration dates ranging from June 22, 2025 to November 11, 2033; A 4—4,214,903 shares of our common stock reserved for future issuance under our equlty incentive plans; and A Unless
otherwise indicated, this prospectus reflects and assumes the following: A 4—No Pre-Funded Warrants are included in the Units offered hereby; and A A 4— No exercise of the Common
Warrants included in the Units offered hereby. A 7 Table of Contents A Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements A The information included into this prospectus contains
forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or Securities Act, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended
(the &€eExchange Acta€). These forward-looking statements that relate to future events or our future financial performance and involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other
factors that may cause our actual results, levels of activity, performance or achievements to differ materially from any future results, levels of activity, performance or achievements expressed
or implied by these forward-looking statements. Words such as, but not limited to, a&€cebelieve,a€ a€mexpect,a€ a€ceanticipate,a€ a€ceestimate,a€ a€ceintend,a€ a€ceplan,a€ a€cetargets,a€
a€celikely,a€ a€oeaim,a€ d€cewill, 4€ a€ewould,a€ a€cecould,a€ and similar expressions or phrases identify forward-looking statements. We have based these forward-looking statements largely
on our current expectations and future events and financial trends that we believe may affect our financial condition, results of operation, business strategy and financial needs. Actual results
may differ materially from those expressed or implied in such forward-looking statements as a result of various factors. We do not undertake, and we disclaim, any obligation to update any
forward-looking statements or to announce any revisions to any of the forward-looking statements, except as required by law. Forward-looking statements include, but are not necessarily
limited to, those relatlng to: A A—our expectations related to the use of proceeds from this offering; A 4—our need for, and ability to raise, additional capital; A a—the acceptance and approval
of regulatory filings; A 4—our current or prospective collaboratorsa€™ compliance or non-compliance with their obligations under our agreements with them; A 4—Our ability to effectively
execute our business plan; A 4—Our ability to manage our expansion, growth and operating expenses both domestically and internationally; A 4—Our ability to comply with new regulations
and compliance requirements that affect our business; A a—Our ability to evaluate and measure our business, prospects and performance metrics; A &—Our ability to compete and succeed in
an evolving industry; A &—Our ability to respond and adapt to rapid changes in technology; A a—Risks in connection with completed or potential acquisitions, post-acquisition integrations,
dispositions and other strategic growth opportunities and initiatives; A &—Risks related to our sale of our subsidiary, Ryvyl EU, representing a substantial portion of our business, if we are
unable to pay the prospective purchaser $16.5 million by April 23, 2025 (May 23, 2025, if we pay such prospective purchaser $500,000 for a 30-day extension. A A a— Risks related to our
dependence on our technology, which we may not be able to protect; and A 4&—other factors discussed elsewhere in this prospectus. A The foregoing does not represent an exhaustive list of
matters that may be covered by the forward-looking statements contained herein or risk factors that we are faced with. Forward-looking statements necessarily involve risks and uncertainties,
and our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in the forward-looking statements due to a number of factors, including those set forth under the section of this prospectus
entitled a€ceRisk Factorsa€ elsewhere in this prospectus. The factors set forth under the a€ceRisk Factorsa€ section and other cautionary statements made in this prospectus should be read and
understood as being applicable to all related forward-looking statements wherever they appear in this prospectus. The forward-looking statements contained in this prospectus represent our
judgment as of the date of this prospectus. We caution readers not to place undue reliance on such statements. Except as required by law, we undertake no obligation to update publicly any
forward-looking statements for any reason, even if new information becomes available or other events occur in the future. All subsequent written and oral forward-looking statements
attributable to us or persons acting on our behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by the cautionary statements contained above and throughout this prospectus. A 8 Table of Contents A
Risk Factors A Any investment in our securities involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the risks described below, which we believe represent certain of the material risks
to our business, together with the information contained elsewhere in this prospectus, before you make a decision to invest in our securities. Please note that the risks highlighted here are not
the only ones that we may face. For example, additional risks presently unknown to us or that we currently consider immaterial or unlikely to occur could also impair our operations. If any of
the following events occur or any additional risks presently unknown to us actually occur, our business, financial condition and operating results may be materially adversely affected. In that
event, the trading price of our securities could decline and you could lose all or part of your investment. A Risks Related to Our Business and Industry A Our financial situation creates doubt
whether we will continue as a going concern. A As described in the Notes to the Financial Statements for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, and for the nine months ended
September 30, 2024 and September 30, 2023, the Company has a substantial doubt about the Companya€™s ability to continue as a going concern. As of September 30, 2024, we had an
accumulated deficit of $172.5 million. There can be no assurances that we will be able to achieve a level of revenues adequate to generate sufficient cash flow from operations or additional
financing through private placements, public offerings and/or bank financing necessary to support our working capital requirements. To the extent that funds generated from any private
placements, public offerings and/or bank financing are insufficient, we will need to raise additional working capital. No assurance can be given that additional financing will be available, or if
available, we will be able to secured any such financing on acceptable terms. These conditions raise substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern. If adequate working
capital is not available, we may be forced to discontinue operations, which would cause investors to lose their entire investment. A We have entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement to sell
a material subsidiary, which represents a substantial portion of our current business. Additionally, we may be required to pay significant liquidated damages if the prospective purchaser is
unable to close the acquisition. A As described elsewhere in this prospectus, we entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement with a prospective purchaser which provides for the sale to such
prospective purchaser of all of the issued and outstanding shares of capital stock of our indirectly subsidiary, Ryvyl EU (the &€ceRyvyl EU Sharesa€), which represents a materially significant
portion of the Companya€™ s current business and substantially all business as classified under the Companya€™s Internal reporting segment as described in the Notes to the Financial
Statements for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, and for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and September 30, 2023. We also entered into a Termination Agreement with
such prospective purchaser, providing us with the right to terminate the Securities Purchase Agreement and such prospective purchasera€™s right to purchaser our Ryvyl EU business, if we
pay such prospective purchaser $16.5 million on or before (April 23, 2025 (or as may be extended an additional 30 days until May 23, 2025 in consideration for our payment of $500,000 to such
prospective purchaser). In the event that we are unable to terminate the sale of our Ryvyl EU business, the prospective purchaser would be able to acquire our Ryvyl EU business, which
represents a substantial percentage of our current business. The loss of such business would have a material adverse effect on our business and financial condition and would likely result in the
termination of our business. A Additionally, if the prospective purchaser is unable to acquire the Ryvyl EU Shares close for any reason other than our breach, including the inability to obtain
any regulatory clearances required for such transfer from the applicable Bulgarian governmental authorities, then we are required to pay such prospective purchaser liquidated damages in the
amount of $16.5 million. In the event that the prospective purchaser is unable to acquire the Ryvyl EU Shares, as a result of our breach, then we are required to pay the prospective purchaser
liquidated damages in an amount equal to the appraised value of the Ryvyl EU Shares. Our payment of either of such liquidated damages amounts to the prospective purchaser would have a
material adverse impact on our business and financial condition and in the event of our obligation to pay $16.5 million would likely result in the termination of our business, and in the event of
our obligation to pay the appraised value of the Ryvyl EU Shares would definitely result in the termination of our business. A The loss of key personnel or the inability of replacements to quickly
and successfully perform in their new roles could adversely affect our business. A We depend on the leadership and experience of our relatively small number of key executive management
personnel, particularly our Chairman of the Board of Directors (the 4€ceBoarda€) and Executive Vice President, Ben Errez, and our Director and Chief Executive Officer, Fredi Nisan. The loss of
the services of any of our key executives or any of our executive management members could have a material adverse effect on our business and prospects, as we may not be able to find
suitable individuals to replace such personnel on a timely basis or without incurring increased costs, or at all. Furthermore, if we lose or terminate the services of one or more of our key
employees or if one or more of our current or former executives or key employees joins a competitor or otherwise competes with us, it could impair our business and our ability to successfully
implement our business plan. Additionally, if we are unable to hire qualified replacements for our executive and other key positions in a timely fashion, our ability to execute our business plan
would be harmed. Even if we can quickly hire qualified replacements, we would expect to experience operational disruptions and inefficiencies during any transition. We believe that our future
success will depend on our continued ability to attract and retain highly skilled and qualified personnel. There is a high level of competition for experienced, successful personnel in our
industry. Our inability to meet our executive staffing requirements in the future could impair our growth and harm our business. A 9 Table of Contents A Our executive officers, directors, and
principal shareholders maintain the ability to control substantially all matters submitted to shareholders for approval. A As of February 11, 2025, our executive officers, directors, and
shareholders who owned more than 5% of our outstanding Common Stock, in the aggregate, beneficially owned 2,291,751 shares of Common Stock representing approximately 26% of our
outstanding capital stock. As a result, if these shareholders were to choose to act together, they would be able to control substantially all matters submitted to our shareholders for approval, as
well as our management and affairs. For example, these persons, if they choose to act together, would control the election of directors and approval of any merger, consolidation or sale of all or
substantially all of our assets. This concentration of voting power could delay or prevent an acquisition of us on terms that other shareholders may desire. A Low demand for new products and
the inability to develop and introduce new products at favorable margins could adversely impact our performance and prospects for future growth. A Our competitive advantage is due in part
to our ability to develop and introduce new products in a timely manner at favorable margins. The uncertainties associated with developing and introducing new products, such as market
demand and costs of development and production, may impede the successful development and introduction of new products on a consistent basis. Introduction of new technology may result in
higher costs to us than that of the technology replaced. That increase in costs, which may continue indefinitely or until increased demand and greater availability in the sources of the new
technology drive down its cost, could adversely affect our results of operations. Market acceptance of the new products introduced in recent years and scheduled for introduction in future years
may not meet sales expectations due to various factors, such as the failure to accurately predict market demand, end-user preferences, evolving industry standards, or the emergence of new or
disruptive technologies. Moreover, the ultimate success and profitability of the new products may depend on our ability to resolve technical and technological challenges in a timely and cost-
effective manner. Our investments in productive capacity and commitments to fund advertising and product promotions in connection with these new products could erode profits if those
expectations are not met. A A prolonged economic downturn could adversely affect our business. A Uncertain global economic conditions could adversely affect our business. The COVID-19
pandemic negatively impacted some of our clients as they saw reductions in revenues due to business closures which caused our processing volume to decline. Negative global and national
economic trends, such as decreased consumer and business spending, high unemployment levels and declining consumer and business confidence, pose challenges to our business and could
result in declining revenues, profitability, and cash flow. Although we continue to devote significant resources to support our brands, unfavorable economic conditions may negatively affect
demand for our products. A We could face substantial competition, which could reduce our market share and negatively impact our net revenue. A Notable companies in the payment facilitator
industry include PayPal, Stripe, and Square. Many of our payment facilitator competitors are significantly larger than we are and have considerably greater financial, technical, marketing, and
other resources than we do. Some competitors may have a lower cost of funds and access to funding sources that are not available to us. We cannot assure you that the competitive pressures
we face will not have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations. A A Litigation may adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of



operations. A From time to time in the normal course of our business operations, we may become subject to litigation involving intellectual property, data privacy and security, consumer
protection, commercial disputes and other matters that may negatively affect our operating results if changes to our business operation are required. We may also be subject to a variety of
claims including product warranty, product liability, and consumer protection claims related to product defects, among other litigation. We may also be subject to claims involving health and
safety, other environmental impacts, or service disruptions or failures. The cost to defend such litigation may be significant and may require a diversion of our resources. There also may be
adverse publicity associated with litigation that could negatively affect customer perception of our business, regardless of whether the allegations are valid or whether we are ultimately found
liable. As a result, litigation may adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, insurance may not cover existing or future claims, be sufficient to fully
compensate us for one or more of such claims or continue to be available on terms acceptable to us. A claim brought against us that is uninsured or underinsured could result in unanticipated
costs, thereby adversely affecting our results of operations and resulting in a reduction in the trading price of our stock. A Expectations relating to environmental, social, and governance (ESG)
considerations could expose us to potential liabilities, increased costs, and reputational harm. A We are subject to laws, regulations, and other measures that govern a wide range of topics,
including those related to matters beyond our core products and services. For instance, new laws, regulations, policies, and international accords relating to ESG matters, including
sustainability, climate change, human capital, and diversity, are being developed and formalized in Europe, the U.S., and elsewhere, which may entail specific, target-driven frameworks and/or
disclosure requirements. Any failure, or perceived failure, by us to adhere to our public statements, comply fully with developing interpretations of ESG laws and regulations, or meet evolving
and varied stakeholder expectations and standards could harm our business, reputation, financial condition, and operating results. A Adverse developments affecting the financial services
industry, including events or concerns involving liquidity, defaults or non-performance by financial institutions, have and could in the future, adversely affect our business, financial condition,
results of operations, or prospects. A The funds in our accounts are held in banks or other financial institutions. Our funds held in non-interest bearing and interest-bearing accounts would
exceed any applicable Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (&€0eFDICa€) insurance limits. Should events, including limited liquidity, defaults, non-performance or other adverse
developments occur with respect to the banks or other financial institutions that hold our funds, or that affect financial institutions or the financial services industry generally, or concerns or
rumors about any events of these kinds or other similar risks, our liquidity may be adversely affected. For example, on March 10, 2023, the FDIC announced that Silicon Valley Bank had been
closed by the California Department of Financial Protection and Innovation. Although we did not have any funds in Silicon Valley Bank or other institutions that have been closed, we cannot
guarantee that the banks or other financial institutions that hold our funds will not experience similar issues. A 10 Table of Contents A Our business is dependent on our strategic banking
relationships to process our electronic transactions. If we are unable to secure or retain a banking partner due to market conditions in the financial services industry, our financial condition will
be materially affected. A In addition, investor concerns regarding the U.S. or international financial systems could result in less favorable commercial financing terms, including higher interest
rates or costs and tighter financial and operating covenants, or systemic limitations on access to credit and liquidity sources, thereby making it more difficult for us to acquire financing on
terms favorable to us could have material adverse impacts on our liquidity, our business, financial condition or results of operations, and our prospects. Our business is dependent on our
strategic banking relationships to process our electronic transaction. Our business and our relationships with banking partners has been and may in the future, be adversely impacted by these
developments in ways that we cannot predict at this time. There may be additional risks that we have not yet identified, and we cannot guarantee that we will be able to avoid negative
consequences directly or indirectly from any failure of one or more banks or other financial institutions. A In February 2024, the Company transitioned its QuickCard product in North America
away from terminal-based to app-based processing. This transition coincided with a change in our banking partner that was prompted by recent changes in the compliance environment and
banking regulations. The unforeseen abrupt nature of the transition and slow initial adoption of the app-based product has led to a significant decline in processing volume in North America.
This in turn has adversely affected revenue in the North America segment and, as a result, the North America segmenta€™s revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 were down
by approximately 77 percent, which is primarily attributable to this product transition. See the Notes to the Financial Statements for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, and for the
nine months ended September 30, 2024 and September 30, 2023, for additional information. A As a result of the developments described above, the Companya€™s liquidity in its North
America segment has been adversely impacted in the short term. In direct response, management has devised a plan, which it has assessed as appropriate and sufficient to address the liquidity
shortfall in the North America segment. Refer to the 4€ceGoing Concerna€ subsection within Note 2,A Summary of Significant Accounting Policies,A in the Notes to the Financial Statements for
the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, and for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and September 30, 2023, for details of managementa€™s intended plan and further
assessment. A Fluctuations in exchange rates could have a material and adverse effect on our results of operations and the value of your investment. A As much of the Companya€™s current
operations are conducted in Europe, the Company receives a significant amount of currency in Euros from its operations, however the Companya€™ s reporting currency is U.S. dollars.
Accordingly, fluctuations in the value of the Euro relative to the U.S. dollar could affect its results of operations due to translational remeasurements. As its international operations expand
relative to its domestic operations, an increasing portion of its revenue and operating expenses will be denominated in non-US currencies. Accordingly, the Companya€™s revenue and
operating expenses will become increasingly subject to fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates. If the Company is not able to successfully hedge against the risks
associated with currency fluctuations, the Companya€™ s business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially adversely affected. A Risks Related to Our Financial Position
and Need for Capital A Our revenue projections related to our new licensing arrangements with payment services providers may not materialize due to customer acquisition and banking
compliance issues that are outside of our control. A As part of the Companya€™s plan to diversify its business, it recently launched a new licensing product for its payment processing platform.
The Company will generate revenues from these arrangements from use-based license fees that it will charge to the payment services providers. The Companya€™s ability to generate revenues
from these licensing arrangements is contingent on the success of the licensees in utilizing and servicing their customers on their platforms, as the licensees will have exclusive control over,
among other things, implementation and operations of the point of banking system, procurement of ACH processing solutions, and customer acquisitions. A The licensees will also have control
in determining clients and industries utilizing the licensed technology, which requires an understanding of various banking laws and regulations that may impact the licenseea€™s servicing of
customer accounts. For example, federal money laundering statutes and Bank Secrecy Act regulations discourage financial institutions from working with operators of certain industries,
particularly those with heightened cash reporting obligations and restrictions. As a result, banks may refuse to process certain payments and/or require onerous reporting obligations by
payment processors to avoid compliance risk. These and other complexities surrounding banking and payment processing laws may make it difficult for the licensees to acquire customers,
thereby negatively impacting the Companya€ ™ s ability to generate revenues from these arrangements. A 11 Table of Contents A Our financial statements may be materially affected if our
estimates prove to be inaccurate as a result of our limited experience in making critical accounting estimates. A Financial statements prepared in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles (4€GAAPa€) require the use of estimates, judgments, and assumptions that affect the reported amounts. Actual results may differ materially from these estimates under
different assumptions or conditions. These estimates, judgments, and assumptions are inherently uncertain, and, if they prove to be wrong, then we face the risk that charges to income will be
required. In addition, because we have limited to no operating history and limited experience in making these estimates, judgments, and assumptions, the risk of future charges to income may
be greater than if we had more experience in these areas. Any such charges could significantly harm our business, financial condition, results of operations, and the price of our securities. A
The restatement of our historical financial statements has consumed a significant amount of our time and resources and may continue to do so. A As further described in Note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, we have previously restated our consolidated financial statements for quarters ending March 31, 2021, June
30, 2021, September 30, 2021, March 31, 2022, June 30, 2022, and September 30, 2022, and for the annual period ending December 31, 2021, and previously presented the effects of the
restatement adjustments in its 2022 Annual Report . The restatement process was highly time and resource-intensive and involved substantial attention from management, as well as significant
legal and accounting costs. Although we have now completed the restatement, we cannot guarantee that we will have no further inquiries from the SEC or The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC
(4€ceNasdaqa€) regarding our restated consolidated financial statements or matters relating thereto. A Any future inquiries from the SEC or Nasdaq as a result of the restatement of our
historical financial statements will, regardless of the outcome, likely consume a significant amount of our resources in addition to those resources already consumed in connection with the
restatement itself. A Further, many companies that have been required to restate their historical financial statements have experienced a decline in stock price and stockholder lawsuits related
thereto. A Our financial statements may be materially affected as a result of material weaknesses in internal accounting controls. A We are subject to the reporting requirements of the
Exchange Act, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, and Nasdaq rules and regulations. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other things, that we maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures
and internal control over financial reporting. Effective internal control over financial reporting is necessary for us to provide reliable financial reports and, together with adequate disclosure
controls and procedures, is designed to prevent fraud. We must perform system and process evaluation and testing of our internal controls over financial reporting to allow management to
report on the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting in this prospectus, as required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (a€aeSection 404a€). This requires
significant management efforts and requires us to incur substantial professional fees and internal costs to expand our accounting and finance functions. Any failure to implement required new
or improved controls, or difficulties encountered in their implementation, could cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations. In addition, any testing by us, as and when required, conducted
in connection with Section 404, or any subsequent testing by our independent registered public accounting firm, as and when required, may reveal deficiencies in our internal controls over
financial reporting that are deemed to be significant deficiencies or material weaknesses, including the material weakness described below, or that may require prospective or retroactive
changes to our financial statements, or may identify other areas for further attention or improvement. Furthermore, we cannot be certain that our efforts will be sufficient to remediate or
prevent future material weaknesses or significant deficiencies from occurring. A We have identified control deficiencies in the design and implementation of our internal control over financial
reporting that constituted a material weakness. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting such that there is a reasonable
possibility that a material misstatement of our financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Any failure to implement and maintain effective internal control over
financial reporting could adversely affect the results of the period including management evaluations and annual independent registered public accounting firm attestation reports regarding the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting that we will eventually be required to include in our periodic reports that are filed with the SEC. Ineffective disclosure controls and
procedures and internal control over financial reporting could also cause investors to lose confidence in our reported financial and other information, which would likely have a negative effect
on the trading price of our stock. The material weakness that was identified, which relates to internal control over financial reporting, is as follows: A 4—Currently, management does not have
a complete process in place to fully reconcile the transactions between its operating system (a Company-developed platform) and its general ledger system, at the individual transaction level.
This deficiency hampers the Companya€™s ability to timely and accurately identify differences that may require adjustment to its consolidated financial statements. A 12 Table of Contents A
Management is in the process of remediating the deficiency described above and intends to take any additional actions as may be deemed appropriate to further strengthen the Companya€™s
internal control over financial reporting. However, because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Additionally, projections
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate. In the future, we may identify additional material weaknesses that may cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations or result in material
misstatements of our financial statements. If we fail to remediate such material weaknesses or if we otherwise fail to establish and maintain effective control over financial reporting, our ability
to accurately and timely report our financial results could be adversely affected. A We will require additional financing to sustain or grow our operations. Raising additional capital may cause
dilution to our existing stockholders and investors, restrict our operations or require us to relinquish rights to our products and/or product candidates on unfavorable terms to us. A We will
need to seek additional capital through a variety of means, including through private and public equity offerings and debt financings, collaborations, strategic alliances, and marketing or
licensing arrangements. To the extent that we raise additional capital through the sale of equity or convertible debt securities, or through the issuance of shares under other types of contracts,
or upon the exercise or conversion of outstanding options, warrants, convertible debt or other similar securities, the ownership interests of our stockholders will be diluted, and the terms of
such financings may include liquidation or other preferences, anti-dilution rights, conversion and exercise price adjustments and other provisions that adversely affect the rights of our
stockholders, including rights, preferences and privileges that are senior to those of our holders of Common Stock in terms of the payment of dividends or in the event of a liquidation. In
addition, debt financing, if available, could include covenants limiting or restricting our ability to take certain actions, such as incurring additional debt, making capital expenditures, entering
into licensing arrangements, or declaring dividends and may require us to grant security interests in our assets. If we raise additional funds through collaborations, strategic alliances, or
marketing, distribution or licensing arrangements with third parties, we may have to relinquish valuable rights to our technologies, future revenue streams, product or product candidates or
grant licenses on terms that may not be favorable to us. If we are unable to raise additional funds through equity or debt financing when needed, we may need to curtail or cease our operations.
A Our growth will be dependent on our ability to access additional equity and debt capital. We may seek additional capital through a variety of means, including through private and public
equity offerings and debt financings, collaborations, and strategic alliances. To the extent that we raise additional capital through the sale of equity or convertible debt securities, or through the
issuance of shares under other types of contracts, or upon the exercise or conversion of outstanding options, warrants, convertible debt or other similar securities, the ownership interests of our
stockholders will be diluted, and the terms of such financings may include liquidation or other preferences, anti-dilution rights, conversion and exercise price adjustments and other provisions
that adversely affect the rights of our stockholders, including rights, preferences, and privileges that are senior to those of our holders of Common Stock in terms of the payment of dividends or
in the event of a liquidation. In addition, debt financing, if available, could include covenants limiting or restricting our ability to take certain actions, such as incurring additional debt, making
capital expenditures or declaring dividends and may require us to grant security interests in our assets. If we raise additional funds through collaborations, strategic alliances, or marketing
arrangements with third parties, we may have to relinquish valuable rights to our technologies, future revenue streams, products, and services. If we are unable to raise additional funds
through equity or debt financing when needed, we may need to curtail or cease our operations. A We may not realize the anticipated benefits of acquisitions or investments in joint ventures, or
those benefits may be delayed or reduced in their realization. A Acquisitions and investments are likely to be a component of our growth and the development of our business in the future.
Acquisitions can broaden and diversify our product concepts. In reviewing potential acquisitions or investments, we target assets or companies that we believe offer attractive products or
offerings, the ability for us to leverage our offerings, competencies, or other synergies. A The combination of two or more independent businesses is a complex, costly, and time-consuming
process that will require significant management attention and resources. The integration process may disrupt the businesses and, if implemented ineffectively, would limit the expected
benefits of the acquisition. The failure to meet the challenges involved in integrating businesses and realizing the anticipated benefits could cause an interruption of, or a loss of momentum in,
our activities and could adversely affect our results of operations. The overall integration of the businesses may result in material unanticipated problems, expenses, liabilities, competitive
responses, loss of customer and other business relationships, and diversion of managementa€™s attention. The difficulties of combining the operations of the companies include, among others:
A &—the diversion of managementa€™s attention to integration matters; A a—difficulties in achieving antlclpated cost savings, synergies, business opportunities, and growth prospects from
the combination; A &—potential challenges in obtaining requisite government regulatory approvals; A a—difficulties in the integration of operations and systems; and A 4—conforming
standards, controls, procedures, accounting and other policies, business cultures, and compensation structures between the two companies. A 13 Table of Contents A We cannot be certain that
the products and offerings of companies we may acquire, or acquire an interest in, will achieve or maintain popularity with consumers in the future or that any such acquired companies or
investments will allow us to market our products more effectively, develop our competencies or to grow our business. In some cases, we expect that the integration of the companies that we



may acquire into our operations will create production, marketing and other operating, revenue or cost synergies which will produce greater revenue growth and profitability and, where
applicable, cost savings, operating efficiencies and other advantages. However, we cannot be certain that these synergies, efficiencies and cost savings will be realized. Even if achieved, these
benefits may be delayed or reduced in their realization. In other cases, we may acquire or invest in companies that we believe have strong and creative management, in which case we may plan
to operate them more autonomously rather than fully integrating them into our operations. We cannot be certain that the key talented individuals at these companies will continue to work for us
after the acquisition or that they will develop popular and profitable products or services in the future. We cannot guarantee that any acquisition or investment we may make will be successful
or beneficial, and acquisitions can consume significant amounts of management attention and other resources, which may negatively impact other aspects of our business. A Our operating
results may fluctuate significantly as a result of a variety of factors, many of which are outside of our control, which could cause fluctuations in the price of our securities. A We are subject to
the following factors that may negatively affect our operating results: A 4—our ability to upgrade and develop our systems and infrastructure to accommodate growth; A 4—our ability to
attract and retain key personnel in a timely and cost-effective manner; A A—technical difficulties; A &—the amount and timing of operating costs and capital expenditures relating to the
expansion of our business, operations, and infrastructure; A a—our ability to identify and enter into relationships with appropriate and qualified third-party pr0v1ders for necessary development
and manufacturing services; A &—regulation by federal, state, or local governments; A 4—banking industry turmoil and headwinds in the digital asset space; and A a—general economic
conditions, as well as economic conditions specific to the entertainment, theme park, party items, arts and crafts, and packaging industries. A As a result of our lack of any operating history
and the nature of the markets in which we compete, it is difficult for us to forecast our revenues or earnings with a high degree of certainty. As a strategic response to changes in the
competitive environment, we may from time to time make certain decisions concerning expenditures, pricing, service, or marketing that could have a material and adverse effect on our
business, results of operations, and financial condition. Due to the foregoing factors, our revenues and operating results are difficult to forecast. A Risks Related to Cybersecurity, Information
Technology, and Intellectual Property A We are increasingly dependent on information technology, and potential cyberattacks, security problems, or other disruption and expanding social
media vehicles present new risks. A We rely on information technology networks and systems, including the internet, to process, transmit, and store electronic information, and to manage or
support a variety of business processes, including financial transactions and records, billing, and operating data. We may purchase some of our information technology from vendors, on whom
our systems will depend, and we rely on commercially available systems, software, tools, and monitoring to provide security for processing, transmission, and storage of confidential operator
and other customer information. We depend upon the secure transmission of this information over public networks. Our networks and storage applications could be subject to unauthorized
access by hackers or others through cyberattacks, which are rapidly evolving and becoming increasingly sophisticated, or by other means, or may be breached due to operator error,
malfeasance or other system disruptions. In some cases, it will be difficult to anticipate or immediately detect such incidents and the damage they cause. Any significant breakdown, invasion,
destruction, interruption, or leakage of information from our systems could harm our business. A Further, in the normal course of our business, we collect, store and transmit proprietary and
confidential information regarding our customers, employees, and others, including personally identifiable information. An operational failure or breach of security from increasingly
sophisticated cyber threats could lead to loss, misuse or unauthorized disclosure of this information about our employees or customers, which may result in regulatory or other legal
proceedings, and have a material adverse effect on our business. We also may not have the resources or technical sophistication to anticipate or prevent rapidly evolving types of cyber-attacks.
Any such attacks or precautionary measures taken to prevent anticipated attacks may result in increasing costs, including costs for additional technologies, training and third-party consultants.
The losses incurred from a breach of data security and operational failures as well as the precautionary measures required to address this evolving risk may adversely impact our financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows. A 14 Table of Contents A Privacy regulation is an evolving area and compliance with applicable privacy regulations may increase our operating
costs or adversely impact our ability to service our clients and market our products and services. A Because we store, process and use data, some of which contains personal information, we
are subject to complex and evolving federal, state, and foreign laws and regulations regarding privacy, data protection, and other matters. While we believe we are currently in compliance with
applicable laws and regulations, many of these laws and regulations are subject to change and uncertain interpretation, and could result in investigations, claims, changes to our business
practices, increased cost of operations, and declines in user growth, retention, or engagement, any of which could seriously harm our business. A Data privacy and security concerns relating to
our technology and our practices could cause us to incur significant liability and deter current and potential users from using our products and services. Software bugs or defects, security
breaches, and attacks on our systems could result in the improper disclosure and use of user data and interference with our usersa€™A ability to use our products and services, harming our
business operations. A Concerns about our practices with regard to the collection, use, disclosure, or security of personal information or other data-privacy-related matters, even if unfounded,
could harm our financial condition, and operating results. Our policies and practices may change over time as expectations regarding privacy and data change. Our products and services
involve the storage and transmission of proprietary information, and bugs, theft, misuse, defects, vulnerabilities in our products and services, and security breaches expose us to a risk of loss of
this information, improper use and disclosure of such information, litigation, and other potential liability. Systems and control failures, security breaches and/or inadvertent disclosure of user
data could result in government and legal exposure, seriously harm our business, and impair our ability to attract and retain customers. A We may experience cyber-attacks and other attempts
to gain unauthorized access to our systems. We may experience future security issues, whether due to employee error or malfeasance or system errors or vulnerabilities in our or other
partiesa€™ systems, which could result in significant legal and financial exposure. We may be unable to anticipate or detect attacks or vulnerabilities or implement adequate preventative
measures. Attacks and security issues could also compromise trade secrets and other sensitive information, harming our business. As a result, we may suffer significant legal or financial
exposure, which could harm our business, financial condition, and operating results. A Third-party claims of infringement against us could adversely affect our ability to market our products
and require us to redesign our products or seek licenses from third parties. A We are susceptible to intellectual property lawsuits that could cause us to incur substantial costs, pay substantial
damages, or prohibit us from distributing our products. Whether a product infringes a patent involves complex legal and factual issues, the determination of which is often uncertain. In
addition, because patent applications can take many years to issue, there may be applications now pending of which we are unaware, which later may result in issued patents that our products
may infringe. If any of our products infringe a valid patent, we could be prevented from distributing that product unless and until we can obtain a license or redesign it to avoid infringement. A
license may not be available or may require us to pay substantial royalties. We also may not be successful in any attempt to redesign the product to avoid any infringement. Infringement and
other intellectual property claims, with or without merit, can be expensive and time-consuming to litigate, and we may not have the financial and human resources to defend ourselves against
any infringement suits that may be brought against us. A We may employ individuals who were previously employed by companies that are developing similar products and technology,
including our competitors or potential competitors. To the extent our employees are involved in research areas which are similar to those areas in which they were involved at their former
employers, we may be subject to claims that such employees and/or we have inadvertently or otherwise used or disclosed the alleged trade secrets or other proprietary information of the former
employers. Litigation may be necessary to defend against such claims, which could result in substantial costs and be a distraction to management and which may have a material adverse effect
on us, even if we are successful in defending such claims. A We also rely in our business on trade secrets, know-how and other proprietary information. We seek to protect this information, in
part, through the use of confidentiality agreements with employees, consultants, advisors and others. Nonetheless, we cannot assure you that those agreements will provide adequate protection
for our trade secrets, know-how or other proprietary information and prevent their unauthorized use or disclosure. To the extent that consultants, key employees or other third parties apply
technological information independently developed by them or by others to our proposed products, disputes may arise as to the proprietary rights to such information which may not be resolved
in our favor. Most of our consultants are employed by or have consulting agreements with third parties and any inventions discovered by such individuals generally will not become our
property. There is a risk that other parties may breach confidentiality agreements or that our trade secrets become known or independently discovered by competitors, which could adversely
affect us. A 15 Table of Contents A Risks Related to Owning Our Common Stock A We are subject to increased costs as a result of operating as a public company, and our management is
required to devote substantial time to new compliance initiatives. A As a public company, we incur significant legal, accounting, and other expenses that we did not incur as a private company,
including costs associated with public company reporting requirements. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act, as well as rules subsequently adopted by the SEC and Nasdaq to implement provisions of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act, impose significant requirements on public companies, including requiring establishment and maintenance of effective disclosure and financial controls and changes in
corporate governance practices. Further, in July 2010, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, or the Dodd-Frank Act, was enacted. There are significant corporate
governance and executive compensation related provisions in the Dodd-Frank Act that require the SEC to adopt additional rules and regulations in these areas, such as 4€cesay on paya€ and
proxy access. Stockholder activism, the current political environment and the current high level of government intervention and regulatory reform may lead to substantial new regulations and
disclosure obligations, which may lead to additional compliance costs and impact the manner in which we operate our business in ways we cannot currently anticipate. Our management and
other personnel will devote a substantial amount of time to these compliance programs and monitoring of public company reporting obligations and as a result of the new corporate governance
and executive compensation related rules, regulations and guidelines prompted by the Dodd-Frank Act and further regulations and disclosure obligations expected in the future, we will likely
need to devote additional time and costs to comply with such compliance programs and rules. These rules and regulations will cause us to incur significant legal and financial compliance costs
and will make some activities more time-consuming and costly. A The rules and regulations applicable to public companies have substantially increased our legal and financial compliance costs
and make some activities more time-consuming and costly. If these requirements divert the attention of our management and personnel from other business concerns, they could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations. The increased costs will decrease our net income and may require us to reduce costs in other areas of our business
or increase the prices of our products or services. For example, these rules and regulations made it more difficult and more expensive for us to obtain director and officer liability insurance and
we may be required to incur substantial costs in the future to maintain the same or similar coverage. We cannot predict or estimate the amount or timing of additional costs we may incur to
respond to these requirements. The impact of these requirements could also make it more difficult for us to attract and retain qualified persons to serve on our Board, our Board committees or
as executive officers. A If we are not able to comply with the applicable continued listing requirements or standards of Nasdaq, our common stock could be delisted from Nasdaq.A A Our
common stock is currently listed on Nasdag. In order to maintain that listing, we must satisfy minimum financial and other continued listing requirements and standards, including those
regarding director independence and independent committee requirements, minimum stockholdersa€™ equity, minimum share price, and certain corporate governance requirements. There can
be no assurances that we will be able to comply with the applicable listing standards of Nasdaq. A In the event that our common stock is delisted from Nasdaq and is not eligible for quotation
on another market or exchange, trading of our common stock could be conducted in the over-the-counter market established for unlisted securities, such as the OTC Markets. In such event, it
could become more difficult to dispose of, or obtain accurate price quotations for, our common stock, and there would likely also be a reduction in our coverage by securities analysts and the
news media, which could cause the price of our common stock to decline further. Also, it may be difficult for us to raise additional capital if we are not listed on a major exchange. A In the event
that our common stock is delisted from Nasdaq, U.S. broker-dealers may be discouraged from effecting transactions in shares of our common stock because it may be considered a penny stock
and thus be subject to the penny stock rules.A A The SEC has adopted a number of rules to regulate a &€cepenny stocka€ that restricts transactions involving stock which is deemed to be a
penny stock. Such rules include Rules 3a51-1, 15g-1, 15g-2, 15g-3, 15g-4, 15g-5, 15g-6, 5g-7, and 15g-9 under theA Exchange Act. These rules may have the effect of reducing the liquidity of
penny stocks. &€cePenny stocksa€ generally are equity securities with a price of less than $5.00 per share (other than securities registered on certain national securities exchanges or traded on
Nasdaq if current price and volume information with respect to transactions in such securities is provided by the exchange or system). Our shares of common stock may, in the future constitute,
a a€cepenny stocka€ within the meaning of the rules. The additional sales practice and disclosure requirements imposed upon U.S. broker-dealers may discourage such broker-dealers from
effecting transactions in shares of our common stock, which could severely limit the market liquidity of such shares of common stock and impede their sale in the secondary market. A 16 Table
of Contents A A U.S. broker-dealer selling a penny stock to anyone other than an established customer or a4€ceaccredited investora€(generally, an individual with a net worth in excess of
$1,000,000 or an annual income exceeding $200,000, or $300,000 together with his or her spouse) must make a special suitability determination for the purchaser and must receive the
purchasera€™ s written consent to the transaction prior to sale, unless the broker-dealer or the transaction is otherwise exempt. In addition, the &€cepenny stocka€ regulations require the U.S.
broker-dealer to deliver, prior to any transaction involving a &€cepenny stocka€, a disclosure schedule prepared in accordance with SEC standards relating to the &€cepenny stocka€ market,
unless the broker-dealer or the transaction is otherwise exempt. A U.S. broker-dealer is also required to disclose commissions payable to the U.S. broker-dealer and the registered
representative and current quotations for the securities. Finally, a U.S. broker-dealer is required to submit monthly statements disclosing recent price information with respect to any &€cepenny
stocka€ held in a customera€™s account and information with respect to the limited market in 4€cepenny stocksa€. A You should be aware that, according to the SEC, the market for 4€cepenny
stocksa€ has suffered in recent years from patterns of fraud and abuse. Such patterns include (i) control of the market for the security by one or a few broker-dealers that are often related to
the promoter or issuer; (ii) manipulation of prices through prearranged matching of purchases and sales and false and misleading press releases; (iii) &€ceboiler rooméa€ practices involving high-
pressure sales tactics and unrealistic price projections by inexperienced sales persons; (iv) excessive and undisclosed bid-ask differentials and markups by selling broker-dealers; and (v) the
wholesale dumping of the same securities by promoters and broker-dealers after prices have been manipulated to a desired level, resulting in investor losses. Our management is aware of the
abuses that have occurred historically in the penny stock market. Although we do not expect to be in a position to dictate the behavior of the market or of broker-dealers who participate in the
market, management will strive within the confines of practical limitations to prevent the described patterns from being established with respect to our securities. A If securities or industry
analysts do not publish research, or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research, about our business, our stock price and our trading volume could decline. A The trading market for our
Common Stock depends, in part, on the research and reports that securities or industry analysts publish about us or our business. While we currently have certain analyst coverage, if one or
more of the analysts who cover us downgrade our Common Stock or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business, our stock price could decline. In addition, if our operating
results fail to meet the forecast of analysts, our stock price could decline. If one or more of these analysts cease coverage of us or fail to publish reports on us regularly, demand for our Common
Stock could decrease, which might cause our stock price and trading volume to decline. A Risks Relating to this Offering A We believe that the proceeds of this offering, combined with our
limited funds currently on hand, will only be sufficient for us to operate for a relatively limited amount of time. Since we will be unable to generate sufficient cash flow to fund our operations at
this time, we will need to seek additional equity or debt financing to provide the capital required to implement our business plan. If we are unable to raise capital, we could be required to seek
bankruptcy protection or other alternatives that would likely result in our securityholders losing some or all of their investment in us. A We believe that the proceeds of this offering, combined
with our limited funds currently on hand, will only be sufficient for us to operate for a relatively limited amount of time. Since we will be unable to generate sufficient revenue or cash flow to
fund our operations at this time, we will need to seek additional equity or debt financing to provide the capital required to implement our business plan. A Additionally, this offering is being
made on a a€cebest effortsa€ basis and we may sell fewer than all of the securities offered hereby and may receive significantly less in net proceeds from this offering, which will provide us only
limited working capital. Without giving effect to the receipt of any proceeds from this offering, we currently estimate that our existing cash and cash equivalents are sufficient to fund business
operations for six months from the date of this prospectus without additional revenue growth. As the net proceeds from this offering with be predominantly used to fund the termination of the
SPA, we do not anticipate an funds from this offering to extend our ability to pay for current business operations. A We do not currently have any arrangements or credit facilities in place as a
source of funds. There can be no assurance that we will be able to raise sufficient additional capital on acceptable terms, or at all. If such financing is not available on satisfactory terms, or is
not available at all, we may be required to further delay, scale back or eliminate the development of business opportunities and our operations and financial condition may be materially



adversely affected. Furthermore, if we are unable to raise capital, we could be required to seek bankruptcy protection or other alternatives that would likely result in our securityholders losing
some or all of their investment in us. A 17 Table of Contents A The market price of our common stock has been volatile and can fluctuate substantially, which could result in substantial losses
for purchasers of our Units in this offering. A The market price of our common stock is highly volatile, and in the past 52-week period, the market price of our common stock has ranged from
$0.89 to $4.85 per share. You may be unable to sell your shares of common stock at or above the offering price. The market price of our securities could be subject to wide fluctuations in
response to a variety of factors, which include: A A 4— actual or anticipated fluctuations in our quarterly or annual operating results; A A 4— publication of research reports by securities
analysts about us or our competitors or our industry; A A 4— the publicA€™s reaction to our press releases, our other public announcements and our filings with the SEC; A A 4— our failure
or the failure of our competitors to meet analystsa€™ projections or guidance that we or our competitors may give to the market; A A 4— additions and departures of key personnel; A A a—
strategic decisions by us or our competitors, such as acquisitions, divestitures, spin-offs, joint ventures, strategic investments or changes in business strategy; A A 4— the passage of legislation
or other regulatory developments affecting us or our industry; A A 4— speculation in the press or investment community; A A 4— changes in accounting principles; A A &— terrorist acts, acts
of war or periods of widespread civil unrest; A A a4— natural disasters and other calamities; and A A 4— changes in general market and economic conditions. A In addition, the stock market
has experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations that have often been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of companies. Broad market and industry factors may
negatively affect the market price of our common stock and warrants, regardless of our actual operating performance. In the past, securities class action litigation has often been initiated
against companies following periods of volatility in their stock price. This type of litigation could result in substantial costs and divert our managementa€™s attention and resources, and could
also require us to make substantial payments to satisfy judgments or to settle litigation. A Our management will have broad discretion in how we use the net proceeds of this offering and might
not use them effectively. A Our management will have considerable discretion over the use of proceeds from this offering. You will not have the opportunity, as part of your investment decision,
to assess whether the proceeds are being used in a manner which you may consider most appropriate. Our management might spend a portion or all of the net proceeds from this offering in
ways that our stockholders do not desire or that might not yield a favorable return. The failure by our management to apply these funds effectively could harm our business. Furthermore, you
will have no direct say on how our management allocates the net proceeds of this offering. Until the net proceeds are used, they may be placed in investments that do not produce significant
mcome or that may lose value A You will experlence 1mmed1ate and substantlal dilution as a result of this offering and may expenence addltlonal dllutlon in the future. A You w111 incur

AAAAAAAAAAAAAAPper share. Additionally, to the extent that the warrants issued in this offering, or outstanding or to be granted options to officers, directors and employees, are
ultimately exercised, you will sustain future dilution. We may also acquire new businesses or finance strategic alliances by issuing equity, which may result in additional dilution to our
stockholders. See the section entitled a€ceDilutiona€ for additional information on how this offering may affect current and prospective shareholders. A We will likely need to offer and issue
additional shares of our common stock or other equity or convertible debt securities in order to raise additional capital. Future equity offerings or other equity issuances may be at a price per
share that is equal to or greater than the price per share paid by investors in this offering. Future investors in such offerings may have rights superior to existing stockholders, and the price per
share at which we sell additional shares of common stock or other equity or convertible debt securities in future transactions may be at a higher or lower price per share than the price per
share in this offering. A A substantial number of shares of common stock may be sold in the market following this offering, which may depress the market price for our common stock. A The
securities offered hereby will be freely tradable without restriction or further registration under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the &€ceSecurities Acta€). Sales of a substantial number
of shares of our common stock in the public market following this offering,A or the perception that such sales could occur,A could cause the market price of our common stock to decline. A 18
Table of Contents A The best-efforts structure of this offering may have an adverse effect on our business plan. A The Placement Agent is offering the Units in this offering on a best-efforts
basis. The Placement Agent is not required to purchase any securities, but will use its best efforts to sell the securities offered. As a a€cebest effortsa€ offering, there can be no assurance that
the offering contemplated hereby will ultimately be consummated or will result in any proceeds being made available to us. Because there is no minimum offering amount required as a
condition to the closing of this offering, the actual offering amount, placement agent fees and proceeds to us are not presently determinable and may be substantially less than the maximum
amounts set forth above. We may sell fewer than all of the securities offered hereby, which may significantly reduce the amount of proceeds received by us, and investors in this offering will not
receive a refund in the event that we do not sell an amount of securities sufficient to support our continued operations, including our near-term continued operations. Thus, we may not raise the
amount of capital we believe is required for our operations in the short-term and may need to raise additional funds, which may not be available or available on terms acceptable to us. A
Purchasers who purchase our securities in this offering pursuant to a securities purchase agreement may have rights not available to purchasers that purchase without the benefit of a securities
purchase agreement. A In addition to rights and remedies available to all purchasers in this offering under federal securities and state law, the purchasers that enter into a securities purchase
agreement will also be able to bring claims of breach of contract against us. The ability to pursue a claim for breach of contract provides those investors with the means to enforce the covenants
uniquely available to them under the securities purchase agreement. A Additionally, in connection with this offering, we may agree to amend the terms of certain of our outstanding warrants
held by certain significant purchasers in this offering who will enter into the securities purchase agreement. Any such amendments may, among other things, decrease the exercise prices to be
the same as the exercise prices of the Common Warrants offered in this offering, or increase the term of exercise of those warrants. A There is no public market for the Common Warrants or
Pre-Funded Warrants being offered by us in this offering. A There is no established public trading market for the Common Warrants or the Pre-Funded Warrants, and we do not expect a market
to develop. In addition, we do not intend to apply to list the Common Warrants or Pre-Funded Warrants on any national securities exchange or other nationally recognized trading system.
Without an active market, the liquidity of the Common Warrants and Pre-Funded Warrants will be limited. A The Common Warrants and Pre-Funded Warrants are speculative in nature. A The
Common Warrants and Pre-Funded Warrants offered hereby do not confer any rights of share of common stock ownership on their holders, such as voting rights or the right to receive
dividends, but rather merely represent the right to acquire shares of common stock at a fixed price. Specifically, commencing on the date of issuance, holders of the Common Warrants may
acquire the shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of such warrants at an exercise price of $A AAA A AA A A per share of common stock, and holders of the Pre-Funded Warrants may
acquire the shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of such warrants at an exercise price of $0.001 per share of common stock. Moreover, following this offering, the market value of the
Common Warrants and Pre-Funded Warrants is uncertain and there can be no assurance that the market value of the Common Warrants or Pre-Funded Warrants will equal or exceed their
respective public offering prices. There can be no assurance that the market price of the shares of common stock will ever equal or exceed the exercise price of the Common Warrants or Pre-
Funded Warrants, and consequently, whether it will ever be profitable for holders of Common Warrants to exercise the Common Warrants or for holders of the Pre-Funded Warrants to exercise
the Pre-Funded Warrants. A Holders of the Pre-Funded Warrants and the Common Warrants offered hereby will have no rights as common stockholders with respect to the shares our common
stock underlying the warrants until such holders exercise their warrants and acquire our common stock, except as otherwise provided in the Pre-Funded Warrants and the Common Warrants. A
Until holders of the Common Warrants and the Pre-Funded Warrants acquire shares of our common stock upon exercise thereof, such holders will have no rights with respect to the shares of
our common stock underlying such warrants, except to the extent that holders of such Common Warrants and Pre-Funded Warrants will have certain rights to participate in distributions or
dividends paid on our common stock as set forth in the Common Warrants and the Pre-Funded Warrants. Upon exercise of the Common Warrants and the Pre-Funded Warrants, the holders will

estimated offering expenses payable by us. We estimate that our net proceeds from the sale of 25% of the Units offered in this offering will be approximately $ AAAAAAAAAA Amillion,
after deducting placement agent fees and estimated offering expenses payable by us. A We intend to use the net proceeds of this offering primarily (i) to pay $16.5 million to the proposed
purchaser of our subsidiary, Ryvyl EU, in order to terminate the sale of our Ryvyl EU business to such proposed purchaser and (ii) the remainder to pay all or a portion of $4 million outstanding
balance of the Note. A We are required to use $16.5 million of the net proceeds raised in this offering to make a payment to the prospective purchaser of our Ryvyl EU business, so that we can
terminate the Securities Purchase Agreement we are a party to with such prospective purchaser and avoid the sale of substantially all of our current business operations. We entered into the
sale transaction with the prospective purchaser in connection with a strategic restructuring of our balance sheet by using $13 million of the $15 million of funds provided to us by the
prospective purchaser to pay down a substantial portion of the outstanding balance of the Note to from approximately $19 million to $4 million and to repurchase all of the outstanding shares of
.our Series B Preferred Stock, which had an estimated value of $55.0 million prior to such repurchase, both of which were highly dilutive to our shareholders. As a result of the obligation to
make the $16.5 million payment and our obligation to make payments on the Note, it is unlikely that we will be able to use any of the net proceeds received by us from this offering for any other
purposes, regardless of amount of proceeds we raise in this offering. If the net proceeds from this offering are insufficient to pay the prospective purchaser $16.5 million on or before April 23,
2025 orin con51derat10n of payment of an additional $500,000 to the prospectlve purchaser on or before May 23, 2025 the prospective purchaser would acqulre substantlally all of our current

common stock on Nasdagon AAAAAAAA A A A, 2025, stays the same. A 20 Table of Contents A Capitalization A The following table sets forth our cash and equivalents and capitalization
as of September 30, 2024: A 4—on an actual ba51s A a—on a pro forma basis after glvmg effect to proceeds of $15, 000 000 from the Fmancmg, $13,000,000 of which was used to pay the FlI‘St

in this offering based on the assumed public offering price of $ AAAAAAAA A A A A A per Unit, equal to the closing price of our common stock on Nasdag on AAAAAAAAAAAA, 2025,
after deducting placement agent fees and estimated offering expenses payable by us and the receipt by us of the proceeds of such sale. A The pro forma information set forth in the table below
is illustrative only and will be adjusted based on the actual public offering price and other terms of this offering as determined at pricing. You should read the information in this table together
with our audited financial statements and related notes and unaudited interim condensed financial statements and related notes and &€ceManagementa€™s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operat10nsa€ appearing elsewhere in this prospectus. A A As of September 30, 2024 (in thousands) A Actual A A Pro Forma A A Pro Forma as Adjusted A Cash and
cash equivalents A $4263A A $A A A $A A Total Long Term Debt A $17,706 A A $A A A $A A Stockholdersa€™ equity: AAAAAAAAAGS$AA SeriesB Preferred stock (par
value $0.01, 5,000,000 shares authorized, and 53,950 issued and outstanding Actual, 0 issued and outstanding pro forma, 0 issued and outstanding pro forma as adjusted A$1AAS$AAA

A A A Common stock (par value $0.001, 100,000,000 shares authorized, and 6,957,875 issued and outstanding Actual, 6,957,875 issued and outstanding pro forma,

AAAAAAAAAAAAA issued and outstanding pro forma as adjusted A$7AA $ AAA $ A A Additional paid-in capital A $ 177,750 A A $ A A A $ AA AccumAulAatedA deficit A $
(172,555 ) A $ A A A $A A Accumulated other comprehensive income A $1,120A A $A A A $A A Total stockholdersa€™ equltyA $6323A A $AAA AA $AAAA A Total
capitalization A $24,029A A $A A A $AAA The pro forma as adjusted information discussed above is illustrative only and will be adjusted based on the actual public offering price and
other terms of this offering determined at pricing. A The nu‘mher of shares of our common stock to be outstanding upon completion of this offering is based on 6,957,875 shares of our common
stock outstanding as of September 30, 2024, and excludes: A 4&—605,564 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of stock options currently outstanding, at a weighted average exercise
price of 4.21 per share; A 4—17,347,267 shares of our common stock issuable upon the conversion of Series B preferred shares; A 4—14,763,000 shares of our common stock issuable upon the
conversion of outstanding convertible notes; and A 4—41,708 shares of our common stock reserved for future issuance under our equity incentive plans. A Unless otherwise indicated, this
prospectus reflects and assumes the following: A a— No Pre-Funded Warrants are included i in the Umts offered hereby; and A a—No exercise of the Common Warrants included in the Umts

capitalization by $ AAAAAAAAAAAA A million, assuming that the number of Common Units and/or Pre-Funded Common Units offered by us, as set forth on the cover page of this
prospectus, remains the same and after deducting the estimated placement agent fees and estimated offering expenses payable by us. Similarly, each increase (decrease) of

equivalents, total equity and total capitalization by approximately $ AAAAAAAAAAAA A million after deducting the estimated placement agent fees and commissions and estimated
offering expenses payable by us. A 21 Table of Contents A Dilution A If you purchase securities in this offering, your interest will be diluted immediately to the extent of the difference between
the assumed public offering price of $ AA A AAAAA A per Unit and the pro forma as adjusted net tangible book value per share of our common stock immediately upon the consummation of
this offering. A As of September 30, 2024, we had a historical net tangible book value of $2,647,000, or $0.38 per share of common stock. Our his:corical net tangible book value per share
represents total tangible assets less total liabilities, divided by the number of shares of our common stock outstanding as of September 30, 2024. A After giving effect to the proceeds of
$15,000,000 from the Financing, $13,000,000 of which was used to pay the First Tranche of the Note and repurchase the outstanding Serles B Preferred Shares, our pro forma net tanglble book

offering at an assumed pubhc offering price of $ AAAAAAAAAA per Unit, and after deducting placement agent fees and estimated offering expenses, but assuming no issuance of Pre-
Funded Warrants and no exercise of the Common Warrants included in the Units offered hereby, our pro forma as adjusted net tangible book value as of September 30, 2024 would have been $

forma as adjusted dilution on a per share of common stock basis: A Assumed public offering price per UnitA AAAAAAAA $AAAAAA Net tanglble book value per share as of September
30, 2024A $A A A A 0.38A Pro forma increase in net tangible book value per share attributable to newA investorsA $AAA A A A Pro forma as adjusted net tangible book value per share as of

September 30, 2024, after giving effect to the offeringA AAA A A A A Dilution per share to new investors in the offeringA $A AA $A A A The dilution information discussed above is
illustrative only and may change based on the actual public offering price and other terms of this offering. A The number of shares of our common stock to be outstanding upon completion of



this offering is based on 6,957,875 shares of our common stock outstanding as of September 30, 2024, and excludes: A 4—605,564 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of stock

options currently outstanding, at a weighted average exercise price of 4.21 per share; AA A 4—17,347,267 shares of our common stock issuable upon the conversion of Series B preferred
shares; AA A 4—14,763,000 shares of our common stock issuable upon the conversion of outstanding convertible notes; and A A A 4—41,708 shares of our common stock reserved for future
issuance under our equity incentive plans. A Unless otherwise indicated, this prospectus reflects and assumes the following: A A a— No Pre-Funded Warrants are included in the Units offered
hereby; and A &— No exercise of the Common Warrants included in the Units offered hereby. A 22 Table of Contents A MARKET INFORMATION FOR SECURITIES AND DIVIDEND POLICY A
Our common stock are currently listed on Nasdaq under the symbol &€0eRVYL&€. The last reported sale price of our common stock Nasdaq onA February 13, 2025 was $1.24A per share of
common stock.A A Holders of Record A Asof AAAAAAAAAA, 2025, we had approximately AAAAAA A A A A holders of record of our common stock. Because many of our shares of
common stock are held by brokers and other institutions on behalf of stockholders, this number is not indicative of the total number of stockholders represented by these stockholders of record.
A Dividends A We have not declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock, and we do not anticipate declaring or paying cash dividends for the foreseeable future. We are not
subject to any legal restrictions respecting the payment of dividends, except that we may not pay dividends if the payment would render us insolvent. Any future determination as to the
payment of cash dividends on our common stock will be at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend on our financial condition, operating results, capital requirements and other
factors that the board of directors considers to be relevant. A 23 Table of Contents A Managementa€™ s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations. A You should
read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations together with the accompanying a€ceIndex to Consolidated Financial Statementsa€ included within
this Registration Statement on FormA S-1. Data as of and for the periods ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 has been derived from our audited financial statements appearing at the end of
this prospectus. Data as of and for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023 has been derived from our unaudited condensed financial statements appearing at the end of this
prospectus. Results for any interim period should not be construed as an inference of what our results would be for any full fiscal year or future period. This discussion and other parts of this
prospectus contain forward-looking statements, such as those relating to our plans, objectives, expectations, intentions, and beliefs, which involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results
could differ materially from those discussed in these forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to, those identified below
and those discussed in the sections titled 4&€ceCautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statementsa€ and &€ceRisk Factorsa€ included elsewhere in this prospectus. A

OverviewA 4€“A Organization and Name Changes A Our Company A RYVYLA€™s strategy is rooted in our mission to transform the global payments landscape through technology-driven,
customer-centric, and compliance-focused financial solutions. Our legacy product was developed to facilitate payment processing for previously all cash businesses, offering a cloud-based
network interface, merchant management system, Point of Sale connectivity to facilitate noncash payment methods such as credit cards, debit cards and prepaid gift cards and to disburse those
funds electronically to merchants later upon request. The business has expanded both organically and through acquisitions. The companya€™ s second-generation platform and financial service
layers provide a dual-sided payment platform that facilitates both acquiring and disbursements services. We operate globally in two segments, North America and Europe, expanding our
product offerings, cultivating strategic partnerships, and maintaining robust regulatory compliance across all markets in which we operate. A RYVYL&€™s comprehensive product suite is
designed to create value across the entire financial ecosystem. By combining advanced technology, global reach, and deep regulatory expertise, we empower businesses to manage payments,
optimize cash flow, and scale operations efficiently in an increasingly digital world. We believe that our commitment to continuous innovation helps us to remain at the forefront of the global
fintech landscape, delivering secure, reliable, and transformative financial solutions that drive growth and create lasting value for our clients and stakeholders. A RYVYL INC. operates through
distinct business segments designed to meet the diverse and evolving needs of global markets. Our business model is strategically structured around two primary geographic regionsa€”Europe
and North Americaa€”each offering complementary product and service portfolios that encompass payment processing, treasury management, acquiring, issuing, and electronic money
institution (EMI) services. This segmentation allows RYVYL to deliver tailored, market-specific solutions while maintaining a cohesive global strategy that supports operational efficiency,
regulatory compliance, and financial growth. A Our business segments are not siloed; rather, they are interconnected through shared technology platforms, unified compliance frameworks, and
collaborative global partnerships. This integration enables us to capitalize on synergies across regions, optimize resource allocation, and drive innovation that resonates across all markets in
which we operate. A In North America, our focus is on expanding treasury management services, Bank Identification Number (BIN) sponsorship for credit card processing, and comprehensive
payment solutions such as ACH and wire transfers. By leveraging third-party sponsorship arrangements alongside our technology, we are positioned to capture growth opportunities in key
sectors, including e-commerce, fintech, and B2B payments. Our strategy also emphasizes enhancing cross-border payment infrastructure, enabling businesses to transact efficiently across more
than 200 markets and 140 currencies, thus solidifying RYVYL&€™s role as a critical connector in the global financial ecosystem. A 24 Table of Contents A Company History A The Company
was formerly known as ASAP Expo, Inc. and was incorporated in the State of Nevada on April 10, 2007. On January 4, 2020, RYVYL Inc. (&4€0ePubCo4a€) and GreenBox POS LLC (4€0cePrivCoa€)
entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement to memorialize a verbal agreement (the 4€ceVerbal Agreementa€) entered into on April 12, 2018, by and among PubCo (the buyer) and PrivCo (the
seller). On April 12, 2018, pursuant to the Verbal Agreement, the Company acquired PrivCoa€™ s gateway and payment system business, point of sale system business, delivery business and
kiosk business, bank and merchant accounts, as well as all intellectual property related thereto (the 4€ceGreenBox Businessa€). As consideration for the GreenBox Business, on April 12, 2018,
the Company assumed PrivCoa€™s liabilities that had been incurred in the normal course of the GreenBox Business. A On May 3, 2018, the Company formally changed its name to
a€ceGreenBox POS, LLC,4€ then subsequently changed its name to 4€ceGreenBox POSA€ on December 13, 2018. On October 13, 2022, GreenBox POS changed its name to 4€ceRYVYL Inc.a€ A
On May 21, 2021, the Company acquired all of the outstanding stock of Northeast Merchant Systems, Inc. (4€ceNortheasta€) in a transaction treated as a business combination. Northeast is a
merchant services company providing merchant credit card processing through its own BIN with the acquiring bank, Merrick. This involves inside operations for new merchants that include
sales assistance and applications processing, underwriting, and onboarding and inside operations for existing merchants include risk monitoring and customer service. Outside operations
include equipment service or replacement; sales calls and applications; site inspections and identity verification; security verification; and on-site customer service and technical support. A On
July 13, 2021 (the a€ceClosing Datea€), GreenBox POS entered into and closed on a Membership Interest Purchase Agreement (the 4€ceMembership Purchase Agreementa€) with Charge Savvy
LLC, an Illinois limited liability company (a&€ceCharge Savvya€), and Charge Savvya€™s three members (collectively, the &€ceMembership Sellersa€). One of the Membership Sellers, Ken Haller,
was an employee of the Company on the Closing Date. As a result of the Membership Purchase Agreement, the Company purchased all of Charge Savvya€™s issued and outstanding
membership interests from the Membership Sellers and Charge Savvy became a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. The purchase price under the Membership Purchase Agreement for
the all-stock transaction consisted of 1,000,000 shares of the Companya€™s common stock being issued and delivered to Membership Sellers in proportion to the Membership Sellersa€™ share
of their membership interests in Charge Savvy. The share price at issuance was $12.14. Charge Savvy is a fintech company specializing in developing software and providing payment
processing and point-of-sale (4€ePOS&€) services to the merchant services industry. Charge Savvy also owned an approximately 64,000 square foot office building located in Chicago, Illinois,
where it is headquartered. A On March 31, 2022, the Company acquired a portfolio of merchant accounts from Sky Financial & Intelligence LLC, a Wyoming limited liability company (&€ceSky
Financiala€) for $18,110,000. The Company paid $16,000,000 of cash in March 2022 and issued 500,000 shares of restricted common stock for the transaction on May 12, 2022. As of December
31, 2022, the Company had not received the delivery of the acquired merchant list and the associated ISO management portal access, and as a result, it wrote-off the entire purchase price
during the year ended December 31, 2022. The Company is currently in Arbitration for breach of contract against Sky Financial, please refer to &€ceLegal Proceedingsa€ herein for further
details on the status of this matter. A On April 1, 2022, the Company completed the acquisition of Transact Europe Holdings OOD (a€ceTransact Europe Holdingsa€). Transact Europe Holdings
is the holding company of Transact Europe EAD (4€eTEU&€). TEU formally changed its name to RYVYL EU on December 16, 2022. RYVYL EU is a European Union (4€ceEU4€) regulated
electronic money institution headquartered in Sofia, Bulgaria. RYVYL EU is a Principal Level member of Visa, a worldwide member of MasterCard, and a principal member of China UnionPay.
In addition, RYVYL EU is part of the direct Single Euro Payments Area (4€eSEPAA4€) program, a payment system enabling cashless payments across continental Europe. RYVYL EU provides
complete payment solutions by offering acquiring, issuing of prepaid cards and agent banking, serving hundreds of clients. With a global footprint, payment gateway, and technology platforms,
RYVYL EU offers a comprehensive portfolio of services and decades of industry experience. The Company paid approximately $28.8 million (4,-26.0 million) in total consideration for the
purchase. A 25 Table of Contents A Results of Operations A Three Months Ended September 30, 2024 (Unaudited) Compared to Three Months September 30, 2023 (Unaudited): A (Dollars in
thousands) A A A Three Months Ended September 30,AA AAA AA AA 2024AA 2023AA ChangeA AA AAA % ofAA AAA %ofAA AAA AA AA AmountA A RevenueA A

AmountA A RevenueA A AmountAA %A AA AAA AAA AAA AAA AAA AA RevenueA $12,606A A A 100.0%A $17,480A A A 100.0%A $(4,874)A A (27.9)% Cost of revenueA
A7,749AA A61.5%A A10,800AA A61.8%A A (3,050)A A (28.2)% Gross profitA A 4,857A A A38.5%A A6,680AA A382%A A(1,824)A A (27.3)% AA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAAA
AAAA AAA Operating expenses:A AAAA AAAA AAAA A AAA AAAA AAA Advertising and marketlngA A42A A A0.3%A A45AA A0.3%A A (3)A A (8.2)% Research and
developmentA A 815A A A 6.5%A A 1,315A A A 7.5%A A (500)A A (38.0)% General and administrativeA A 1,442A A A 11.4%A A 3,041AA A 17.4%A A (1,598)A A (52.6)% Payroll and
payroll taxesA A 3,251A A A 25.8%A A 2,605A A A 14.9%A A 645A A A 24.8% Professional feesA A 1,061A A A 8.4%A A 1,234AA A7.1%A A (173)A A (14.0)% Stock compensation

expenseA A 136AA A1.1%A A147AA A0.8%A A (12)A A (7.8)% Depreciation and amortizationA A 590A A A 4.7%A A 657A A A3.8%A A (67)A A (10.1)% Total operating expensesA

A7,337A A A58.2%A A9,044AA A51.7%A A (1, 708)A A (18 9)% AA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAA Loss from operatlonsA A (2, 480)A A (19.7)%A A (2, 364)A
A(13.5)%A A(116)A A49%AA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAA Other income (expense):A AAAA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAA Interest expenseA A (309)A

A (2. 5)%A A (65)A A (0. 4)%A A (244)A A 380.9% Accretion of debt discountA A (273)A A (2.2)%A A (4,183)A A (23. 9)"/A A 3,910A A A (93.5)% Changes in fair value of derivative llablhtyA
A-AA A0.0%A A6,909AA A39.5%A A (6,909)A A (100.0)% Derecognition expense on conversion of convertible debtA A-AA A 0.0%A A (1,331)A A (7.6)%A A 1,331AA A (100.0)% Legal
settlement expenseA A (1,598)A A (12.7)%A A (1,929)A A (11.0)%A A 331A A A (17.2)% Other income (expense)A A 72AA A0.6%A A (25)A A (0.1)%A A 97A A A (387.1)% Total other
expense, netA A (2, 108)A A (16. 7)%A A (624)A A (3. 6)%A A (1 484)A A238.0% AA AAAA»AA A‘AAA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAA Loss before pr0v1smn for income taxesA A (4 588)A

A(36 4)%A A(2 988)A A(17 1)%A A (1,600)A A53.6% AA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAA Income tax pr0v1smnA A586AA A4.6%A A128AA A0.7%A A458AA
A3568%AA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAA NetlossA $(5,174)A A (41.0)%A $(3,116)A A (17.8)%A $(1,860)A A59.7% A Revenue A A A Three Months Ended
September 30,A A A 2024A A 2023A A $ ChangeA A % ChangeA AA AAA AAA AAA AA North AmericaA $2,832A A $12,488A A $(9,656)A A (77.3)% InternationalA A 9,774A A
A4,992AA A 4,782A A A 95.8% Total revenueA $12,606A A $17,480A A $(4,874)A A (27.9)% A Revenue decreased by $4.9 million, or 27.9%, to $12.6 million for the three months ended
September 30, 2024, from $17.5 million for the three months ended September 30, 2023. In the North America segment, revenue decreased $9.7 million, or 77.3%, compared to the three
months ended September 30, 2023. In the International segment, revenue increased $4.8 million, or 95.8%, compared to the three months ended September 30, 2023. The decrease in revenue
was primarily driven by a decrease in processing volume in the North America segment, which decreased from $341.0 million in the quarter ended September 30, 2023, to $170.6 million in the
quarter ended September 30, 2024, and is attributable to the previously disclosed impact associated with the Companya€™s QuickCard product transition that began in February 2024. The
decrease in revenue in North America was partially offset by an increase in revenue in the International segment that was primarily attributable to continued growth in processing volume,
which increased from $517.0 million in the quarter ended September 30, 2023, to $952.3 million in the quarter ended September 30, 2024. The increase in processing volume in the
International segment was driven by continued strong growth across multiple verticals, primarily, our Independent Sales Organizations (4€ceISO&€) and partnership network, our global
payments processing businesses, and banking-as-a-service offering. A 26 Table of Contents A Cost of Revenue A Cost of revenue decreased by $3.1 million, or 28.2%, to $7.7 million for the
three months ended September 30, 2024, from $10.8 million for the three months ended September 30, 2023. In the North America segment, cost of revenue decreased $6.0 million, or 77.1%,
compared to the three months ended September 30, 2023. In the International segment, cost of revenue increased $2.9 million, or 94.6%, compared to the three months ended September 30,
2023. Cost of revenue primarily consists of various processing fees paid to gateways, as well as commission payments to the ISOs responsible for establishing and maintaining merchant
relationships. The decrease in cost of revenue was primarily driven by the decrease in processing volumes in North America, as noted above, partially offset by an increase in processing
volumes in the International segment. A Operating Expenses A Operating expenses decreased by $1.7 million, or 18.9%, to $7.3 million for the three months ended September 30, 2024, from
$9.1 million for the three months ended September 30, 2023. The decrease was primarily driven by a decrease in research and development expenses of $0.5 million, as the Company began
capitalizing a portion of these costs during the second quarter of 2024, and decreases in general and administrative expenses of $1.6 million and in professional fees of $0.2 million, both due to
lower accounting, consulting, and legal fees incurred in 2023 in connection with the Companya€™s restatement of prior period consolidated financial statements. A Other Income (Expense) A
Other expense increased by $1.5 million, or 238.0%, to $2.1 million for the three months ended September 30, 2024, from $0.6 million for the three months ended September 30, 2023. The
increase was primarily driven by a net increase of $1.7 million related to debt discount accretion (+$3.9 million), changes in fair value of derivative liability (-$6.9 million), and derecognition
expense on conversion of convertible debt (+$1.3 million), all primarily recognized in connection with the Companya€ ™s restructuring of its convertible note during the second quarter of 2024.
Additionally, interest expense increased $0.2 million and legal settlement expense decreased $0.3 million. A Nine Months Ended September 30, 2024 (Unaudited) Compared to Nine Months
September 30, 2023 (Unaudlted) A (Dollars in thousands) A A A Nine Months Ended September 30,AA AAA AA AA 2024A A 2023AA ChangeA AA AAA %ofAA AAA % ofA A
AAA AA AA AmountA A RevenueA A AmountA A RevenueA A AmountAA %A AA AAA AA A AAA AAA AAA AA RevenueA $41,280AA A 100.0%A $43,620A A A 100.0%A
$(2,340)A A (5.4)% Cost of revenueA A 24,643AA A 59.7%A A 25,703A A A58.9%A A (1,059)A A (4.1)% Gross profitA A 16,637A A A 40.3%A A 17,917A A A41.1%A A (1,281)A A (7.1)%
AAAAAA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAA Operating expenses:A AAAA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAA Advertising and marketingA A74AA A0.2%A A153AA

A 0.4%A A (79)A A (51.1)% Research and developmentA A 3,027A A A 7.3%A A 4,434AA A10.2%A A (1,408)A A (31.7)% General and administrativeA A 5,107A A A 12.4%A A 6,709A A
A 15.4%A A (1,603)A A (23.9)% Payroll and payroll taxesA A9,670AA A23.4%A A8232AA A18.9%A A 1,438A A A 17.5% Professional feesA A 3,356A A A 8.1%A A 5,651A A A 13.0%A
A (2,295)A A (40.6)% Stock compensation expenseA A 542A A A 1.3%A A309AA A0.7%A A233AA A 75.5% Depreciation and amortizationA A 1,826AA A 4.4%A A 1,899AA A 4.4%A

A (73)A A (3.9)% Impairment of goodwillA A 6,675A A A 16.2%A A-AA A0.0%A A6,675A A AN/AA Restructuring chargesA A 1,636AA A4.0%A A-AA A0.0%A A1,636AA AN/AA
Total operating expensesA A 31,913AA A 77.3%A A27,387AA A62.8%A A4525AA A165%AA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAA Loss from operationsA A (15,276)A

A (37.0)%A A (9,470)A A (21.7)%A A (5,806)A A61.3% AA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAA Otherincome (expense):A AAAA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAA
Interest expenseA A (462)A A (1.1)%A A (3,310)A A (7.6)%A A 2,848A A A (86.0)% Accretion of debt discountA A (1,978)A A (4.8)%A A (9,626)A A (22.1)%A A 7,648A A A (79.4)%
Changes in fair value of derivative liabilityA A 14A A A 0.0%A A 6,580AA A 15.1%A A (6,566)A A (99.8)% Derecognition expense on conversion of convertible debtA A (68)A A (0.2)%A

AqQ, 518)A A (3. 5)%A A 1,450A A A (95.5)% Legal settlement expenseA A, 598)A A (3. 9)%A A (4,142)A A . 5)%A A 2,545AA A (61.4)% Other income (expense)A A608AA A1.5%A

A (1, 474)A A (3.4)%A A2,081A A A (141.3)% Total other expense, netA A (3, 484)A A (8. 4)%A A3, 490)A A (30. 9)%A A 10,006AA A (74.2)% AA AAAA AAAA AAAA
AAAA AAA Loss before provision for income taxesA A (18,760)A A (45.4)%A A (22,960)A A (52.6)%A A 4,201AA A (18.3)% AA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAAAA
taxprov1smnA A1,214AA A2.9%A A138AA A0.3%A A1,077AA A781.3% AA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAA NetlossA $(19, 974)A A (48. 4)% $(23,098)A
A (53 0)%A $3,322A A A (14. 4)% A 27 Table of Contents A Revenue A A A Nine Months Ended September 30,A AA 2024A A 2023AA $ ChangeAA % ChangeA AA AA

0A

A A North AmericaA $15,478A A $32,330A A $(16,852)A A (52.1)% InternationalA A 25,802A A A 11,290A A A 14,512A A A 128.5% Total revenueA $41,280A A $43,62
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A (5.36)% A Revenue decreased by $2.3 million, or 5.4%, to $41.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2024, from $43.6 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2023. In
the North America segment, revenue decreased by $16.9 million, or 52.1%, compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2023. In the International segment, revenue increased by $14.5
million, or 128.5%, compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2023. The decrease in revenue was driven by a decrease in processing volume in the North America segment, which
decreased from $1.0 billion in the nine months ended September 30, 2023, to $562 million in the nine months ended September 30, 2023, and is attributable to the previously disclosed impact
associated with the Companya€™s QuickCard product transition that began in February 2024. The decrease in revenue in North America was partially offset by an increase in revenue in the
International segment that was driven by continued growth in processing volume, which increased from $1.1 billion in the nine months ended September 30, 2023 to $2.6 billion in the nine
months ended September 30, 2024. The increase in processing volume in the International segment was driven by continued strong growth across multiple verticals, primarily, our ISO and
partnership network, our global payments processing businesses, and banking-as-a-service offering. A Cost of Revenue A Cost of revenue decreased by $1.1 million, or 4.1%, to $26.6 million
for the nine months ended September 30, 2024, from $25.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2023. In the North America segment, cost of revenue decreased by $9.7 million, or
51.5%, compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2023. In the International segment, cost of revenue increased by $8.6 million, or 125.6%, compared to the nine months ended
September 30, 2023. Cost of revenue primarily consists of various processing fees paid to gateways, as well as commission payments to the ISOs responsible for establishing and maintaining
merchant relationships. The decrease in cost of revenue was primarily driven by a decrease in processing volumes in North America, as noted above, which were partially offset by an increase
in processing volumes in the International segment. A Operating Expenses A Operating expenses increased by $4.5 million, or 16.5%, to $31.9 million for the nine months ended September 30,
2024, from $27.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2023. The increase was primarily due to a $6.7 million non-cash charge related to the write-off of goodwill in North America
and restructuring charges of $1.6 million related to the Companya€™ s reorganization and restructuring of its business in North America, both recorded during the second quarter of 2024.
These increases were partially offset by a decrease in professional fees of $2.3 million due to lower accounting, consulting, and legal fees incurred in 2023 in connection with the Companya€™s
restatement of prior period consolidated financial statements, and a decrease in research and development expenses of $1.4 million, as the Company began capitalizing a portion of these costs
in the second quarter of 2024. A 28 Table of Contents A Other Income (Expense) A Other expense decreased by $10.0 million, or 74.2%, to $3.5 million for the nine months ended September
30, 2024, from $13.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2023. The decrease was primarily driven by a net decrease of $2.5 million related to debt discount accretion expense (-
$7.6 million), changes in fair value of derivative liability (+$6.6 million), and derecognition expense on conversion of convertible debt (-$1.5 million), all primarily recognized in connection with
the Companya€™s restructuring of its convertible note during the second quarter of 2024. Additionally, interest expense decreased $2.8 million, legal settlement expense decreased $2.6 million
and other income (expense) decreased $2.1 million. A Year Ended December 31, 2023 (audited) Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2022 (audited): A The following table summarizes our
results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 (dollars in thousands, except per share data): A A A Years Ended December 31,AA AAA AA AA 2023AA 2022A A
ChangeA AA AAA % ofAA AAA %ofAA AAA AA AA AmountA A RevenueA A AmountA A RevenueA A AmountAA %A AA AAA AAA AAA AAA AAA AA RevenueA

$65, 869A A A 100.0%A $32, 909A A A 100.0%A $32,960A A A 100.2% Cost of revenueA A 40,157A A A 61.0%A A 16,786A A A 51.0%A A 23,372A A A 139.2% Gross proﬁtA A25,712AA
A39.0%A A16,123AA A49.0%A A9,589AA A59.5% AA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAA Operating expenses:A AAAA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAA
Advertising and marketingA A 80AA A 0.1%A A 1,337AA A4.1%A A (1,257)A A -94.0% Research and developmentA A 5,757A A A 8.7%A A 6,276AA A 19.1%A A (519)A A -8.3% General
and administrativeA A 8,678A A A 13.2%A A G,GOSAA A 20.1%A A2,075A A A 31.4% Payroll and payroll taxesA A 12,017AA A18.2%A A 10,547AA A32.1%A A1,470AA A13.9%
Professional feesA A 7,076A A A 10.7%A A5312AA A 16.1%A A 1,764A A A 33.2% Stock compensation expenseA A 1,853A A A 2.8%A A 2,969A A A 9.0%A A (1,116)A A -37.6%
Depreciation and amortizationA A 2,553A A A 3.9%A A20,917AA A 63.6%A A (18,364)A A -87.8% Total operating expensesA A 38,014A A A 57.7%A A 53,961AA A 81.9%A A (15,947)A
A-206%AA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAA Loss from operationsA A (12,302)A A-18.7%A A (37,838)A A-57.4%A A25536AA A-67.5%AA AAAA AAAA AAAA
AAAA AAAA AAA Other income (expense):A AAAA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAA Interest expenseA A (3,340)A A-5.1%A A (8,169)A A-24.8%A A4,829AA A-59.1%
Accretion of debt discountA A (13,134)A A -19.9%A A (13,980)A A -42.5%A A 845A A A -6.0% Derecognition expense on conversion of Convertlble debtA A (25,035)A A -38.0%A A (5,709)A
A-17.3%A A (19 326)A A 338.5% Changes in fair value of derivative hablhtyA A6,544A A A9.9%A A16,857AA A51.2%A A (10 313)A -61.2% Legal settlement expenseA A (4, 142)A
A-6.3%A A-AA A0.0%A A 4, 142)A A n/aA Gain on sale of property and eqmpmentA A1,069AA A1.6%A A-AA A0.0%A A1,069AA An/aA Other expenseA A (2, 472)A A -3.8%A

A (405)A A-1.2%A A (2,067)A A 510.0% Total other income (expense)A A (40,511)A A-61.5%A A (11,406)A A-17.3%A A (29,104)A A255.2%AA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAAA
AAAA AAA Loss before pr0v1310n for income taxesA A (52 812)A A -80.2%A A (49,244)A A -74.8%A A (3 568)A A72%AA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAA Provision for
income taxesA A 289A A A 0.4%A A (8)A A0.0%A A296AA AnjaA AA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAAA AAA NetlossA $(53,101)A A -80.6%A $(49,236)A A -74.7%A
$(3,866)A A 7.9% A The Company has organized its operations into two reportable segments: North America and International. These segments represent the components of the Company for
which separate financial information is available that is utilized on a regular basis by the Chief Operating Decision Maker (4€ceCODMAa€) to assess segment performance, set strategic goals, and
allocate the Companya€™s resources. The following table provides a summary of our revenue by operating segment (dollars in thousands): A Revenue A A A Year Ended December 31,A A A
2023A A 2022A A $ ChangeA A % ChangeA AA AAA AAA AAA AA North AmericaA $48,938A A $28,613A A $20,325A A A 71% InternationalA A 16,931A A A 4,296A A A 12,635A A
A 294% Total revenueA $65,869A A $32,909A A $32,960A A A 100% A 29 Table of Contents A Revenue A Revenue increased by $33.0 million, or 100%, to $65.9 million in the current year
from $32.9 million in the previous year. In the North America segment, revenue increased by $20.3 million, or 71.0%, compared to the year ended December 31, 2022. In the International
segment, revenue increased by $12.6 million, or 294.1%, compared to the year ended December 31, 2022. The increase in revenue was primarily driven by significant growth in processing
volume, which increased from $1.719 billion for the year ended December 31, 2022 to $3.14 billion for the year ended December 31, 2023. The increase in processing volume is primarily
attributable to the continued expansion of our ISO and partnership network and growth in our global payment processing businesses, banking-as-a-service offering, and American Samoa. A
Cost of Revenue A Cost of revenue increased by $23.4 million, or 139.2%, to $40.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 from $16.8 million in the previous year. In the North America
segment, cost of revenue increased by $15.5 million, or 108.8%, compared to the year ended December 31, 2022. In the International segment, cost of revenue increased by $7.9 million, or
309.2%, compared to the year ended December 31, 2022. Cost of revenue consists of various processing fees paid to gateways and banks, as well as commission payments to the ISOs
responsible for establishing and maintaining merchant relationships, and the cost associated with banking-as-a-service offering. The increase in cost of revenue is primarily attributable to the
increase in transaction volume, which resulted in higher processing fees paid to gateways and commission payments to ISOs, in both North America and International segments. A Operating
Expenses A Operating expenses decreased by $15.9 million, or 29.6%, to $38.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 from $54.0 million in the prior year. The decrease was primarily
driven by the following: A &—Advertising and marketing expenses for the year ended December 31, 2023, decreased by $1.3 million, or 94.0%, compared to December 31, 2022. During 2022,
the Company incurred higher marketing costs in connection with its rebranding from Greenbox POS to RYVYL and the development of its new corporate website. The Companya€™s 2023
growth was primarily achieved through its expanding ISO and agent network and direct sales efforts while controlling external marketing efforts. A &—General and administrative expenses for
the year ended December 31, 2023, increased by $2.1 million, or 31.4%, compared to December 31, 2022, primarily due to non-recurring credit losses related to non-continuing legacy accounts
and an increase in expenses related to the full year impact of our European subsidiary acquired in mid-2022. A &—Payroll and payroll taxes for the year ended December 31, 2023, increased
$1.5 million, or 13.9%, compared to December 31, 2022, primarily due to increased headcount in our acquired European subsidiary to support its growth and expansion strategy. A a—
Professional fees for the year ended December 31, 2023, increased $1.8 million, or 33.2%, compared to December 31, 2022, primarily due to higher accounting, consulting, and legal fees
associated with the Companya€ ™s restatement of prior period consolidated financial statements. A &—Stock compensation expense for the year ended December 31, 2023, decreased $1.1
million, or 37.6%, compared to December 31, 2022, primarily due to a lower stock price associated with grants issued in 2023. A 4—Depreciation and amortization for the year ended December
31, 2023, decreased $18.4 million, or 87.8%, compared to December 31, 2022, primarily due to the $18.1 million write-off of the contracted acquisition of the Sky Financial portfolio during
2022. A Non-Operating Expenses A Non-operating expenses increased by $29.1 million, or 255.2%, to $40.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 from $11.4 million in the prior year.
This increase was primarily due to the following: A &—Excluding accretion expense associated with the Companya€™s convertible note, interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2023,
decreased by $4.8 million, or 59.1%, compared to the year ended December 31, 2022. The decrease is due to the Companya€™ s restructuring of the convertible note during 2023, which
included a waiver for interest on the convertible note through June 30, 2024. A &—Derecognition expense on conversion of convertible debt for the year ended December 31, 2023, increased by
$19.3 million, or 338.5%, compared to the year ended December 31, 2022. Additionally, changes in fair value of derivative liability for the year ended December 31, 2023, decreased by $10.3
million, or 61.2%, compared to the year ended December 31, 2022. The increase in derecognition expense and the decrease in changes in fair value of the derivative liability were both due to
the Companya€ ™ s restructuring of its convertible note, which resulted in a significant reduction of the outstanding principal balance as of December 31, 2023. See Note 9, Long-Term Debt,
Net, for additional information. A &—Legal settlement expense for the year ended December 31, 2023, increased by $4.1 million, compared to December 31, 2022, due to non-recurring legal
settlements during the year. A &—Gain on sale of property and equipment for the year ended December 31, 2023, increased by $1.1 million, compared to December 31, 2022, due to the sale of
a building owned by the Companya€ ™s subsidiary, Charge Savvy. A &—Other expense for the year ended December 31, 2023, increased $2.1 million, compared to December 31, 2022, primarily
due to the carryover effects of the Companya€™s restatement of prior period consolidated financial statements. A 30 Table of Contents A Liquidity and Capital Resources A The Companya€™s
consolidated working capital as of September 30, 2024 was negative $4.2 million, which included cash and cash equivalents of $4.3 million and restricted cash of $87.2 million. Historically, the
Company has financed its operations with proceeds from cash from operations, the sales of equity securities, and its $100 million convertible note. Our material liquidity needs principally relate
to working capital requirements and research and development expenditures. A Due to the product transition described above, we believe that our cash and cash equivalents as of September
30, 2024 are not sufficient to fund the North America segmenta€™ s operations and capital needs for the next 12 months from the date thereof. Our ability to fund working capital and other
expenditures in the North America segment will depend on our ability to generate cash from operating activities from our two operating segments, which is subject to our future operating
success, further repatriation of offshore profits from our European subsidiaries, and short-term borrowings in the U.S. A Our ability to successfully address the short-term liquidity shortfall in
the North America segment is contingent on managementa€™s intended plan over the next twelve months to improve the segmenta€™s liquidity and working capital requirements.
Management has determined that its intended plan, if successfully implemented, is appropriate and sufficient to address the liquidity shortfall in the North America segment and provide
sufficient funds to cover operations for the next 12 months from the date thereof. However, there can be no guarantee that we will be successful in implementing our plan or in acquiring
additional funding, that our projections of our future capital needs will prove accurate, or that any additional funding will be sufficient to continue our operations in the North America segment.
A Cash Flow Data: A The following table shows cash flows for the periods presented (dollars in thousands): A A A Nine Months Ended September 30,A A A 2024A A 2023A Cash provided by
operating activitiesA $19,119A A $27,584A Cash used in investing activitiesA A (1,226)A A (78) Cash used in financing activitiesA A (207)A A (11) Effects of exchange rates on cash, cash
equivalents, and restricted cashA A 479A A A 26A Net increase in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cashA $18,165A A $27,521A A Operating ActivitiesA 4€“ For the nine months ended
September 30, 2024 and 2023, net cash provided by operating activities was $19.1 million and $27.6 million,A respectively. The cash provided by operating activities was primarily due to the
timing of settlement of assets and liabilities. A Investing ActivitiesA 4€“ Net cash used in investing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, was $1.2 million and $0.1
million, respectively. The net cash used in investing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 primarily relates to capitalized software development costs. A Financing
ActivitiesA 4€“ Net cash used by financing activities in the nine-month period ended September 30, 2024 was $0.2 million. Net cash used in financing activities in the nine-month period ended
September 30, 2023 was negligible. A The following table shows cash flows for the periods presented (dollars in thousands): A A A Years Ended December 31,A A A 2023A A 2022A Net cash
provided by (used in) operating activitiesA $33,161A A $(9,344) Net cash provided by (used in) investing activitiesA A 2,287A A A (46,409) Net cash used in financing activitiesA A (3,008)A

A (10,049) Net cash acquired from acquisitionsA A -A A A 16,719A Foreign currency translation adjustmentA A 44A A A 357A Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents, and
restricted cashA $32,484A A $(48,726) A Operating ActivitiesA 4€“ For the year ended December 31, 2023, net cash provided by operating activities was $33.2 million, compared to net cash
used in operating activities of $9.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2022. The decrease in cash usage from operating activities was primarily due to adjustments for non-cash expenses
primarily related to the restructuring of our convertible note ($31.6 million), depreciation expense ($2.6 million), and stock-based compensation ($1.9 million). Cash flow from operating
activities was also impacted by increases in payment processing liabilities, other current liabilities, cash due from gateways, net, and prepaid and other current assets. A 31 Table of Contents
A Investing ActivitiesA 4€“ For the year ended December 31, 2023, net cash provided by investing activities was $2.3 million, primarily due to the proceeds from the sale of a building owned by
the Companya€™s subsidiary, Charge Savvy. Cash used in investing activities was $46.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2022, primarily due to $28.8 million paid to acquire Transact
Europe Holdings, and, as more fully described elsewhere in this report, consideration paid in connection with an agreement to acquire the Sky Financial portfolio. A Financing ActivitiesA a€“
For the year ended December 31, 2023, net cash used in financing activities was $3.0 million, primarily due to a repayment of principal on our convertible note in connection with the
restructuring of that note during the year. Cash used in financing activities was $10.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2022, primarily due to repayments of our convertible note and
repurchases of the Companya€™s treasury stock.------ A Recent Developments Related to Liquidity A In February 2024, the Company transitioned its QuickCard product in North America away
from terminal-based to app-based processing. This transition coincided with a change in our banking partner that was prompted by recent changes in the compliance environment and banking
regulations. The unforeseen abrupt nature of the transition and slow initial adoption of the app-based product has led to a significant decline in processing volume in North America. This in turn
has adversely affected revenue in the North America segment and, as a result, the North America segmenta€™s revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 were down by
approximately 77 percent, which is primarily attributable to this product transition. See the Notes to the Financial Statements for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, and for the nine
months ended September 30, 2024 and September 30, 2023, for additional information. A The decline in revenues resulting from this product transition has adversely impacted the
Companya€™s liquidity in its North America segment in the short term. As a result, management has determined that its cash and cash equivalents in the North America segment as of
December 31, 2024, will not be sufficient to fund the segmentd€™s operations and capital needs for the next 12 months from the date of this prospectus. Managementa€™s intended plan over
the next twelve months to address the liquidity shortfall in the North America segment includes, but is not limited to, the following: A 4—acceleration of the Companya€™s business
development efforts to drive volumes in diversified business verticals; A a—the implementation of cost control measures to more effectively manage spending in the North America segment and
right sizing the organization, where appropriate; A 4&—repatriation of offshore profits from the Companya€™s European subsidiaries, whose continued accelerated growth and generatlon of
positive cash flow have already provided, and the Company believes, will continue to provide, an immediate and viable short-term source of capital during this product transition; and A 4—a
capital raise, which the Company intends to negotiate and consummate in the immediate term. A Management has assessed that its intended plan is appropriate and sufficient to address the
liquidity shortfall in its North America segment. However, there can be no guarantee that we will be successful in implementing our plan or in acquiring additional funding, that our projections
of our future capital needs will prove accurate, or that any additional funding will be sufficient to continue our operations in the North America segment. Refer to the &€0eGoing Concerna€
subsection within Note 2,A Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, of the footnotes to the financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, and for the nine months
ended September 30, 2024 and September 30, 2023, for additional information. A Logicquest Technology, Inc. A InA April 2023, we executed a purchase agreement for 99.4 million shares of



restricted common stock of Logicquest Technology, Inc., a Nevada corporation (a€ceLogicquesta€) representing ownership of 99.1% of Logicquest, 48 shares of Series C Convertible Non-
Redeemable Preferred Stock of Logicquest, and 10 shares of Series D Convertible Non-Redeemable Preferred Stock of Logicquest, in exchange for an aggregate purchase price of $225,000.
Logicquest was a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act) quoted on the Over-the-Counter Pink Open Market under the symbol 4€ceLOGQ&€ and is required to file reports
and other information with the SEC pursuant to the Exchange Act. In June 2023, we merged the assets of Coyni, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and Logicquest, with
Logicquest as the surviving entity. Subsequently, Logicquest changed its name to Coyni, Inc. (4€ceCoyni PubCoa€). In the fourth quarter of 2023, the Company amended the share purchase
agreement to reflect 98 million shares of restricted common stock of Logicquest, 48 shares of Series C Convertible Non-Redeemable Preferred Stock of Logicquest, and 10 shares of Series D
Convertible Non-Redeemable Preferred Stock of Logicquest, in exchange for an aggregate purchase price of $225,000. In accordance with ASC 805,A Business Combinations,A this transaction
was accounted for as an asset acquisition and the acquired assets are included in the consolidated financial statements of the Company as of December 31, 2023. A The Company originally
intended to transfer the Coyni Platform assets, which are owned by the Company, into Coyni PubCo, and subsequently spin-off Coyni PubCo into a new publicly traded entity. However, we
subsequently determined that it was in the best interest of the Company and its shareholders to retain the Coyni Platform at the Company to expand payment processing and banking-as-a-
service solutions. As such, management no longer plans to pursue a spin-off of Coyni PubCo. A 32 Table of Contents A Issuance of Convertible Note A On November 8, 2021, we sold and
issued, in a registered direct offering, an 8% Senior convertible note, originally due November 3, 2023, and subsequently extended to April 5, 2025, in the aggregate original principal amount of
$100 million (the a€ceNotea€). The Note had an original issue discount of sixteen percent (16%) resulting in gross proceeds to us of $84 million. The Note was sold pursuant to the terms of a
Securities Purchase Agreement, dated November 2, 2021, between us and the investor in the Note (the d&€celnvestora€). A The Note was issued on November 8, 2021, pursuant to an indenture
dated November 2, 2021 between us and Wilmington Savings Fund Society, FSB, as trustee (the &€ceBase Indenturea€), as supplemented by a first supplemental indenture thereto, dated
November 2, 2021, relating to the Notes (the &€ceFirst Supplemental Indenturea€ and the Base Indenture as supplemented by the First Supplemental Indenture, the a€ceFirst Indenturea€). The
terms of the Note include those provided in the First Indenture and those made part of the First Indenture by reference to the Trust Indenture Act. A First Exchange Agreement A On July 25,
2023, the Company entered into an Exchange Agreement (the d€ceFirst Exchange Agreementa€) under which the Company and the Investor agreed to exchange (the a€ceSeries A
Exchangesa€), in two separate exchanges, an aggregate of $22.703 million of the outstanding principal and interest under the Note for 15,000 shares of a newly authorized series of preferred
stock of the Company designated as Series A Preferred Convertible Stock (the a€ceSeries A Preferred Stocka€), the terms of which are set forth in a Certificate of Designations of Rights and
Preferences of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock of RYVYL, Inc. (the &€ceSeries A Certificate of Designationsa€), which the Company filed with the Nevada Secretary of State prior to the
initial issuance of the Series A Preferred Stock. A On July 31, 2023, pursuant to the terms of the First Exchange Agreement, the Company closed the initial exchange (the &€celnitial Series A
Exchangeéa€) and issued 6,000 shares of Series A Preferred Stock in exchange for $4.297 million of the outstanding principal balance of the Note and $1.703 million of accrued interest.
Additionally, upon satisfaction of all applicable closing conditions, including, without limitation, the Company having obtained any stockholder approval required for the consummation of the
transactions and the issuance of the Common Stock issuable upon the conversion of all of the shares of Series A Preferred Stock (unless waived by the applicable other party), in the final
exchange (the &€ceFinal Series A Exchangea€), the parties agreed to exchange the remaining $16.703 million of outstanding principal balance subject to the Series A Exchanges for 9,000
shares of Series A Preferred Stock on a date mutually agreed to by the Company and the Investor. A As part of the First Exchange Agreement, the Company also agreed to allow for the
conversion of up to an additional $9.0 million of principal (together with any accrued and unpaid interest thereon) of the Note at a conversion price equal to 97.5% of the lower of (x) the then in
effect conversion price and (y) the lowest volume weighted average price of the Companya€™s Common Stock during the five trading days immediately prior to such conversion; and the
Investor agreed to waive any interest that would otherwise accrue on the Note during the period commencing on April 1, 2023 through, and including, December 31, 2023. A Second Exchange
Agreement A Under the terms of the First Exchange Agreement, a final closing was to be held upon which the Investor was to exchange an additional $16.703 million of principal of the Note
into 9,000 shares of Series A Preferred Stock (the &€ceUnissued Series A Preferred Stock&€) which shares of Unissued Series A Preferred Stock were convertible into shares of Common Stock,
in accordance with the terms of the Series A Certificate of Designations. A On November 27, 2023, the Company entered into an Exchange Agreement (the 4€ceSecond Exchange Agreementa€)
with the Investor under which the Company and the Investor agreed to exchange (the a€aeSeries B Exchangea€), (i) all of the existing shares of Series A Preferred Stock issued to the Investor in
the Initial Series A Exchange, (ii) the right to exchange the shares of Unissued Series A Preferred Stock for an additional $16.703 million of principal of the Note, and (iii) $60.303 million of the
outstanding principal under the Note for 55,000 shares of a newly authorized series of preferred stock of the Company designated as Series B Preferred Convertible Stock (the a€ceSeries B
Preferred Stocka€), the terms of which are set forth in a Certificate of Designations of Rights and Preferences of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock of RYVYL Inc. (the a€ceSeries B Certificate
of Designationsa€), which the Company filed with the Nevada Secretary of State prior to the initial issuance of any shares of Series B Preferred Stock. The Series B Preferred Stock is further
described in Note 10,A Convertible Preferred Stock. As additional consideration for the Series B Exchange, the Company has also agreed to make a cash payment to the Investor in the amount
of $3.0 million. As part of the Second Exchange Agreement, the Investor also agreed to forbear from requiring the repayment of the Note (to the extent such repayment obligation arises solely
as a result of the occurrence of the maturity date and not with respect to any event of default or redemption rights in the Note or pursuant to the Indenture (as such term is defined in the
Second Exchange Agreement)) during the period commencing on November 5, 2024 through, and including, April 5, 2025; and to extend the waiver of payment of interest under the Note
through July 1, 2024. A 33 Table of Contents A On November 29, 2023, the Company closed the Series B Exchange, pursuant to which the Company issued to the Investor 55,000 shares of
Series B Convertible Preferred Stock and paid the Investor a cash payment in the amount of $3.0 million, in exchange for 6,000 shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock previously issued
to the Investor, the right to exchange the shares of Unissued Series A Preferred Stock for an additional $16.703 million of principal of the Note, and the reduction of principal of the Note in the
aggregate amount of $60.303 million. A Ranking A The Note is the senior unsecured obligations of the Company and not the financial obligations of our subsidiaries. Until such date as the
principal amount of the Note is $5 million or less, all payments due under the Note will be senior to all other indebtedness of the Company and/or any of our subsidiaries. A Maturity Date A
Under its original terms, unless earlier converted, or redeemed, the Note was to mature on November 3, 2023, the second anniversary of their issuance date, which we refer to herein as the
a€ceMaturity Datea€, subject to the right of the investors to extend the date: A i.if an event of default under the Note has occurred and is continuing (or any event shall have occurred and be
continuing that with the passage of time and the failure to cure would result in an event of default under the Note) and A ii.for a period of 20 business days after the consummation of a
fundamental transaction if certain events occur. A We are required to pay, on the Maturity Date, all outstanding principal, accrued and unpaid interest and accrued and unpaid late charges on
such principal and interest, if any. A As part of the Restructuring Agreement entered into with the Investor on August 16, 2022 (the 4€ceRestructuring Agreementa€), the Company obtained a
forbearance of the Maturity Date from November 5, 2023 to November 5, 2024. As part of the Second Exchange Agreement entered into with the Investor on November 27, 2023, the Company
obtained a further forbearance of the Maturity Date from November 5, 2024 to April 5, 2025. A Interest A The Note bears interest at the rate of 8% per annum (a) shall commence accruing on
the date of issuance, (b) shall be computed on the basis of a 360-day year and twelve 30- day months and (c) shall be payable in cash quarterly in arrears on the first trading day of each
calendar quarter or otherwise in accordance with the terms of the Note. If the holder elects to convert or redeem all or any portion of a Note prior to the Maturity Date, all accrued and unpaid
interest on the amount being converted or redeemed will also be payable. If we elect to redeem all or any portion of a Note prior to the Maturity Date, all accrued and unpaid interest on the
amount being redeemed will also be payable. The interest rate of the Note will automatically increase to 15% per annum upon the occurrence and continuance of an event of default (See
a€”a€Events of Defaulta€ below). A Subject to the satisfaction of certain equity conditions, the terms of the Restructuring Agreement require the holder to voluntarily convert certain interest
payments when due under the Note at 95% of the lower of (i) the then in effect conversion price and (ii) the lowest volume weighted average price of our common stock during the five trading
days immediately prior to such conversion. A As part of the First Exchange Agreement, the Investor agreed to waive any interest that would otherwise accrue on the Note during the period
commencing on April 1, 2023 through, and including, December 31, 2023. As part of the Second Exchange Agreement, the Investor agreed to extend the waiver of payment of interest under the
Note through July 1, 2024. A 34 Table of Contents A Late Charges A We are required to pay a late charge of 15% on any amount of principal or other amounts that are not paid when due. A
Conversion A Fixed Conversions at Option of Holder A The holder of the Note may convert all, or any part, of the outstanding principal and interest of the Note, at any time at such holdera€™
option, into shares of our Common Stock at an initial fixed conversion price, which is subject to: A &—proportional adjustment upon the occurrence of any stock split, stock dividend, stock
combination and/or similar transactions; and A 4—full-ratchet adjustment in connection a subsequent offering at a per share price less than the fixed conversion price then in effect. A Pursuant
to the original terms of the Note, since during the fiscal quarter ending March 31, 2022, the Company (i) failed to process at least $750 million in transaction volume or (ii) had revenue that was
less than $12 million, the Notea€™s fixed conversion price then in effect exceeded the greater of (x) the Notea€™s $1.67 floor and (y) 140% of the market price as of April 1, 2022 (the
a€ceAdjustment Measuring Pricea€), on April 1, 2022, the fixed conversion price automatically adjusted to the Adjustment Measuring Price. A As part of the Restructuring Agreement, the
Company agreed to allow for the conversion of up to $4.5 million of principal (together with any accrued and unpaid interest thereon) of the Note at a conversion price equal to the lesser of (i)
$2.40 and (ii) 97.5% of the lower of (x) the then in effect conversion price and (y) the lowest volume weighted average price of our Common Stock during the five trading days immediately prior
to such conversion. A As part of the First Exchange Agreement, the Company agreed to allow for the conversion of up to an additional $9.0 million of principal (together with any accrued and
unpaid interest thereon) of the Note at a conversion price equal to 97.5% of the lower of (x) the then in effect conversion price and (y) the lowest volume weighted average price of our Common
Stock during the five trading days immediately prior to such conversion. A 1- Year Alternate Optional Conversion A At any time following the first anniversary of the issuance date of the Note,
but only if the closing bid price of our Common Stock on the immediately prior trading day is less than $6.50, each holder of the Note shall have the option to convert, at such holdera€™s

option, pro rata, up to $30 million of the principal amount of the Note (in $250,000 increments) at the a€cealternate optional conversion price, which is equal to the lower of (i) the then in effect
conversion price and (ii) the greater of (x) the Notea€™s $1.67 floor price or (y) 98% of the market price on the conversion date. A Alternate Event of Default Optional Conversion A If an event
of default has occurred under the Note, each holder may alternatively elect to convert the Note (subject to an additional 15% redemption premium) at the a€ceAlternate Event of Default
Conversion Pricea€ equal to the lesser of: A &—the fixed conversion price then in effect; and A the greater of: A &—the floor price; and A 4—80% of the lowest volume weighted average price
of our Common Stock during the five trading days immediately prior to such conversion. A Beneficial Ownership Limitation A The Note may not be converted, and shares of Common Stock may
not be issued under the Note if, after giving effect to the conversion or issuance, the applicable holder of the Note (together with its affiliates, if any) would beneficially own in excess of 4.99%
of our outstanding shares of Common Stock, which we refer to herein as the &€ceNote Blockera€. The Note Blocker may be raised or lowered to any other percentage not in excess of 9.99% at
the option of the applicable holder of the Note, except that any raise will only be effective upon 61-daysa€™ prior notice to us. A 35 Table of Contents A Change of Control Redemption Right A
In connection with a change of control of the Company, each holder may require us to redeem in cash all, or any portion, of the Note at a 15% redemption premium to the greater of the face
value, the equity value of our Common Stock underlying the Note and the equity value of the change of control consideration payable to the holder of our Common Stock underlying the Note. A
The equity value of our Common Stock underlying the Note is calculated using the greatest closing sale price of our Common Stock during the period immediately preceding the consummation
or the public announcement of the change of control and ending the date the holder gives notice of such redemption. A The equity value of the change of control consideration payable to the
holder of our Common Stock underlying the Note is calculated using the aggregate cash consideration and aggregate cash value of any non-cash consideration per share of our Common Stock
to be paid to the holders of our Common Stock upon the change of control. A Events of Default A Under the terms of the First Supplemental Indenture, the events of default contained in the
Base Indenture shall not apply to the Note. Rather, the Note contains standard and customary events of default including but not limited: (i) the suspension from trading or the failure to list our
Common Stock within certain time periods; (ii) failure to make payments when due under the Note; and (iii) bankruptcy or insolvency of the Company. A If an event of default occurs, each
holder may require us to redeem all or any portion of the Note (including all accrued and unpaid interest and late charges thereon), in cash, at a 15% redemption premium to the greater of the
face value and the equity value of our Common Stock underlying the Note. A The equity value of our Common Stock underlying the Note is calculated using the greatest closing sale price of our
Common Stock on any trading day immediately preceding such event of default and the date we make the entire payment required. A Company Optional Redemption Rights A At any time no
event of default exits, we may redeem all, but not less than all, the Note outstanding in cash all, or any portion, of the Note at a 5% redemption premium to the greater of the face value and the
equity value of our Common Stock underlying the Note. A The equity value of our Common Stock underlying the Note is calculated using the greatest closing sale price of our Common Stock on
any trading day during the period commencing on the date immediately preceding such date the Company notifies the applicable holder of such redemption election and the date we make the
entire payment required. A Preferred Stock Repurchase And Note Repayment Agreement, and Stock Purchase Agreement and Financing. A Please see the Recent Developments section in the
Prospectus Summary for more information on the Companya€™s Preferred Stock Repurchase And Note Repayment Agreement, and Companya€™s Stock Purchase Agreement and related
Financing. A Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Developments and Estimates A We prepare our consolidated financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the U.S. (4€eGAAPa€). GAAP requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. We base our estimates on historical experience,
anticipated future trends, and other assumptions we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. Because these estimates require significant judgment, our actual results may differ
materially from our estimates. A Cash Due from Gateways A The Company generates the majority of its revenue from payment processing services provided to its merchant clients. In the US,
the company uses a third-party gateway provider to access the credit card network. When a merchant makes a sale, the process of receiving the payment card information, engaging the banks
for transferring the proceeds to the merchanta€™s account via digital gateways. The amount due from gateways represents the continuous several days delay between the cash receipt and the
actual processing transaction date. A The gateways have strict guidelines pertaining to the scheduling of the release of funds to merchants based on several criteria that include, but are not
limited to, return and chargeback history, associated risk for the specific business vertical, average transaction amount, etc. To mitigate potential credit losses associated with these risks, these
gateway policies determine reserve requirements and a payment in arrears strategy. While reserve and payment in arrears restrictions are in effect for a merchant payout, the Company records
the reserved amounts against cash due from the gateways until released. A 36 Table of Contents A Business A Business Overview and Strategic Vision A RYVYLA€™s strategy is rooted in our
mission to transform the global payments landscape through technology-driven, customer-centric, and compliance-focused financial solutions. Our legacy product was developed to facilitate
payment processing for previously all cash businesses. Offering a cloud-based network interface, merchant management system, Point of Sale connectivity to facilitate noncash payment
methods such as credit cards, debit cards and prepaid gift cards and to disburse those funds electronically to merchants later upon request. The business has expanded both organically and
through acquisitions. The companya€™ s second-generation platform and financial service layers provide a dual-sided payment platform that facilitates both acquiring and disbursements
services. We operate globally in two segments, North America and Europe, expanding our product offerings, cultivating strategic partnerships, and maintaining robust regulatory compliance
across all markets in which we operate. A RYVYLA€™s comprehensive product suite is designed to create value across the entire financial ecosystem. By combining advanced technology, global
reach, and deep regulatory expertise, we empower businesses to manage payments, optimize cash flow, and scale operations efficiently in an increasingly digital world. We believe that our
commitment to continuous innovation ensures that we helps us to remain at the forefront of the global fintech landscape, delivering secure, reliable, and transformative financial solutions that
drive growth and create lasting value for our clients and stakeholders.. A Global Expansion A RYVYLA€™s growth is fueled by our commitment to expanding our presence in both established
and emerging markets, with a primary focus on Europe and North America. In Europe, we capitalize on the strength of our Electronic Money Institution (EMI) license in Bulgaria, complemented



by our operational hub in Portugal. This enables us to offer comprehensive EMI services, including global IBAN issuance, foreign exchange (FX) solutions, and payment processing capabilities.
Our direct connectivity to major card networks and the Central Bank of Europe reinforces our ability to scale across the EU, providing seamless financial services tailored to the unique
demands of businesses operating in the region. A In North America, our focus is on expanding treasury management services, Bank Identification Number (BIN) sponsorship for credit card
processing, and comprehensive payment solutions such as ACH and wire transfers. By leveraging third-party sponsorship arrangements alongside our technology, we are positioned to capture
growth opportunities in key sectors, including e-commerce, fintech, and B2B payments. Our strategy also emphasizes enhancing cross-border payment infrastructure, enabling businesses to
transact efficiently across more than 200 markets and 140 currencies, thus solidifying RYVYLA€™s role as a critical connector in the global financial ecosystem. A Product Innovation and
Diversification A Innovation is the cornerstone of RYVYLA€™s growth strategy. We continuously evolve our product portfolio to anticipate and meet the dynamic needs of businesses worldwide.
Central to this is the enhancement of our dual-sided payment platform, which facilitates both acquiring and disbursement services. This platform is designed to support emerging use cases in
acquiring, disbursements, and embedded finance, delivering seamless, end-to-end financial solutions. Our treasury management services are evolving to include advanced features such as real-
time liquidity tracking, dynamic fund allocation, and sophisticated FX risk management tools, providing businesses with greater control and flexibility over their financial operations. We are
expanding our card issuing capabilitiesa€”encompassing debit, prepaid, and virtual cardsa€”and strengthening our BIN sponsorship programs to support fintech companies, neobanks, and
enterprises looking to launch customized card programs on a global scale. Furthermore, by integrating banking-as-a-service (Baa$S) capabilities, RYVYL is positioned to power the financial
infrastructure for platforms and marketplaces seeking embedded finance solutions. A Operational Efficiency and Scalability A Operational excellence is fundamental to sustaining RYVYL&€™s
growth and profitability. Our strategy is focused on enhancing efficiency through technology, automation, and optimized resource management. By leveraging our advanced ledger technology,
we believe that we can ensure real-time transaction processing, data integrity, and the scalability required to handle high transaction volumes with minimal latency. A The implementation of
automation across key functionsa€”including compliance, reconciliation, and reportinga€”enables us to reduce operational costs, improve accuracy, and enhance service delivery. We are also
optimizing our global operations by aligning activities across Europe and North America, creating synergies that improve resource utilization, reduce overhead, and accelerate the deployment
of new products and services. A 37 Table of Contents A Regulatory Excellence and Risk Management A Compliance is more than a regulatory requirement for RYVYL; it is a strategic
advantage. Our regulatory strategy is designed to ensure resilience amid the complexities of global financial regulations. We maintain rigorous compliance with international standards,
including anti-money laundering (AML) and counter-terrorist financing (CTF) regulations under FinCEN in the U.S. and EU directives, alongside data protection frameworks such as GDPR and
security standards like PCI-DSS. A Proactive risk management is integral to our operations. We invest in real-time risk monitoring, advanced fraud detection systems, and comprehensive
cybersecurity protocols to mitigate financial, operational, and regulatory risks. Our strong relationships with regulatory bodies in both the U.S. and the EU allow us to anticipate changes in the
regulatory landscape, ensuring that we adapt swiftly to maintain uninterrupted service delivery and operational integrity. A Sustainable Growth and Value Creation A RYVYL&€™s long-term
success is anchored in sustainable growth strategies that deliver value to our customers, shareholders, and partners. We are committed to diversifying revenue streams beyond traditional
transaction-based income through the expansion of value-added services such as FX trading, treasury advisory, and compliance-as-a-service for fintech partners. A A customer-centric approach
underpins our growth strategy. We focus on enhancing client relationships, improving user experiences, and fostering customer loyalty through tailored support models and innovative service
offerings. Strategic mergers and acquisitions play a key role in our growth trajectory, allowing us to acquire complementary technologies, expand our customer base, and strengthen our
regulatory footprint in critical markets. Our commitment to environmental, social, and governance (ESG) principles is embedded in our operations. We prioritize ethical business practices, data
privacy, financial inclusion, and environmental responsibility, aligning our corporate values with the expectations of our stakeholders and the broader global community. A Strategic Objectives
A As we look ahead, RYVYLA€™ s strategic objectives are focused on expanding our global reach, increasing transaction volumes, enhancing profitability, and setting industry benchmarks in
compliance and risk management. We aim to deepen our presence in key markets across Europe, North America, and emerging regions, targeting new industries and verticals that align with
our growth ambitions. A We believe that our commitment to innovation will drive the development of new products and platform enhancements, with the intent to position RYVYL at the
forefront of financial technology. We are dedicated to fostering an agile, resilient, and future-ready organization that can adapt to the evolving demands of the global financial ecosystem. A
Competition A In each of our business segments, we compete with a large variety of companies - financial institutions, financial technology companies, traditional payment providers, new
market entrants, and others, both large and small. The markets for the services we provide are highly fragmented and competitive. Many of these providers compete with us across our
segments, vertical markets and geographies. Some of these competitors possess greater financial, sales and marketing resources than we do. We expect each of our segments to become more
competitive over time, as advances in technology enable new entrants, barriers to entry fall and existing providers expand their services, both operationally and geographically. A Competitors
A Adyen &,-498.2 million in Q3 2024 Adyen is a Dutch payment company that functions as an acquiring bank, allowing businesses to accept e-commerce, mobile, and point-of-sale payments.
The company reported a 21% growth in net revenue for Q3 2024, amounting to 4,-498.2 million, up from 4,—413.6 million in the same quarter the previous year. A Worldline SA 4,—-4.61 billion
in 2023 Worldline is a French financial services company covering the full payments value chain, including issuing processing, payments acceptance, commercial acquiring, and acquiring
processing. In 2023, the company generated a proforma revenue of 4,—4.61 billion. A Nexi Group Data not specified in the provided sources Nexi is an Italian multinational financial technology
company specializing in payment systems, merchant services, and digital banking services. Specific revenue figures are not detailed in the available sources. A Stripe $1.77 billion (estimated)
Stripe is a global technology company that builds economic infrastructure for the internet. Businesses of all sizes use Stripea€™s software and APIs to accept payments, send payouts, and
manage their businesses online. Stripe offers payment processing services and has a significant presence in Europe. A Worldpay $4.9 billion in 2023 Worldpay is a global payment processing
company that provides services to merchants and financial institutions. It offers payment gateway solutions, risk management, and payment processing services, supporting various payment
methods and currencies. A Checkout.com $358.2 million (estimated) Checkout.com is a global payment solutions provider that offers a full-stack payment platform, including payment
processing, acquiring, and gateway services. It supports businesses in accepting payments in multiple currencies and provides advanced fraud detection tools. A 2Checkout $22.1 million
(estimated) 2Checkout, now part of Verifone, is a global payment platform that provides comprehensive e-commerce solutions, including payment processing, global tax and financial services,
and subscription billing. It supports various payment methods and currencies, catering to businesses aiming to expand internationally. A 38 Table of Contents A Government Regulation A
RYVYL operates within a dynamic and highly regulated global financial environment, where compliance is fundamental to our operations. As a leading fintech company with a strong presence in
both Europe and North America, we are subject to an extensive range of laws and regulations that govern critical areas such as anti-money laundering (AML), counter-terrorist financing (CTF),
consumer protection, cybersecurity, data privacy, and financial services supervision. The regulatory landscape is continuously evolving, driven by legislative updates, regulatory reforms, and
shifts in global compliance expectations. These changes influence how we structure, deliver, and expand our services worldwide. A Our proactive approach to regulatory compliance ensures
that we not only meet current legal requirements but are also well-prepared to adapt to emerging regulatory developments. We closely monitor changes in laws and regulations across all
jurisdictions where we operate, enabling us to design secure, compliant, and customer-centric solutions that support our global growth strategy. Recognizing that regulatory shifts, enforcement
actions, or heightened scrutiny can impact our business operations and financial performance, we prioritize robust governance frameworks to safeguard our business continuity. A Payments
Regulation A RYVYLA€™s payment services are governed by comprehensive regulatory frameworks in both the United States and the European Union, reflecting the complexity of the global
payments ecosystem. A In the United States, we offer a broad range of payment solutions, including credit card processing through BIN sponsorship, ACH transactions, wire transfers, and
treasury management services. These services are delivered in collaboration with regulated financial institutions under third-party sponsorship arrangements. This model subjects us to indirect
oversight by key regulatory bodies, notably the Financial Crimes Enforcement Network (FinCEN), which plays a pivotal role in ensuring compliance with AML and CTF regulations, as well as
broader financial crime prevention mandates. A In the European Union, RYVYL operates under an Electronic Money Institution (EMI) license issued in Bulgaria, with additional operations in
Portugal. This license authorizes us to issue global IBANs, provide foreign exchange (FX) services, and deliver acquiring and card issuing solutions. Our activities are regulated under the
Payment Services Directive (PSD2) and supervised by the Bulgarian National Bank alongside other relevant EU financial authorities. The regulatory frameworks in both regions impose
stringent requirements related to capital adequacy, anti-fraud measures, data security, and transaction monitoring, ensuring the resilience and integrity of our payment infrastructure. A
Financial Services Supervision A RYVYLA&€™s operations are subject to both direct and indirect regulatory supervision, reflecting the breadth of our services and the diverse jurisdictions in
which we operate. A In Europe, we are directly regulated as an EMI, with obligations encompassing capital requirements, safeguarding client funds, corporate governance, and risk
management. This direct oversight ensures that we maintain high standards of financial stability, operational transparency, and customer protection. A In North America, while RYVYL does not
operate as a licensed money transmitter, our activities are conducted through third-party sponsorship relationships. These partnerships require strict adherence to the compliance standards of
our sponsoring financial institutions, subjecting us to indirect regulatory oversight. This dual-layered supervision framework, combining direct regulatory engagement and indirect compliance
obligations, reinforces our commitment to maintaining the highest standards of regulatory integrity across all markets. A Anti-Money Laundering (AML) and Counter-Terrorist Financing (CTF)
A RYVYL is dedicated to combating financial crime through comprehensive AML and CTF programs designed to align with global regulatory expectations. Our compliance framework adheres to
key international standards, including the U.S. Bank Secrecy Act (BSA), which is overseen by FinCEN, the EU&a€™ s Anti-Money Laundering Directives (AMLD), and guidelines issued by the
Financial Action Task Force (FATF). A Our AML/CTF framework is built on robust policies and procedures that include customer due diligence (CDD) and know-your-customer (KYC) protocols,
advanced transaction monitoring systems to detect and prevent suspicious activities, and rigorous sanctions screening aligned with U.S. Office of Foreign Assets Control (OFAC) requirements
and EU regulations. Ongoing training and development for our employees ensure that compliance remains embedded in our corporate culture, enabling us to proactively manage financial crime
risks across all areas of our business. A 39 Table of Contents A Data Protection and Privacy A As a global fintech provider, RYVYL handles sensitive personal and financial data, making data
protection and privacy critical components of our regulatory compliance strategy. We operate under stringent data privacy laws in both the European Union and the United States. A In the EU,
we comply with the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR), which sets rigorous standards for data collection, processing, and transfer. GDPR mandates strict requirements around data
security, breach notification, and the lawful basis for data processing, ensuring that we uphold the privacy rights of individuals across the EU. A In the United States, RYVYL adheres to federal
and state-level privacy regulations, including the California Consumer Privacy Act (CCPA) and other emerging data protection laws. Our global data governance framework encompasses
encryption protocols, cross-border data transfer mechanisms, and incident response plans designed to safeguard data integrity and mitigate potential security risks. A Cybersecurity
Compliance A Cybersecurity is integral to RYVYLA€™s operations, with our compliance framework designed to protect against evolving cyber threats. We maintain a comprehensive
cybersecurity program that aligns with global security standards, including the National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST) and ISO 27001. A Our cybersecurity measures include
regular penetration testing, vulnerability assessments, and advanced threat detection systems to identify and address potential risks proactively. Incident response protocols are in place to
ensure swift and effective management of security breaches, minimizing potential impacts on our operations and customers. In addition, we comply with the Payment Card Industry Data
Security Standard (PCI-DSS), which governs the secure handling of cardholder data in payment processing environments. A Consumer Protection and Financial Conduct Regulations A RYVYL
is committed to safeguarding consumer interests through strict adherence to financial conduct and consumer protection regulations. We ensure transparency in our fee structures, maintain fair
lending practices where applicable, and provide clear dispute resolution mechanisms to address customer concerns effectively. A In the U.S., our operations are subject to oversight by the
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB), which regulates consumer financial products and services. In the EU, we comply with directives under the EU Consumer Rights Directive and
PSD2, which mandate strong customer authentication (SCA) protocols and secure online payment standards. Our consumer protection strategy is designed to foster trust, promote
transparency, and enhance the overall customer experience across all markets. A Sanctions and Anti-Corruption Compliance A RYVYL maintains a robust sanctions and anti-corruption
compliance framework, ensuring full adherence to global regulatory standards. We comply with sanctions programs administered by the U.S. Office of Foreign Assets Control (OFAC), the
EUA€™s restrictive measures, the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (FCPA), and the U.K. Bribery Act. A Our compliance measures include comprehensive sanctions screening for all
transactions and customer onboarding processes, rigorous anti-bribery policies, and regular employee training on ethical business practices. Additionally, we implement third-party risk
management protocols to prevent corruption and ensure that our business relationships align with our ethical standards and regulatory obligations. A Emerging Regulatory Developments A
RYVYL continuously monitors regulatory developments that may impact our operations, including: A 4&—Emerging Payment Technologies: We stay ahead of regulatory changes related to digital
wallets, tokenization, and evolving payment models, ensuring that our services remain compliant with new industry standards. A &—Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) Reporting:
We align with global sustainability regulations, such as the EU Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive (CSRD), reflecting our commitment to responsible business practices. A a—
Interchange Fee Regulations: We comply with the EU&€™s Multilateral Interchange Fee Regulation (MIFR) and U.S. regulations affecting credit and debit card processing fees, ensuring
transparency and fairness in our pricing structures. A 40 Table of Contents A Technology and Development A Innovative Dual-Sided Platform & Technology Infrastructure A At the core of
RYVYLa€™s fintech ecosystem is our innovative dual-sided platform, a comprehensive solution designed to seamlessly facilitate both the acquisition and disbursement of payments. This
platform is built to address the complex and evolving needs of businesses across diverse industries, delivering an integrated, end-to-end payment infrastructure that drives operational
efficiency, enhances financial performance, and supports scalable growth. A Unlike traditional single-function payment systems that often face limitations in adapting to dynamic market
demands, RYVYLa€™s dual-sided platform offers a flexible, agile, and robust architecture. It streamlines the entire transaction lifecycle, from payment initiation to settlement, providing
businesses with a competitive advantage in an increasingly interconnected and digital financial environment. By consolidating multiple payment functionalities within a single platform, we
empower businesses to manage transactions more effectively, optimize cash flow, and respond rapidly to new opportunities. A Through the simplification of traditionally complex payment
processes, our platform reduces transactional friction, leading to faster processing times, lower error rates, and a more secure and reliable payment environment. This operational efficiency
allows businesses to focus on strategic growth initiatives while relying on RYVYL to handle the intricacies of payment processing with precision and reliability. A Technology Infrastructure:
Built for Performance, Security, and Scalability A RYVYLA€™ s technology infrastructure is purpose-built to deliver seamless, secure, and scalable payment solutions that meet the highest
standards of performance and reliability. Our platform is underpinned by advanced ledger technology, which ensures real-time transaction processing, robust data integrity, and the secure
management of financial data across all business activities. A Performance and Reliability A Our architecture is designed to support high transaction volumes with exceptional speed and
accuracy. This performance capability is critical for businesses operating in fast-paced, high-growth environments where the ability to process payments efficiently can be a key driver of
success. By leveraging cutting-edge technology, we provide real-time transaction monitoring, dynamic reporting tools, and advanced analytics, enabling businesses to make data-driven
decisions with confidence. A Security at the Core A Security is embedded in every layer of RYVYLA€™s technology stack. We operate a comprehensive security framework that incorporates
multiple layers of protection, including encryption, tokenization, and fraud detection systems. This multi-faceted approach ensures the confidentiality, integrity, and availability of data,
safeguarding both our infrastructure and the sensitive information of our clients. A Our comprehensive cybersecurity program includes continuous system monitoring, rigorous vulnerability
assessments, and proactive threat mitigation strategies. We adhere to global security standards such as PCI-DSS for secure payment card transactions and ISO 27001 for information security
management. Regular penetration testing and security audits further strengthen our defenses, ensuring that our platform remains resilient in the face of emerging cyber threats. A Scalability
and Flexibility: A RYVYLa€™s technology infrastructure is designed with scalability at its core. Our modular architecture allows businesses to expand their operations without facing the
technological constraints often associated with legacy payment systems. Whether supporting a startup experiencing rapid growth or a multinational corporation managing complex global



transactions, our platform can scale effortlessly to meet evolving business requirements. A We continuously optimize our infrastructure to enhance system reliability, reduce downtime, and
improve processing speeds. This commitment to continuous improvement ensures that our platform remains agile and adaptable, capable of integrating with external systems, third-party
applications, and evolving regulatory requirements. A 41 Table of Contents A Driving Business Transformation Through Technology A RYVYL&€™s dual-sided platform and advanced
technology infrastructure are not just about facilitating paymentsa€”they are about transforming the way businesses manage their financial operations. By combining seamless payment
processing with robust security measures, real-time data insights, and scalable architecture, we help businesses unlock new growth opportunities, improve operational efficiency, and
strengthen their competitive position in the marketplace. A Our technology strategy is aligned with our broader corporate vision: to be the preferred global fintech partner for businesses
seeking innovative, secure, and future-ready financial solutions. Through continuous investment in technology, security, and infrastructure, RYVYL is well-positioned to lead the next generation
of financial services, delivering unparalleled value to our clients and stakeholders worldwide. A Our Products A RYVYL Product Portfolio A RYVYL offers a comprehensive suite of financial
products designed to meet the diverse and evolving needs of businesses and financial institutions worldwide. Our products are powered by cutting-edge technology, enabling seamless, secure,
and scalable payment processing, treasury management, and financial operations across multiple industries. With direct connections to major card brands, global banking networks, and leading
payment gateways, RYVYL facilitates cross-border transactions and real-time fund disbursements in over 200 markets and 140 currencies globally. This robust ecosystem supports businesses in
optimizing financial performance, enhancing operational efficiency, and driving growth in an increasingly digital economy. A Dual-Sided Payment Platform A At the heart of RYVYLA€™s
ecosystem is our innovative dual-sided payment platform, designed to support both acquiring and disbursement services within a unified infrastructure. This end-to-end platform enables
businesses to seamlessly accept payments from customers while efficiently distributing funds to vendors, employees, and partners worldwide. The platform integrates effortlessly with global
payment networks, offering real-time processing capabilities that enhance financial agility and operational resilience. A The acquiring function facilitates the acceptance of payments through
diverse channels, including card networks, ACH transfers, wire transfers, and other digital payment methods, supporting both domestic and international transactions. On the disbursement
side, the platform enables fast, secure payouts with real-time settlement capabilities, ensuring liquidity and financial flexibility for businesses of all sizes. By simplifying the payment lifecycle,
RYVYLA€™ s platform reduces transaction friction, minimizes errors, and optimizes cash flow management. A Treasury Management Services A RYVYL&€™s Treasury Management Services are
designed to help businesses optimize their financial operations, manage liquidity, and improve cash flow efficiency. This comprehensive solution provides powerful tools for real-time
monitoring, fund allocation, and automated reconciliation, empowering businesses to make data-driven decisions that enhance financial performance. A Key features include cash flow
optimization, which automates receivables and payables management, improving operational efficiency. Liquidity management tools enable businesses to track and manage cash reserves across
multiple accounts, ensuring optimal fund utilization. Additionally, the platform offers real-time financial insights through advanced analytics and reporting capabilities, providing businesses with
the visibility needed to navigate complex financial landscapes confidently. A BIN Sponsorship for Credit Card Processing A Through our BIN Sponsorship program, RYVYL enables businesses
to process credit card transactions using dedicated BINs, providing direct access to global card networks without the need for a traditional banking license. This program supports businesses in
launching custom payment solutions, expanding their payment acceptance capabilities, and optimizing transaction processing efficiency. A Our BIN sponsorship services are designed with a
strong focus on security, ensuring full compliance with industry standards such as PCI-DSS for secure data handling. We offer global network access, facilitating seamless integration with major
card schemes like Visa and Mastercard. Additionally, we provide tailored solutions for high-volume merchants and specialized industries, delivering customized processing strategies that align
with specific business requirements. A Payment Solutions (ACH & Wire Transfers) A RYVYL offers a comprehensive range of payment solutions that support both domestic and international
transactions. Our solutions are designed to meet the needs of businesses that require fast, secure, and reliable payment processing capabilities. A &—ACH (Automated Clearing House): A cost-
effective electronic funds transfer solution for recurring payments, payroll disbursements, and vendor settlements within the U.S. ACH payments offer efficiency, speed, and low transaction
costs, making them ideal for businesses with high transaction volumes. A 42 Table of Contents A &—Wire Transfers: Secure, high-speed fund transfer services for domestic and cross-border
transactions. Our wire transfer solutions enable businesses to move large sums quickly and securely, with real-time processing capabilities that support urgent payment needs. A These
solutions are integrated into RYVYLA€™s platform to ensure seamless processing, robust security, and regulatory compliance across all payment channels. A Global IBAN Issuance A As a
licensed Electronic Money Institution (EMI) in Bulgaria, RYVYL provides global IBAN issuance services that support seamless cross-border transactions. Our IBAN solutions are designed to
facilitate international fund transfers, streamline global payment workflows, and enhance financial transparency for businesses operating in multiple jurisdictions. A We offer multi-currency
support, enabling businesses to manage transactions in various currencies without the need for multiple bank accounts. Our global IBANs support international wire transfers, SEPA payments
within the EU, and other cross-border financial activities. All services are delivered with strict adherence to EU regulatory requirements, ensuring secure and compliant financial operations. A
Card Issuing Services A RYVYLA€™s Card Issuing Services empower businesses to create branded payment solutions tailored to their specific needs. Our flexible platform supports the issuance
of various card types, including: A 4—Debit Cards: Designed for business expenses, corporate spending, and employee disbursements, providing businesses with secure, real-time payment
capabilities. A &—Prepaid Cards: Ideal for corporate payouts, rewards programs, and travel-related expenses, offering control over spending limits and enhanced security features. A &—Virtual
Cards: Secure, digital payment solutions optimized for online transactions, subscription services, and B2B payments. Virtual cards offer advanced fraud protection and real-time transaction
tracking. A Our card issuing solutions integrate with major global payment networks, offering real-time issuance capabilities, transaction monitoring, and comprehensive fraud prevention tools.
A Foreign Exchange (FX) Services A RYVYLA€™s Foreign Exchange (FX) Services are designed to support businesses with international operations, providing competitive currency conversion
rates and real-time FX trading capabilities. Our FX solutions help businesses manage currency exposure, optimize international transactions, and mitigate foreign exchange risks. A Key
features include multi-currency accounts, enabling businesses to hold and manage funds in different currencies without maintaining multiple bank accounts. We offer real-time FX rates with
transparent pricing structures, ensuring cost-effective currency conversions. Additionally, our risk management tools help businesses hedge against currency fluctuations, providing stability in
volatile markets. A Electronic Money Institution (EMI) Services A Operating under our EMI license in Europe, RYVYL delivers a wide range of regulated financial services designed to support
businesses engaged in international commerce. Our EMI services are fully compliant with EU financial regulations and supported by direct connections to the Central Bank of Europe and major
financial institutions. A Our EMI offering includes payment processing solutions that support domestic and cross-border transactions, global IBAN issuance for efficient fund transfers, and
comprehensive FX services for businesses managing multi-currency operations. These services are designed to enhance financial agility, reduce transaction costs, and ensure regulatory
compliance across all markets. A Key Features Across All Products A &—Advanced Ledger Technology: Ensures real-time transaction processing, data integrity, and secure financial record-
keeping across all business activities. A &—Security & Compliance: Adheres to global regulatory standards, including PCI-DSS, GDPR, and AML/CTF frameworks, ensuring data protection and
transaction security at every level. A a—Scalable Infrastructure: Built to support businesses of all sizes, from startups to multinational corporations, with flexible integration options and
scalable performance capabilities. A &—Global Connectivity: Direct integrations with major card brands, banking networks, and payment gateways, enabling seamless financial operations
across borders and industries. A 43 Table of Contents A Driving Value Through Innovation A RYVYLA€™s comprehensive product suite is designed to create value across the entire financial
ecosystem. By combining advanced technology, global reach, and deep regulatory expertise, we empower businesses to manage payments, optimize cash flow, and scale operations efficiently in
an increasingly digital world. Our commitment to continuous innovation ensures that we remain at the forefront of the global fintech landscape, delivering secure, reliable, and transformative
financial solutions that drive growth and create lasting value for our clients and stakeholders. A Business Segments A RYVYL INC. operates through distinct business segments designed to
meet the diverse and evolving needs of global markets. Our business model is strategically structured around two primary geographic regionsa€”Europe and North Americad€”each offering
complementary product and service portfolios that encompass payment processing, treasury management, acquiring, issuing, and electronic money institution (EMI) services. This segmentation
allows RYVYL to deliver tailored, market-specific solutions while maintaining a cohesive global strategy that supports operational efficiency, regulatory compliance, and financial growth. A Our
business segments are not siloed; rather, they are interconnected through shared technology platforms, unified compliance frameworks, and collaborative global partnerships. This integration
enables us to capitalize on synergies across regions, optimize resource allocation, and drive innovation that resonates across all markets in which we operate. A Driving Growth Across Global
Financial Ecosystems A RYVYLA€™s business segments are designed not only to operate effectively within their respective markets but also to contribute to a cohesive global strategy that
drives growth, innovation, and value creation. By leveraging the strengths of our dual-sided platform, advanced technology infrastructure, and strategic partnerships, we are well-positioned to
capitalize on emerging opportunities in the global financial ecosystem. A Our focus on continuous innovation, regulatory excellence, and customer-centric solutions ensures that RYVYL remains
at the forefront of the fintech industry, delivering transformative financial services that empower businesses worldwide. Through our integrated business model, we are committed to creating
lasting value for our clients, partners, and shareholders, supporting sustainable growth in an increasingly interconnected global economy. A Key synergies and strategic initiatives include: A a
—Cross-Border Capabilities: We leverage our global infrastructure to support seamless cross-border transactions, enabling businesses to expand into new markets with ease. Our dual-sided
platform facilitates efficient fund flows between Europe and North America, enhancing liquidity and financial agility for our clients. A &—Technology Integration: Our advanced technology
infrastructure serves as the backbone of both segments, allowing us to deploy innovative solutions rapidly across regions. Shared technology resources reduce development costs, accelerate
time-to-market for new products, and ensure consistent service quality worldwide. A 4—Operational Efficiency: By standardizing processes and leveraging economies of scale, we optimize
operational efficiency across all business functions. This approach reduces costs, improves resource allocation, and enhances service delivery for clients in both regions. A &—Strategic Market
Expansion: Our growth strategy is focused on expanding into new verticals and geographic regions. We achieve this through a combination of organic growth, strategic partnerships, and
targeted acquisitions that complement our existing product offerings and strengthen our competitive position globally. A &—Unified Compliance Framework: Regulatory compliance is managed
through a centralized framework that ensures adherence to both regional and international standards. This unified approach enables us to maintain strong governance, mitigate risks, and
support sustainable growth across all markets. A Industry Diversification A RYVYL&€™s strategic approach to industry diversification is a core component of our growth and risk management
framework. By targeting a broad spectrum of industriesa€”from traditional sectors like retail and financial services to high-growth areas such as e-commerce, technology, and digital
marketplacesa€”we effectively minimize our reliance on any single market segment. This diversified focus not only reduces our exposure to sector-specific risks but also positions RYVYL to
capitalize on emerging opportunities across the global economy. A Our diversification strategy is designed to enhance resilience, optimize revenue streams, and drive sustainable growth. By
engaging with a wide range of industries, we mitigate the potential impacts of economic fluctuations, regulatory shifts, and changes in consumer behavior that may disproportionately affect
individual sectors. This proactive approach ensures that our business remains agile, adaptable, and well-insulated from market volatility. A 44 Table of Contents A Minimizing Market
Dependency A At the heart of RYVYL&€™s industry diversification strategy is a deliberate effort to avoid over-reliance on any single sector. We recognize that industries can be subject to
cyclical downturns, disruptive innovations, and regulatory changes that can significantly impact financial performance. By distributing our operations across multiple industries, we reduce the
risk of revenue concentration and create a more balanced, stable business model. A This strategy enables us to maintain strong financial performance even when specific markets face
challenges. For example, while economic slowdowns may affect sectors like hospitality or travel, growth in areas such as e-commerce, healthcare, or fintech can offset these impacts, ensuring
continuity in revenue generation and operational stability. A Expanding Market Reach and Customer Base A RYVYL&€™s diversified industry focus also expands our market reach and
customer base. By serving clients across various sectorsa€”including retail, e-commerce, financial services, logistics, healthcare, and morea€”we gain exposure to a wide range of consumer
needs, business models, and operational requirements. This broad engagement allows us to tailor our products and services to meet diverse demands, enhancing our value proposition and
competitiveness in the global marketplace. A Our ability to adapt to different industry environments not only strengthens client relationships but also opens doors to new business
opportunities. Whether supporting large enterprises, small businesses, or digital startups, RYVYLa€™ s flexible solutions are designed to deliver value across a wide array of industries, fostering
long-term customer loyalty and market relevance. A Multiple Revenue Streams for Sustainable Growth A Industry diversification plays a critical role in generating multiple revenue streams for
RYVYL. By tapping into various sectors, we create a dynamic business model that supports consistent growth and profitability. This multifaceted approach enables us to leverage different
revenue drivers, from transaction fees in payment processing to subscription-based income from financial management solutions. A Our diversified portfolio also facilitates cross-selling and
upselling opportunities, as businesses operating in different industries often require complementary financial products and services. This integrated strategy not only enhances revenue
potential but also strengthens our competitive positioning in the fintech landscape. A Enhancing Financial Resilience and Stability A A key advantage of RYVYLA€™s industry diversification
strategy is the enhanced financial resilience it provides. By spreading our exposure across multiple sectors, we create a buffer against market volatility and sector-specific disruptions. This
diversified risk profile ensures that the company remains financially robust, even in the face of economic uncertainty or industry downturns. A Moreover, our diversified operations contribute
to greater operational efficiency and resource optimization. By leveraging common technologies, shared infrastructure, and best practices across industries, we achieve economies of scale that
drive cost savings and operational synergies, further enhancing our financial health and competitive advantage. A Positioning for Long-Term Success A RYVYLA€™s comprehensive industry
diversification strategy is a cornerstone of our long-term growth and sustainability. It allows us to navigate the complexities of the global economy with confidence, adapt to changing market
dynamics, and seize new opportunities for innovation and expansion. By fostering a resilient, diversified business model, we are well-positioned to deliver sustained value to our clients,
partners, and shareholders. A Our focus on diversification not only strengthens our financial foundation but also enhances our ability to innovate, grow, and thrive in an ever-evolving economic
landscape. As we continue to expand our global footprint, RYVYL remains committed to leveraging the power of industry diversification to drive growth, manage risk, and secure long-term
success. A Global Market Presence A RYVYLA€™ s strategic focus on Europe and North America positions the company to effectively tap into two of the largest and most technologically
advanced markets in the world. By concentrating its efforts in these regions, RYVYL is not only able to access a vast customer base but also to engage with cutting-edge technologies and
innovations that are shaping the future of various industries. This geographical diversification serves a dual purpose: it mitigates the risks associated with potential market-specific economic
downturns, which can significantly impact businesses that are overly reliant on a single region. A Moreover, by operating in both Europe and North America, RYVYL can take full advantage of
the high transaction volumes that are prevalent in these markets. The robust economic activity and consumer spending in these regions enhance the companya€™s revenue potential, allowing it
to capitalize on a wide array of business opportunities. This strategic positioning enables RYVYL to not only withstand fluctuations in individual markets but also to thrive by leveraging the
strengths and opportunities presented by each region. Ultimately, this approach fosters a more resilient business model that is well-equipped to navigate the complexities of the global
marketplace while maximizing growth and profitability. A 45 Table of Contents A Employees and Human Capital A We currently have approximately 99 full-time employees. None of our
employees are subject to collective bargaining agreements. We consider our relationship with our employees to be satisfactory. A Our human capital resources objectives include, as applicable,
identifying, recruiting, retaining, incentivizing and integrating our existing and new employees, advisors and consultants. The principal purposes of our short-term incentive and long-term
equity incentive plan are to attract, retain and reward personnel to increase stockholder value and the success of our company by motivating such individuals to perform to the best of their
abilities and achieve our objectives. A Recent Developments A Sale of Ryvyl EU Subsidiary A On January 23, 2025, the Company entered into a stock purchase agreement (the 4€ceSPAA€) with
a purchaser (the a€cePurchasera€) which provides for the sale to the Purchaser of all of the issued and outstanding shares of capital stock (the 4&€ceRyvyl EU Sharesa€) of the Companya€™s
indirect subsidiary domiciled in Bulgaria, Ryvyl (EU) EAD (4€ceRyvyl EU4€), by Transact Europe Holdings EOOD, the Companya€™s wholly owned subsidiary, also domiciled in Bulgaria
(a€ceTransact Europea€) for an aggregate purchase price of $15,000,000 (the &€ceFinancing Purchase Pricea€). A On January 23, 2025, the Company, Transact Europe and the Purchaser also
entered into a Termination Agreement (the a€ceTermination Agreementa€). Among other things, the Termination Agreement provides the Company with the right to terminate the SPA and all of



the transactions contemplated therein, by paying the Purchaser $16.5 million on or before 90 days after the date of execution of the SPA (April 23, 2025), provided that such date may be
extended an additional 30 days (May 23, 2025) in consideration for the Companya€™s payment of $500,000 to the Purchaser. If the SPA is terminated as a result of such payment by the
Company, the Ryvyl EU Shares will not be sold to the Purchaser and will be returned to Transact Europe and the SPA will be void and of no further effect, except for some provisions that
survive termination. In the event that the SPA is not so terminated, then the Purchaser will close on its purchase of the Ryvyl EU Shares; provided, however, if the Purchaser is unable to close
for any reason other than the Companya€™s breach, including the inability to obtain any regulatory clearances required for such transfer, then the Company is required to pay liquidated
damages in the amount of $16.5 million. In the event that the Purchaser is unable to close on the transfer of the Ryvyl EU Shares, as a result of the Companya€™s breach, then the Company is
required to pay liquidated damages in an amount equal to the appraised value of the Ryvyl EU Shares. In the event that the sale of the Ryvyl EU Shares is consummated, it will result in the
Company&€™s sale of substantially all of its current business and, in all likelihood, the termination of the Company4a€™s business. A Corporate Information A Our principal executive offices
are located at 3131 Camino Del Rio North, Suite 1400, San Diego, CA 92108. Our telephone number is (619) 631-8261. The address of our website is www.ryvyl.com. The inclusion of our web
address in this prospectus does not include or incorporate by reference the information on our website into this prospectus. A Legal Proceedings A From time-to-time, the Company is involved
in legal proceedings. The following is a summary of our current outstanding litigation. Note that references to GreenBox POS are for historical purposes. GreenBox POS changed its name to
RYVYL Inc. on October 13, 2022. A 4—On November 8, 2022, the Company filed a complaint against its former Chief Operating Officer Vanessa Luna, Luna Consultant Group, LLC and Does 1
through 50 in San Diego Superior Court (the &€ceCompany Filinga€). The Company alleged that Ms. Luna abused her position for additional compensation, failed to follow proper protocols and
breached her fiduciary duties and duty of loyalty by secretly maintaining alternative employment. The action sought damages, including interest and costs of suit incurred. On November 10,
2022, Ms. Luna filed her own complaint against the Company and Fredi Nisan in San Diego Superior Court (the &€ceLuna Filinga€). Ms. Luna alleged that Mr. Nisan used contract negotiations
to coerce her, that the Company improperly coded transactions and misled investors, and that when her concerns were reported to management, she was wrongfully terminated, resulting in a
number of claims. Ms. Luna also alleged sexual misconduct on the part of Mr. Nisan. Ms. Luna sought damages including compensatory damages, unpaid wages (past and future), loss of wages
and benefits (past and future), and other damages to be proven at trial. The Company and Mr. Nisan deny all allegations of the Luna Filing. In April 2023, Ms. Luna sought and was granted
permission to add Coyni, Inc. as a defendant with regard to her claims. In addition, in August 2024, the Company and Mr. Nisan were granted leave to file a Second Amended Complaint to add
additional claims against Ms. Luna, including securities fraud. After vigorously defending against all claims asserted by Ms. Luna and vigorously prosecuting its own claims against Ms. Luna, on
October 17, 2024, the parties entered into a confidential settlement agreement. On February 4, 2025, the parties filed with the San Diego Superior Court Requests for Dismissal, dismissing
their respective cases with prejudice. A 46 Table of Contents A &—On December 12, 2022, Jacqueline Dollar (aka Jacqueline Reynolds), former Chief Marketing Officer of the Company, filed a
complaint against the Company, Fredi Nisan, and Does 1-20 in San Diego Superior Court. Ms. Dollar is alleging she was undercompensated compared to her male counterparts and retaliated
against after raising concerns to management resulting in sex discrimination in violation of the California Fair Employment and Housing Act (2€ceFEHA&€) and failure to prevent discrimination
in violation of FEHA. Ms. Dollar is also claiming intentional infliction of emotional distress. Ms. Dollar is seeking an unspecified amount of damages related to, among other things, payment of
past and future lost wages, stock issuances, bonuses and benefits, compensatory damages, and general, economic, non-economic, and special damages. As the Company cannot predict the
outcome of the matter, the probability of an outcome cannot be determined. The Company intends to vigorously defend against all claims. The parties are currently in the discovery phase.

A A A a—Since December 2022, the Company has been cooperating with an ongoing investigation by the SEC regarding possible violations of the federal securities laws, which in its course has
included a review of the Companya€™s blockchain technology and former QuickCard business. The Company intends to continue to cooperate fully with the SEC in its investigation. The
Company cannot predict the outcome of such investigation or whether it will have a material impact on the Companya€™s financial condition, results of operations or cash flow.A A 4—On
February 1, 2023, a putative class action lawsuit titled Cullen v. RYVYL Inc. fka GreenBox POS, Inc., et al., Case No. 3:23-cv-00185-GPC-AGS, was filed in the United States District Court for the
Southern District of California against several defendants, including the Company and certain of our current and former directors and officers (the a€ceCullen Defendantsa€). The complaint was
filed on behalf of persons who purchased or otherwise acquired the Companya€™ s publicly traded securities between January 29, 2021 and January 20, 2023. The complaint alleged that the
Cullen Defendants violated Sections 11, 12(a)(2), and 15 of the Securities Act and Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act by making false and/or misleading statements regarding the
Companya€™s financial controls, performance and prospects. On June 30, 2023, the plaintiff filed an amended complaint. All defendants filed motions to dismiss the amended complaint on
August 14, 2023. On March 1, 2024, the Court issued an order granting in part and denying in part defendantsa€™ motions to dismiss, which included dismissing all Securities Act claims and
narrowing the potential class period. The plaintiff filed a second amended complaint on April 30, 2024, which alleges claims against the Cullen Defendants under Exchange Act Sections 10(b)
and 20(a) only and a class period of May 13, 2021 through January 20, 2023. The Company filed its motion to dismiss the second amended complaint on July 1, 2024. On October 21, 2024, the
Court issued an order granting in part and denying in part defendantsa€™ motions to dismiss. The scope of the remaining claims is consistent with the Courta€™ s last motion to dismiss
decision dated March 1, 2024. On November 12, 2024, Plaintiff filed a Third Amended Complaint, which asserts the same legal causes of action and proposed class period as the previous
complaint. The Company is evaluating the amended complaint and may be filing a further motion to dismiss. A The action seeks damages, including interest, and the award of reasonable fees
and costs to the putative class. The Company denies all allegations of liability and intends to vigorously defend against all claims. However, given the preliminary stage of the lawsuit, the
uncertainty of litigation, and the legal standards that must be met for success on the merits, the Company cannot predict the outcome at this time or estimate a reasonably possible loss or range
of loss that may result from this action. A 4&—On June 22, 2023, a shareholder derivative complaint was filed in the United States District Court for the Southern District of California against
certain of the Companya€™s current and/or former officers and directors (the &€ceHertel Defendantsa€), Christy Hertel, derivatively on behalf of RYVYL Inc., f/k/a GreenBox POS v. Ben Errez et
al., Case No. 3:23-CV-01165-GPC-SBC. On August 4, 2023, a second shareholder derivative complaint was filed in the United States District Court for the Southern District of California against
the Hertel Defendants, Marcus Gazaway, derivatively on behalf of RYVYL Inc., f/k/a GreenBox POS v. Ben Errez et al., Case No. 3:23-CV-01425-LAB-BLM. Both derivative complaints generally
allege that the Hertel Defendants failed to implement adequate internal controls that would prevent false and misleading financial information from being published by the Company and that
controlling shareholders participated in overpayment misconduct resulting in violations of Sections 10(b), 14(a) and 20 of the Exchange Act and breached their fiduciary duties and, purportedly
on behalf of the Company. On April 2, 2024, the Court granted the partiesa€™ joint motion for an order consolidating the Hertel and Gazaway cases under the caption In re RYVYL Inc.
Derivative Litigation, Lead Case No. 3:23-CV-01165-GPC-SBC (S.D. Cal.). On May 6, 2024, the Court issued an order staying the action until after the final resolution of any motion to dismiss
the securities class action detailed above. On May 1, 2024, a third nearly identical shareholder derivative complaint was filed in Clark County, Nevada by plaintiff Christina Brown, derivatively
on behalf of RYVYL, Inc., v. Ben Errez et al., Case No. A-24-892382-C. The Company currently is working with Ms. Brown&a€™s counsel to coordinate a stay of the Nevada action on the same
terms as the stay of the Hertel and Gazaway cases. A 47 Table of Contents A The complaint seeks damages and contribution from the Hertel Defendants and a direction that the Company and
the Hertel Defendants take actions to reform and improve corporate governance and internal procedures to comply with applicable laws. The Hertel Defendants deny all allegations of liability
and intend to vigorously defend against all claims. However, given the preliminary stage of the lawsuits, the uncertainty of litigation, and the legal standards that must be met for success on the
merits, the Company cannot predict the outcome of either case at this time. A &—On October 1, 2023, the Company filed a demand for arbitration against Sky Financial with the American
Arbitration Association in San Diego, California (the &€ceArbitrationa€). In the Arbitration, the Company seeks to recover for breach of contract and Sky Financiala€™s failure to perform its
obligations On October 2, 2023, the Company filed a complaint against Sky Financial in San Diego Superior Court asserting the same claims asserted in the Arbitration, solely to toll any
applicable statutes of limitations pending the Arbitration and, if necessary, provide jurisdiction for the court to compel arbitration. The action seeks damages, including interest and costs of suit
incurred. The parties agreed to proceed in the Arbitration and to implement the steps needed to extend the current stay of the San Diego Superior Court action pending the Arbitration.
Subsequently, the parties agreed to stay the Arbitration and attend mediation. A mediation was scheduled but then vacated by stipulation of the parties. The parties have agreed to continue the
stay of the Arbitration pending a mediation, which is to be re-scheduled. A 4&—On July 6, 2022, the Companya€™s subsidiary, RYVYL EU (formerly known as Transact Europe OOD), received a
notary invitation from Satya Consulting PTE Limited (4€ceSatyaa€) filed in Bulgaria. In the filed claim, Satya alleges nonpayment of its fee in the amount of EUR 900,000, to which statutory
default interest is to be added, for failure of payment under the Companya€™s stock purchase agreement for Transact Europe Holdings OOD. RYVYL EU has retained Bulgarian counsel to assist
in the defense of the asserted claim and denies all allegations. As RYVYL EU cannot predict the outcome of the matter, the probability of an outcome cannot be determined. RYVYL EU intends to
vigorously defend against all claims. On October 18, 2024, RYVYL EU entered into a confidential settlement agreement with no material impact to the Company. The Court approved the
settlement and the case was dismissed on November 23, 2024. A &—On January 2, 2024, the Company filed a Statement of Claim against Chessa Sabourin in the Ontario Superior Court of
Justice. Case No. CV-24-00712190-0000. The Company seeks to recover funds unlawfully held by Sabourin, or in the alternative, damages in the equivalent amount. Additionally, punitive and
exemplary damages. In September 2023, the Company mistakenly sent funds to Ms. Sabourin and attempted to reverse or recall the transfers but was unable to do so. To date, Ms. Sabourin has
failed and/or refused to return the funds mistakenly sent to her. On October 21, 2024, the Court issued a default judgment against Sabourin. A &—On June 25, 2024, J. Drew Byelick, a former
Chief Financial Officer of the Company, filed a complaint against the Company in the United States District Court for the Southern District of California, Case No. 4€"24CV1096 JLS MSB. Mr.
Byelick alleged breach of contract, fraudulent inducement of employment, along with intentional misrepresentation and concealment. The Company moved to dismiss the complaint for failure to
state a claim and for other violations of the federal rules of civil procedure. The Court granted that motion on December 20, 2024, but permitted Mr. Byelick to file an amended complaint. Mr.
Byelick filed his first amended complaint on January 19, 2025, asserting the same core claims. The Company filed a motion to dismiss the first amended complaint on February 3, 2025, which
has been set for hearing on April 11, 2025. The Company denies all allegations of liability and intends to vigorously defend against all claims. However, given the preliminary stage of the
lawsuit, the uncertainty of litigation, and the legal standards that must be met for success on the merits, the Company cannot predict the outcome at this time or estimate a reasonably possible
loss or range of loss that may result from this action. A Properties A We lease office space at four locations in the United States (California, Illinois, Massachusetts, and Florida) and one
location in the EU (Sofia, Bulgaria). Our executive offices are located at 3131 Camino del Rio North, Suite 1400, San Diego, CA. A 48 Table of Contents A MANAGEMENT A The following table
sets forth certain information regarding our board of directors, our executive officers, and some of our key employees. A The following table sets forth the name, age, and position of each of the
Company4€™s executive officers and directors. A Name A Age A Position(s) Executive Officers A A A A Fredi Nisan A 43 A Director and Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive
Officer) Ben Errez A 64 A Chairman of the Board of Directors and Executive Vice President Zechariah Kirscher A 37 A Vice President Legal ‘George Oliva A 63 A Chief Financial Officer A A
A A A Non-Employee Directors A A A A Genevieve Baer A 47 A Director David Montoya A 60 A Director Ezra Laniado A 41 A Director A Business Experience of Executive Officers A Ben
ErrezA has acted as Chairman of our Board of Directors, Executive Vice President, Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer since July 2017. He has brought this expertise to
the Company to lead the Company into the forefront of the financial software, services and hardware market. Since 2017, Errez has been a principal of the GreenBox Business. From August
2004 until August 2015, Errez formed the start-up IHC Capital, where he held the position of Principal Consultant from founding to the present date, through which he advises clients in the
South Pacific region with market capitalizations ranging from $50M to $150M on matters such as commerce, security, reliability and privacy. From January 1991 to August 2004, he served as
Software Development Lead for the Microsoft International Product Group. He led the International Microsoft Office Components team (Word, Excel, PowerPoint) in design, engineering,
development and successful deployment. He also served as Executive Representative of Microsoft Office and was a founding member of the Microsoft Trustworthy Computing Forum, both
within the company, and internationally. Errez co-authored the first Microsoft Trustworthy Computing Paper on Reliability. At Microsoft, Mr. Errez was responsible for the development of the
first Microsoft software translation Software Development Kit (4€eSDKA€) in Hebrew, Arabic, Thai and Simplified Chinese, as well as the development of the first bidirectional extensions to
Rich Text Format (4€eRTFa€) file format, all bidirectional extensions in text converters for Microsoft Office, and contributed to the development of the international extensions to the Unicode
standard to include bidirectional requirements under the World Wide Web Consortium (§€ceW3C&€). He received his Bachelor Degree in Mathematics and Computer Science from the Hebrew
University. A Fredi NisanA has served as a Director and our Chief Executive Officer since July 2017, and has been a principal of the Company since August 2017. In May 2016, Nisan founded
Firmness, LLC. Through Firmness, Nisan created a€ceQuickCitizen,a€ a software program that simplifies the onboarding process for new clients of law firms specializing in immigration issues.
The QuickCitizen software significantly reduced law firm&€™s onboarding processing time from more than three hours to approximately fifteen minutes. In January 2010, Nisan launched Brava
POS, where he served as President until 2015. Brava POS provided point of sale (&€0ePOSa€) systems for specialty retail companies. Nisan developed software to provide clients with solutions
for issues ranging from inventory management to payroll to processing high volume transactions in the form of a cloud-based POS system. This system had the capability to manage multiple
stores with centralized inventory and process sales without an internet connection, and offered a secure login for each employee, as well as including advanced inventory management and
reporting, plus powerful functionality for its end users. A A Zechariah KirscherA has served on the Companya€™s internal legal team since May 2022, when he joined as Senior Counsel, and
was later appointed VP of Legal Affairs in April 2023. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Kirscher spent nearly a decade working in law firms in Southern California, most recently at Cooley LLP
from April 2021 to May 2022 and, before that, DLA Piper (US) from September 2015 to April 2021. While at Cooley and DLA, Mr. Kirscher represented banks, lenders, private funds, and
companies in primarily the venture lending space. Today, Mr. Kirscher leverages his experience with early stage companies to contribute to the growth and success of RYVYL as it seeks to
transform the payments industry. Mr. Kirscher holds a Bachelor of Arts degree from the University of Wisconsin-Madison and a Juris Doctor degree from Chicago-Kent College of Law. A George
OlivaA joined the RYVYL team in October 2023 as Chief Financial Officer and has over 30 years as a senior finance professional, with a background in corporate finance, treasury, financial
planning and analysis, international tax, and strategic planning. Prior to joining RYVYL, he was Chief Financial Officer and Corporate Secretary for Wisa Technologies since 2019. Prior to Wisa,
he provided financial consulting services to public and private companies nationwide. He was also a partner with Hardesty LLC, a national executive services firm. Mr. Oliva has held several
interim positions with a variety of clients that included a scientific instruments business acquired by a private equity firm, a medical device manufacturer preparing for an IPO, an audio
company merger and a yield improvement software company implementing a world-wide ERP system. Mr. Oliva was CFO of Penguin Computing from 2009 through 2013, where he played a
leading role in guiding them through a period of rapid growth, twice making the Silicon Valley Business Journala€™s list of fastest growing private companies. Prior to Penguin, he was CFO of
StreamLogic, a public company doing business as Hammer Storage Solutions, where he navigated its going-private transaction. Prior to serving in such roles, Mr. Oliva was responsible for
financial planning and analysis and operational support as the operations controller for Conner Peripherals and at Read-Rite Corporation, both exceeding a billion of revenue in the data storage
industry. Mr. Oliva began his career in auditing with Arthur Andersen & Co., a leading public accounting firm. Mr. Oliva is a certified public accountant, currently inactive status. He earned a
B.S. degree in Business Administration from U.C. Berkeley with a dual emphasis in Accounting and Finance. A 49 Table of Contents A Business Experience of Non-Employee Directors A
Genevieve BaerA has served as a Director since February 2021 and has been chief executive officer of JKH Consulting since 2009. JKH Consulting is a real estate finance consulting firm that
has advised on transactions with a collective value of over $10 billion. Prior to her work with JKH Consulting, Ms. Baer worked at Magnet Industrial Bank for six years at the end of which tenure
she was a Senior Vice President. Ms. Baer also worked at US Bancorp Piper Jaffray for nine years as a Vice President working on equity and debt real estate financings. Ms. Baer earned a B.S.
in chemistry as well as an MBA from the University of Utah. A Ezra LaniadoA is an accomplished leader with a diverse background in both business and nonprofit sectors. Currently serving as a
Director since February 2021, Laniado brings valuable insights and strategic acumen to the board. In May 2023, he assumed the role of Executive Director of the Southwest at StandWithUs,
showcasing his commitment to promoting educational initiatives. Laniadoa€™ s impact extends through various roles. From 2018 to 2023, he steered the San Diego chapter of Friends of Israel



Defense Forces as its Executive Director, raising over $15 million in donations and overseeing 150 volunteers. Notably, he founded and established the Israeli American Councila€™s San Diego
chapter from 2017 to 2018. Laniadod€™ s entrepreneurial prowess shines as the co-Founder of the highly successful real estate firm, Stoz Group. He previously co-founded and directed
Shonglulu Group, a prominent fashion brand, where he orchestrated funding efforts, devised marketing strategies, and executed business plans. Laniadoa€™s legal background as an attorney
in Israel for four years before 2014 adds depth to his skill set. He holds a B.A. and an L.L.B. from the esteemed Interdisciplinary Center Herzliya (Reichman University). With a remarkable track
record, Laniado continues to drive growth, innovation, and philanthropy across diverse sectors. A David MontoyaA has served as a Director since May 2023 and has been the legal and
operations managing partner of Seaview Mezzanine Fund, LP since 2005, where he negotiates and reviews investments and private placements. Seaview is a private equity fund making debt
and equity investments into lower and middle market companies. Mr. Montoya has been the Chief Executive Officer of Saugatuck Brands, Inc. since 2017. Saugatuck is a holding company with
investments in a regulated industry in California. From 2001 to 2005, Mr. Montoya was an Of Counsel attorney at Breslow & Walker LLP, a law firm, where he advised private equity funds,
public companies and private companies with respect to general corporate, M&A, real estate and tax matters. Prior to 2001, Mr. Montoyad€™ s experience included working at the law firm
Skadden Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom and the accounting firm Ernst & Young. Mr. Montoya earned a BS in Finance from St Johna€™s University, an MBA from Columbia University Graduate
School of Business and a JD from New York University School of Law. Mr. Montoya is an active member of the New York State Bar Association and a New York State CPA (retired). A Family
Relationships A There are no family relationships among any of our executive officers or directors. A Corporate Governance Overview A Composition of our Board of Directors A Our Board of
Directors currently consists of five directors. Our Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation and Amended and Restated Bylaws provide that our Board of Directors can consist of not less
than one director nor more than 11 directors. The number of directors is fixed by our Board of Directors. Our Amended and Restated Bylaws also provide that a majority of the total number of
directors then in office will constitute a quorum for a meeting of the Board of Directors. At each Annual Meeting of Stockholders, directors will be elected for a one year term, until his or her
successor is elected at our Annual Meeting or his or her death, resignation or removal, whichever is earliest to occur. When considering whether directors have the experience, qualifications,
attributes or skills, taken asa whole, to enable our Board of Directors to satisfy its oversight responsibilities effectively in light of our business and structure, the Board of Directors focuses
primarily on each persona€™s background and experience as reflected in the information discussed in each of the directorsa€™ individual biographies set forth above. We believe that our
directors provide an appropriate mix of experience and skills relevant to the size and nature of our business. A Director Qualifications A Fredi NisanA &4€%o04€ “4€%oThe Board of Directors
believes that Mr. Nisan is well-qualified to serve on the Board of Directors due to his professional background and his knowledge and experience relating to the Companya€™ s business, as a
result of his being a co-founder and member of the Board of Directors since its initial public offering in April 2018. A Ben Erreza€%oa€ “a4€%o The Board of Directors believes that Mr. Errez is
well-qualified to serve on the Board of Directors due to his professional background and his knowledge and experience relating to the Companya€™ s business, as a result of his being a co-
founder and member of the Board of Directors since its initial public offering in April 2018. A Genevieve Baera€%oa€“4€%o The Board of Directors believes that Ms. Baer is well-qualified to
serve on the Board of Directors due to her background in commercial banking. A David Montoyaa€%o0a€ “a4€%o The Board of Directors believes that Mr. Montoya is well-qualified to serve on the
Board of Directors due to his financial and accounting background. A Ezra Laniado&€%o04€ “a4€%o The Board of Directors believes that Mr. Laniado is well-qualified to serve on the Board of
Directors due to business history and military background. A 50 Table of Contents A Director Independence A As our common stock is listed on the Nasdaq Capital Market, our determination
of the independence of directors is made using the definition of &€ceindependent directora€ contained in Nasdaq Listing Rule 5605(a)(2). Our Board of Directors has affirmatively determined
that each of Ms. Baer, Mr. Montoya and Mr. Laniado are a€ceindependent directors,a€ as that term is defined in the Nasdaq rules. Under the Nasdaq rules, our Board must be composed of a
majority of 4€ceindependent directors.4€ A Additionally, subject to certain limited exceptions, our Board&€™s audit, compensation, and nominating and corporate governance committees also
must be composed of all independent directors. A Audit committee members must also satisfy the independence criteria set forth in Rule 10A-3 under the Exchange Act. Under the rules of
Nasdagq, a director will only qualify as an &€eindependent directora€ if, in the opinion of that companya€™s Board of Directors, that person does not have a relationship that would interfere
with the exercise of independent judgment in carrying out the responsibilities of a director. A To be considered to be independent for purposes of Rule 10A-3 of the Exchange Act, a member of
an audit committee of a listed company may not, other than in his capacity as a member of our audit committee, our Board of Directors, or any other committee of our Board of Directors: (1)
accept, directly or indirectly, any consulting, advisory, or other compensatory fee from the listed company or any of its subsidiaries; or (2) be an affiliated person of the listed company or any of
its subsidiaries. A Board Leadership Structure and Boarda€™s Role in Risk Oversight A Ben Errez is our Chairman of the Board. The Chairman has authority, among other things, to preside
over and set the agenda for Board of Directors meetings. Accordingly, the Chairman has substantial ability to shape the work of our Board of Directors. We believe that the presence of three
independent members of our Board of Directors ensures appropriate oversight by the Board of Directors of our business and affairs. However, no single leadership model is right for all
companies and at all times. The Board of Directors recognizes that depending on the circumstances, other leadership models, such as the appointment of a lead independent director, might be
appropriate. Accordingly, the Board of Directors may periodically review its leadership structure. In addition, the Board of Directors holds executive sessions in which only independent
directors are present. A Our Board of Directors is generally responsible for the oversight of corporate risk in its review and deliberations relating to our activities. Our principal source of risk
falls into two categories, financial and product commercialization. A Our audit committee oversees the management of financial risks; our Board of Directors regularly reviews information
regarding our cash position, liquidity and operations, as well as the risks associated with each. The Board of Directors regularly reviews plans, results and potential risks related to our business,
growth, and strategies. Our compensation committee oversees risk management as it relates to our compensation plans, policies and practices for all employees including executives and
directors, particularly whether our compensation programs may create incentives for our employees to take excessive or inappropriate risks which could have a material adverse effect on our
company. A Committees of Our Board of Directors A The Board of Directors has established the following three standing committees: Audit Committee; Compensation Committee; and the
Nominating and Governance Committee or 4€ceNominating Committee.a€ Our Board of Directors may establish other committees as it deems necessary or appropriate from time to time. A
Audit Committee A Our Audit Committee is responsible for, among other matters: A A—appointing, compensating, retaining, evaluating, terminating, and overseeing our independent
registered public accounting firm; A 4—discussing with our independent registered public accounting firm its independence from management; A 4—reviewing with our independent registered
public accounting firm the scope and results of its audit; A A—approving all audit and permissible non-audit services to be performed by our independent registered public accounting firm; A a
—overseeing the financial reporting process and discussing with management and our independent registered public accounting firm the interim and annual financial statements that we file
with the Securities and Exchange Commission (4€eSEC&€); &—reviewing and monitoring our accounting principles, accounting policies, financial and accounting controls, and compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements; A 4—coordinating the oversight by our Board of Directors of our code of business conduct and our disclosure controls and procedures; A 4—establishing
procedures for the confidential anonymous submission of concerns regarding questionable accounting, internal controls, or auditing matters; A a—reviewing and approving related-person
transactions; and A 4—appointing, compensating, retaining, evaluating, terminating, and overseeing our independent registered public accounting firm. A 51 Table of Contents A The Audit
Committee consists of Mr. Montoya, Mr. Laniado, and Ms. Baer. Mr. Montoya serves as chairman of our Audit Committee. The Board has reviewed the independence of our directors based on
the listing standards of Nasdaq. Based on this review, the Board of Directors has determined that that each of the members of our Audit Committee meets the definition of 4€ceindependent
directora€ for purposes of serving on an audit committee under Rule 10A-3 and Nasdaq rules. The Board of Directors has determined that Mr. Montoya qualifies as an a€ceaudit committee
financial expert,a€ as such term is defined in Item 407(d)(5) of Regulation S-K. A Our Board of Directors has adopted a written charter for the Audit Committee which is available on our
principal corporate website at investors.ryvyl.com/governance/charter-documents.A The information contained on, or that can be accessed through, our website is not part of our Proxy
Statement, and the inclusion of our website address in this Proxy Statement is an inactive textual reference only A Compensation Committee A Our Compensation Committee is responsible
for, among other matters: A a—reviewing key employee compensation goals, policies, plans, and programs; A 4—reviewing and approving the compensatlon of our directors and executive
officers; A &—reviewing and approving employment agreements and other similar arrangements between us and our executive officers; and A 4—appointing and overseeing any compensation
consultants. A Our Compensation Committee consists of Mr. Montoya, Mr. Laniado, and Ms. Baer. Mr. Montoya serves as chairman of our Compensation Committee. Our Board of Directors has
determined that each member of the Compensation Committee is &€eindependenta€ and meets the independence requirements applicable to Compensation Committee members under the
rules of Nasdaq. A Our Board of Directors has adopted a written charter for the Compensation Committee which is available on our principal corporate website at
investors.ryvyl.com/governance/charter-documents.A The information contained on, or that can be accessed through, our website is not part of our Proxy Statement, and the inclusion of our
website address in this Proxy Statement is an inactive textual reference only. A In accordance with its charter, the Compensation Committee has the authority to engage outside consultants to
assist in the performance of its duties and responsibilities. A Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee A The purpose of the Nominating Committee is to assist the board in identifying
qualified individuals to become board members, in determining the composition of the Board of Directors, and in monitoring the process to assess the effectiveness of the Board of Directors.
The Nominating Committee, in recommending director candidates for election to the Board of Directors, and the Board of Directors, in nominating director candidates, will consider candidates
who have a high level of personal and professional integrity, strong ethics, and values and the ability to make mature business judgments. The Nominating Committee and the Board of Directors
also considers whether there are potential conflicts of interest. The Nominating Committee and the Board of Directors are committed to actively seeking out highly qualified women and
individuals from minority groups to include in the pool from which new candidates for the Board of Directors are chosen. A Our Nominating Committee consists of Mr. Montoya, Mr. Laniado,
and Ms. Baer. Mr. Montoya serves as chairman of our Nominating Committee. Our Board of Directors has determined that each member of the Nominating Committee is 4€ceindependenta€ and
meets the independence requirements applicable to Nominating Committee members under the rules of Nasdaq. A Our Board of Directors has adopted a written charter for the Nominating
Committee which is available on our principal corporate website atA investors.ryvyl.com/governance/charter-documents.A The information contained on, or that can be accessed through, our
website is not part of our Proxy Statement, and the inclusion of our website address in this Proxy Statement is an inactive textual reference only. A Director Attendance at Annual Meetings of
Stockholders A We do not have a formal policy regarding the attendance of directors at our annual meetings of stockholders, but we encourage all directors to make every effort to attend all
annual meetings of stockholders and believe that attendance at annual meetings is just as important as attendance at Board of Directors and committee meetings. A 52 Table of Contents A
Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation A The current members of our Compensation Committee are Ms. Baer, Mr. Montoya, and Mr. Laniado, all of whom are
4d€ceindependent directorsa€ within the meaning of the Nasdaq Listing Rules and are not employees or former employees of the Company. None of our executive officers served as a director or
a member of a compensation committee (or other committee serving an equivalent function) of any other entity of which any such entitya€™s executive officers served as a member of our Board
of Directors. A Code of Business Conduct and Ethics A Our Board of Directors adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to our directors, officers, and employees. A copy of
this code is available on our website atA investors.ryvyl.com/governance/charter-documents. We intend to disclose on our website any amendments to the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics
and any waivers of the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that apply to our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer, controller, or persons
performing similar functions. The information contained on, or that can be accessed through, our website is not part of our Proxy Statement, and the inclusion of our website address in this
Proxy Statement is an inactive textual reference only. A Board of Directors and Committees Self-Assessment A The Board of Directors conducts, and the Nominating Committee oversees, an
annual self-assessment to determine whether the Board of Directors is functioning effectively. The Board of Directors periodically considers the mix of skills and experience that directors bring
to the Board of Directors to assess whether the Board of Directors has the necessary tools to perform its oversight function effectively. A In addition, our Nominating Committee, Audit
Committee, and Compensation Committee each conduct their own annual self-assessment, which includes an assessment of the adequacy of their performance as compared to their respective
charters. A Communications with the Board of Directors A The Board of Directors welcomes communications from our stockholders, and it is our policy to facilitate communication from
stockholders. The Board of Directors generally believes it is in our best interests that designated members of management speak on behalf of the Company. Stockholders and other interested
parties wishing to communicate with the Board of Directors or with an individual member of the Board of Directors concerning the Company may do so by writing to the Board of Directors or to
a particular member of the Board of Directors, by mailing such correspondence to RYVYL Inc., Corporate Secretary, 3131 Camino Del Rio North Suite 1400, San Diego, CA 92108. A Please
indicate on the envelope or in the email whether the communication is from a stockholder or other interested party. The Board of Directors has instructed the Corporate Secretary and other
relevant members of management to examine incoming communications and forward to the Board or individual Board members as appropriate, communications he or she deems relevant to the
Boarda€™s roles and responsibilities. The Board has requested that certain types of communications not be forwarded, and redirected if appropriate, such as: spam, business solicitations or
advertisements, resumes or employment inquiries, service complaints or inquiries, surveys, or any threatening or hostile materials. A Board of Directors and Committee Meetings and
Attendance A During fiscal 2024, our Board of Directors met two times, the Audit Committee met four times, the Compensation Committee met two times and the Nominating Committee met
one time. In fiscal 2024, each director attended all of the meetings of the Board of the Directors while serving as a director,. In fiscal 2024, each director attended 100% of all meetings of
committees on which he or she served. A 53 Table of Contents A Executive Compensation A The following table summarizes information concerning the compensation awarded to, earned by,
or paid to, our Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer) and our two most highly compensated executive officers other than the Principal Executive Officer (collectively, the
a€meNamed Executive Officersa€) during fiscal years 2024 and 2023. Our Named Executive Officers in 2023 were Mr. Nisan, Mr. Errez, and Mr. Wei. Our Named Executive Officers in 2024
were Mr. Nisan, Mr. Errez, and Mr. Oliva. A Summary Compensation Table A Name and Prmc1pa1 Position A Year A A Salary ($) AAA Bonus ($) A A Stock Awards ($)(1) A A Options

Awards ($)(1) A A All Other Compensation ($)(2) A A Total ($) A Ben ErrezA A 2024 A A A 399,010A A A -A A A 29959A A A -A A A 114,633A A A 543,602 A Chairman/EVP A
A 2023A A A 380,000A A A -A A A 218,585A A A 148,127A A A 88,920A A A 835632A AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAA Fredi Nisan
A A 2024A A A 399,000A A A-AAA?29959A AA-AAA 113,070A A A 542,029 A CEO/Director A A 2023 A A A 380,000A A A -A A A 217,225A A A 148,927A A A

21,390A A A827542AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAMINnWeiA A 2024A A A 190,183AAA-AAA-AAA-AAA188057AAA
378,240 A COO (3)A A 2023 A A A 320,000A A A160000AAA18400AAA157949AAA33469AAA706830AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAA AAAA
A A AAA A GeorgeOlivaA A 2024 A A A 320,000A AA-AAA-AAA-AAA46751A A A 366,751 A CFO (4)A A 2023A A A 66666 A A A -A A A 49997A A A -AA

A 3,019A A A 119,682 A A (1)Represents the aggregate grant date fair value of restricted stock and stock option awards calculated in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards
Board Accounting Standards Codification Topic 718 (4€ASC 7184€). These amounts do not necessarily correspond to the actual value that may be recognized by the holder. Refer to Note 1,
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, of this Report for a description of the assumptions used in determining the grant date fair values of these awards. (2)All other compensation
includes Company paid healthcare insurance premiums, compensation for board memberships, and 401 (k) match. For Messrs. Errez and Nisan, as members of the Board, each of their
compensation includes $90,000 in cash. For Mr. Wei, compensation includes severance compensation. (3)Mr. Wei joined the Company in February 2022 and resigned in June 2024. (4)Mr. Oliva
joined the Company in October 2023. A Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End A The following table shows, for each of our Named Executive Officers, all equity awards that were
outstanding as of December 31, 2024. A A A Option AwardsA Stock AwardsA NameA Number of Securities Underlying Unexercised Options, Exercisable (#)A A Number of Securities
Underlying Unexercised Options, Not Exercisable #)A A Option Exercise Price ($)A A Option Expiration DateA Number of Shares or Units of Stock That Have Not Vested (#)A A Market
Value of Shares or Units of Stock That Have Not Vested ($)A Fredi NisanA A 8,333AA A-AA $60. 60A A 06/01/2026A A 26,667A A $52, 800A AA A301AA A-AA A133.10AA

06/02/2026A AAAA AAA AA A818AA A-AA A36.60AA 10/13/2027A AAAA AAA AA A53,333AA A26,667-AA A2.18AA 11/15/2028A AAAA AAA BenErrezA A 8,333AA



A-AA A60.60AA 06/01/2026A A 26,667AA A52,800A AA A301AA A-AA A133.10AA 06/02/2026A AAAA AAA AA A818AA A-AA A36.60AA 10/13/2027A AAAA AAA AA
A53,333AA A26,667-AA A2.18AA 11/15/2028A AAAA AAA A Neither Min Wei or George Oliva had any equity awards outstanding as of December 31, 2024. A Employment and
Consulting Contracts, Termination of Employment, and Change-in-Control Arrangements A The Company has not entered into employment agreements or other compensation agreements with
its executive officers. All employee contracts are &€ceat will.4€ There are no potential payments payable to the named executive officers upon a termination of employment in connection with a
change in control. A Equity Incentive Plan A The Company maintains one stock option plan, the 2023 Equity Incentive Plan (the 4€0e2023 EIP&€). The 2023 EIP was adopted by our Board of
Directors on September 11, 2023, and thereafter timely approved by our stockholders. The 2023 EIP was subsequently amended on October 15, 2024, and thereafter timely approved by our
stockholders. A 54 Table of Contents A Share Reserve A The 2023 EIP reserved an aggregate of 5,098,262 shares of common stock available for equity incentive awards. As of February 11,
2025, the 2023 EIP has 4,214,903 shares of common stock available for new incentive awards. A If any options granted expire or terminate without being exercised, both the 2023 EIP option
plans provides that the shares covered thereby are added back to the plana€™s share reserve and become available for stock equity incentive option awards to other participants. A
Administration A Our Board of Directors have appointed Ben Errez as administrator of the 2023 EIP. The administrator has the full power to grant options, to determine the persons eligible to
receive such equity grants, and to determine the amount, type and terms and conditions of each such grants. A Eligibility A Employees, directors, or consultants of the Company or any of our
affiliates, as selected from time to time by the plan administrator in its discretion, are eligible to participate in the equity incentive plan. A Types of Awards A The equity incentive plans permits
the granting of options intended to qualify as incentive stock options under Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the &€ceCodeé€) and options that do not so qualify.
Options granted under the equity incentive stock option plans will be nonstatutory options if they fail to qualify as incentive stock options or exceed the annual limit on incentive stock options.
Incentive stock options may only be granted to employees of the Company and its subsidiaries. Nonstatutory options may be granted to any persons eligible to receive awards under the stock
option plans. A The plan administrator shall determine the purchase price (the 4€ceoption pricea€) for an optionee to exercise the option. For incentive stock options, the option price may not
be less than 100% of the fair market value of one share of common stock on the date of grant or, in the case of an incentive stock option granted to a 10% or greater stockholder, 110% of such
sharea€™s fair market value. The term of each option will be fixed by the plan administrator and may not exceed ten (10) years from the date of grant (or five years for an incentive stock option
granted to a 10% or greater stockholder). The plan administrator will determine at what time or times each option may be exercised, including the ability to accelerate the vesting of such
options. A Upon exercise of an option, the option price must be paid in full (i) in cash or by check; (ii) with approval of the plan administrator, by delivery of shares of Company common stock
that are beneficially owned by the optionee free of restrictions or were purchased in the open market, provided that if the shares were acquired from the Company, they have been held by the
optionee for more than six months; or (iii) with such other form of legal consideration permitted by federal and state law as may be acceptable to the Board. A Equitable Adjustments A The
2023 EIP plans provides that the number of shares of common stock covered by each outstanding option, and the price per share thereof set forth in each such option, shall be proportionately
adjusted for any increase or decrease in the number of issued shares of common stock resulting from a subdivision or consolidation of shares or the payment of a stock dividend, or any other
increase or decrease in the number of such shares affected without receipt of consideration by the Company. A Transferability of Options A Both stock option plans provides that no option may
be transferable by the optionee, except by will or by the laws of descent and distribution Term of the Option Plans A The 2023 EIP will expire on November 3, 2033. Although no options may be
granted under the plans after such dates, the expiration will not affect the validity of outstanding options. A Amendment and Termination A The Board of Directors may, insofar as permitted by
law, from time to time, with respect to any shares of common stock at the time not subject to options, suspend or terminate the 2023 EIP or otherwise revise or amend the equity incentive plan.
The Board of Directors must obtain stockholder approval for any revisions that would (i) increase the number of shares subject to the plan, (ii) decrease the price at which options may be
granted, (iii) materially increase the benefits to optionees, or (iv) change the class of persons eligible to receive equity grants under the plan. No amendment or termination of the equity
incentive plan may alter or impair the rights and obligations under any grants outstanding without the written consent of the grantee thereunder. A 55 Table of Contents A DIRECTOR
COMPENSATION A Non- -Employee Director Compensation Table A The following table sets forth compensation earned by each non-employee Director who served during the year ended
December 31, 2024. A Name A Fees Earned or Paid in Cash $) (1) A A Stock Awards ($)(2) A A Total ($) A Genevieve Baer A $ 45,000 A A $ 18,768 A A $ 63,768 A Ezra Laniado A A
45,000 A A A 18,773 A A A 63,773 A David Montoya (5) A A 102,000 A A A 37,554 A A A 139,554 A A (1)Represents the cash portion of annual director fees for service on the RYVYL
Board. (2)Represents the fair value of the share awards for the year ended December 31, 2024. These amounts reflect the actual value upon vesting realized by the Board member. A Narrative
to Director Compensation Table A Each non-employee director has entered into Board of Director Agreements (the 4€eBOD Agreementsa€). Pursuant to the BOD Agreements, each non-
employee director receives cash compensation in the amount of $2,500 per month. Pursuant to the BOD Agreements, each non-employee director will receive equity compensation in the form of
shares of Common Stock in an amount equal to $2,500 per month. Each chairman of the independent committees receives cash compensation in the amount of $5,000 per month and equity
compensation in the form of shares of Common Stock in an amount equal to $5,000 per month. Additionally, from time to time, each of the independent directors may receive awards pursuant
to the Companya€™s Equity Incentive Plan or opt to receive cash in lieu of stock awards. A Each non-employee director has agreed to execute an indemnification agreement in favor of the
Board member substantially in the form of the agreement attached to each BOD Agreement as Exhibit A (the a€ceIndemnification Agreementa€). In addition, so long as the Companya€™s
indemnification obligations exist under the Indemnification Agreement, the Company shall provide the Board member with directorsa€™ and officersa€™ liability insurance coverage in the
amounts specified in the Indemnification Agreement. A The Company will also provide and maintain a 10b5-1 trading plan (the 4&€cePlana€) for its Directors and employees. If such Plan is not in
effect at the time each month that Mr. Montoya is granted equity (each monthly grant, an &€ceEquity Granta€), then the Company will compensate Mr. Montoya, within three (3) business days
of an such Equity Grant, with an additional cash payment in an amount equal to $3,500 (each, a 4€ceGrant Tax Paymenta€) until such date that the Plan is made available to Montoya.
Additionally, on the date that any such Equity Grant vests (each, a &€eVesting Datea€), if the Grant Tax Payment is not at least fifty percent (50%) of the fair market value of on any Vesting
Date (each, a &€eFMV Grant Valuea€) then the Company, within three (3) business days of any Vesting Date, shall pay Mr. Montoya the difference between (i) the FMV Grant Value and (ii) the
Grant Tax Payment. A 56 Table of Contents A Certain Relationships and Related Transactions A The following includes a summary of transactions since January 1, 2022 to which we have been
a party in which the amount involved exceeded or will exceed $120,000, and in which any of our directors, executive officers or, to our knowledge, beneficial owners of more than 5% of our
capital stock or any member of the immediate family of any of the foregoing persons had or will have a direct or indirect material interest, other than equity and other compensation,
termination, change in control and other arrangements, which are described under &€eExecutive Compensation.a€ We also describe below certain other transactions with our directors,
executive officers, and stockholders. A Related Party Transactions A PrivCo A The Company repurchased, in two separate repurchase transactions each consisting of 100,000 shares of
common stock, an aggregate of 200,000 shares owned by PrivCo (an entity controlled by Messrs. Errez and Nisan). In October 2022, the Board unanimously ratified these two repurchase
transactions between the Company and PrivCo. The Company repurchased 100,000 shares for a price per share of $55.90 (for total proceeds to PrivCo of $5,590,000) (the 4€ceFirst
Repurchasea€) and 100,000 shares for a price per share of $8.20 (for total proceeds to PrivCo of $820,000) (the &€ceSecond Repurchasea€). The First Repurchase was based on the closing
price of the common stock on November 24, 2021 and took place over a number of months starting in February 2022 and ending in October 2022. The Second Repurchase was based on the
closing price of the common stock on July 29, 2022 and took place in October 2022. The purpose of each of these transactions was to allow the Company to issue shares to new shareholders
without increasing the Companya€™s shares outstanding. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, there were 100,525 and 105,417 shares available, respectively, of the 200,000 shares of common
stock under the aforementioned transactions. A Mr. Nisan A The Company hired Dan Nusinovich on or about February 19, 2018 as our Development and Testing Manager and he was
promoted to Vice President of Development on or about January 12, 2022. Dan is the brother of Fredi Nisan, our CEO and Director. Mr. Nusonivich, is paid approximately $200,000 per year. A
The Company hired Liron Nusinovich on or about July 16, 2018 as a Risk Analyst and he was promoted to Junior Product Owner on or about February 16, 2022. Liron is the brother of Fredi
Nisan, our CEO and Director. Mr. Nusonivich, is paid approximately $110,000 per year. A Kenneth Haller A The following are certain transactions between the Company and the Haller
Companies. Mr. Haller was an employee of the Company through March 31, 2022. A Sky Financial & Intelligence, LLC 4€“ Haller owns 100% of Sky Financial & Intelligence LLC (4€ceSkya€), a
Wyoming limited liability company, and serves as its sole Managing Member. Sky is a strategic merchant services company that focuses on high risk merchants and international credit card
processing solutions. In 2018, Sky was using GreenBoxa€™s QuickCard payment system as its main payment processing infrastructure, through Skya€™s relationship with Mtrac. It was
through this successful relationship, that we came to know Haller and the Haller Network. Realizing that the Haller Network and Hallera€™s unique skill set was highly complementary to our
business objectives, we commenced discussions to retain Haller through his consulting firm, Sky, for a senior role, directly responsible for growing GreenBoxa€™s operations. Subsequently, in
November 2018, Haller was appointed as our Senior Vice President of Payment Systems, for a monthly consulting fee of $10,000, paid to Sky (4€ceHaller Consulting Feea€). A 57 Table of
Contents A The Company did not recognize any net revenue from outside third-party merchants through independent sales organization (ISO), Sky, for the year ended December 31, 2022. The
Company had no accounts receivables from outside third-party merchants through Sky as of December 31, 2022. A On March 31, 2022, the Company entered into and closed an asset purchase
agreement with Sky Financial to purchase a portfolio of certain merchant accounts. The Company paid $16,000,000 in cash at closing and issued 500,000 shares of restricted common stock on
May 12, 2022. As of March 31, 2022, Mr. Haller is no longer an employee of the Company. As of December 31, 2023 the Company has not received the delivery of the acquired merchant list and
the associated ISO management portal access and as a result the Company has written off the purchase price. On October 1, 2023, the Company filed a demand for arbitration against Sky
Financial. The parties agreed to proceed in the arbitration and to implement the steps needed to extend the current stay of the San Diego Superior Court action pending the Arbitration.
Subsequently, the parties agreed to stay the Arbitration and attend mediation. A mediation was scheduled but then vacated by stipulation of the parties. The parties have agreed to continue the
stay of the Arbitration pending a mediation, which is to be re-scheduled. The Company intends to vigorously pursue its entitlements under the purchase agreement A Ms. Hogan A Ms. Hogan
joined the Board on April 4, 2022 and resigned on April 12, 2023. Ms. Hogan was a Partner and Co-Chair of the Corporate and Securities Practice Group at Lucosky Bookman LLP from March
2021 until November 2022. Lucosky Brookman formerly provided legal services to the Company. For the period from January 1, 2022, through April 15, 2023, the Company has paid $514,151 in
legal fees to Lucosky Brookman. A Indemnification Under Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws; Indemnification Agreements A Our Bylaws provide that we will indemnify our directors and
officers to the fullest extent permitted by the Nevada Revised Statutes (a€ceNRS&€), subject to certain exceptions contained in our Bylaws. In addition, our Bylaws provide that our directors will
not be liable for monetary damages for breach of fiduciary duty. A Policy Regarding Related Party Transactions A Our Board of Directors adopted a written policy contained in our Code of
Business Conduct and Ethics regarding transactions with related persons. As a general rule, conducting corporate business with a relative or significant other, or with a business in which a
relative or significant other is associated in any significant role, should be avoided. Relatives include spouse, sister, brother, daughter, son, mother, father, grandparents, aunts, uncles, nieces,
nephews, cousins, step relationships, and in-laws. Significant others include persons living in a spousal (including same sex) or familial fashion with an employee. If such a related party
transaction is unavoidable, the nature of the related party transaction must be fully disclosed to our Chief Financial Officer (4€ceCFO4€). If determined to be material to the Company by the
CFO, our Audit Committee must review and approve in writing in advance such related party transactions. The most significant related party transactions, particularly those involving our
directors or executive officers, must be reviewed, and approved in writing in advance by the Board. We must report all such material related party transactions under applicable accounting
rules, federal securities laws, SEC rules and regulations, and securities market rules. Any dealings with a related party must be conducted in such a way that no preferential treatment is given
to such business. A 58 Table of Contents A Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters A The following table sets forth certain
information with respect to the beneficially owned holdings of: (1) each person known to us to be the beneficial owner of more than 5% of our common stock; (2) each of our directors, nominees
for director and named executive officers; and (3) all directors and executive officers as a group. Applicable percentage ownership is based on the 8,351,086 shares of common stock
outstanding as of the February 13, 2025. A A person is considered to beneficially own any shares: (i) over which such person, directly or indirectly, exercises sole or shared voting or investment
power, or (ii) of which such person has the right to acquire beneficial ownership at any time within 60 days after February 13, 2025, through an exercise of stock options or warrants. To the
best of our knowledge, each of the persons named in the table below as beneficially owning the shares set forth therein has sole voting power and sole investment power with respect to such
shares, unless otherwise indicated. A Unless otherwise specified, the address of each of the persons set forth below is in care of the Company, at 3131 Camino Del Rio North, Suite 1400, San
Diego, California. A Name and Address of OwnerA Shares of Common Stock Owned BeneficiallyA A Percent of ClassA AA AAA AA 5% HoldersA AAA AA GreenBox POS LLC (1)A
A1,848921AA A22.14% AA AAAA AAA Officers and DirectorsA AAAA AAA Ben Errez (2)A A 1,999,148(3)A A 23.76% Fredi Nisan (4)A A 2,000,468(3)A A 23.78% George OlivaA
A 8,552A A A *A Zechariah Kirscher (5)A A 53,949A A A *A Genevieve BaerA A 14,618(6)A A *A Ezra LaniadoA A 17,334(6)A A *A David MontoyaA A 46,603A A A *A Total of Officers
and Directors (7 Persons)A A 2,291,751A A A 26.86% A * Less than 1% A (1)GreenBox POS LLC (a€cePrivCoa€) holds 1,848,921 shares of the Companya€™s issued and outstanding stock.
PrivCo is managed by its two managing members, Ben Errez and Fredi Nisan, both of whom serve as our sole officers and directors. Messrs. Errez and Nisan each own 50% of PrivCo. (2)Mr.
Errez owns 50% of PrivCo and therefore owns 924,461 shares held by PrivCo. As one of two managing members of PrivCo, Mr. Errez has influence over PrivCoa€™s entire holding of 1,848,921
shares. (3)Includes 62,786 fully vested options. (4)Mr. Nisan owns 50% of PrivCo and therefore owns 924,461 shares held by PrivCo. As one of two managing members of PrivCo, Mr. Nisan has
influence over PrivCoa€™ s entire holding of 1,848,921 shares. (5)Includes 53,334 fully vested options. (6)Includes 409 fully vested options. A 59 Table of Contents A Description of CAPITAL
STOCK A General A Our articles of incorporation authorize us to issue up to 100,000,000 shares of Common Stock and up to 5,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock. As of February 11, 2025 we
had 8,351,086 shares of Common Stock outstanding and no shares of Preferred Stock outstanding. The authorized but unissued shares of our Common Stock and Preferred Stock are available
for future issuance without shareholder approval. These additional shares may be used for a variety of corporate finance transactions, acquisitions and employee benefit plans. The existence of
authorized but unissued and unreserved Common Stock and preferred stock could make more difficult or discourage an attempt to obtain control of us by means of a proxy contest, tender offer,
merger or otherwise. A Our authorized but unissued shares of common stock and preferred stock are available for issuance without further action by our stockholders, unless such action is
required by applicable law or the rules of any stock exchange or automated quotation system on which our securities may be listed or traded in the future. The following description summarizes
the material terms of our capital stock. Because it is only a summary, it may not contain all the information that is important to you. A Common Stock A Voting Rights A Holders of our
Common Stock are entitled to one vote for each share held on all matters submitted to a vote of shareholders and do not have cumulative voting rights. An election of directors by our
shareholders shall be determined by a plurality of the votes cast by the shareholders entitled to vote on the election. Holders of Common Stock are entitled to receive proportionately any
dividends as may be declared by our board of directors, subject to any preferential dividend rights of outstanding preferred stock. Holders of shares of Common Stock do not have cumulative
voting rights with respect to the election of directors or any other matter. A Liquidation or Dissolution A In the event of our liquidation or dissolution, the holders of Common Stock are entitled
to receive proportionately all assets available for distribution to shareholders after the payment of all debts and other liabilities and subject to the prior rights of any outstanding preferred
stock. Holders of Common Stock have no preemptive, subscription, redemption or conversion rights. The rights, preferences and privileges of holders of Common Stock are subject to and may
be adversely affected by the rights of the holders of shares of any series of preferred stock that we may designate and issue in the future. A Dividends A Holders of our Common Stock are
entitled to receive dividends or other distributions when, as, and if declared by our board of directors. The right of our board of directors to declare dividends, however, is subject to any rights
of the holders of other classes of our capital stock, any indebtedness outstanding from time to time, and the availability of sufficient funds under Nevada law to pay dividends. A Preemptive
Rights A The holders of our Common Stock do not have preemptive rights to purchase or subscribe for any of our capital stock or other Common Stock.A A Redemption A The shares of our



Common Stock are not subject to redemption by operation of a sinking fund or otherwise. A 60 Table of Contents A Preferred Stock A Our board of directors is empowered, without
stockholder approval, to issue shares of preferred stock with dividend, liquidation, redemption, voting or other rights which could adversely affect the voting power or other rights of the holders
of Common Stock. In addition, the preferred stock could be utilized as a method of discouraging, delaying or preventing a change in control of us. As of February 1, 2025, there are no shares of
preferred stock outstanding. A Common Stock Purchase Options A As of February 1, 2025, the Company had stock options to purchase 573,127 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise
of stock options currently outstanding, at a weighted average exercise price of $4.20 per share with expiration dates ranging from June 22, 2025 to November 11, 2033. A The Company does
not have any warrants outstanding. A Restricted Stock Awards A As of February 1, 2025, the Company had 75,687 restricted stock awards unvested. A Anti-takeover Effects of Our Articles of
Incorporation and By-laws A The holders of our Common Stock do not have cumulative voting rights in the election of our directors, which makes it more difficult for minority stockholders to be
represented on the Board. Our articles of incorporation allow our Board to issue additional shares of our Common Stock and new series of preferred stock without further approval of our
stockholders. The existence of authorized but unissued shares of Common Stock and preferred stock could render more difficult or discourage an attempt to obtain control of our company by
means of a proxy contest, tender offer, merger, or otherwise. A Anti-Takeover Provisions A Business Combinations A The 4€cebusiness combinationa€ provisions of Sections 78.411 to 78.444,
inclusive, of the Nevada Revised Statutes, or NRS, generally prohibit a Nevada corporation with at least 200 stockholders of record, a a€ceresident domestic corporation,a€ from engaging in
various &€cecombinationa€ transactions with any a€ceinterested stockholdera€ unless certain conditions are met or the corporation has elected in its articles of incorporation to not be subject to
these provisions. We have not elected to opt out of these provisions and if we meet the definition of resident domestic corporation, now or in the future, our company will be subject to these
provisions. A A &€cecombinationa€ is generally defined to include (a) a merger or consolidation of the resident domestic corporation or any subsidiary of the resident domestic corporation with
the interested stockholder or affiliate or associate of the interested stockholder; (b) any sale, lease, exchange, mortgage, pledge, transfer, or other disposition, in one transaction or a series of
transactions, by the resident domestic corporation or any subsidiary of the resident domestic corporation to or with the interested stockholder or affiliate or associate of the interested
stockholder having: (i) an aggregate market value equal to 5% or more of the aggregate market value of the assets of the resident domestic corporation, (ii) an aggregate market value equal to
5% or more of the aggregate market value of all outstanding shares of the resident domestic corporation, or (iii) 10% or more of the earning power or net income of the resident domestic
corporation; (c) the issuance or transfer in one transaction or series of transactions of shares of the resident domestic corporation or any subsidiary of the resident domestic corporation having
an aggregate market value equal to 5% or more of the resident domestic corporation to the interested stockholder or affiliate or associate of the interested stockholder; and (d) certain other
transactions with an interested stockholder or affiliate or associate of the interested stockholder. A An &€ceinterested stockholdera€ is generally defined as a person who, together with
affiliates and associates, owns (or within two years, did own) 10% or more of a corporationa€™s voting stock. An a€ceaffiliatea€ of the interested stockholder is any person that directly or
indirectly through one or more intermediaries is controlled by or is under common control with the interested stockholder. An d4€ceassociatea€ of an interested stockholder is any (a) corporation
or organization of which the interested stockholder is an officer or partner or is directly or indirectly the beneficial owner of 10% or more of any class of voting shares of such corporation or
organization; (b) trust or other estate in which the interested stockholder has a substantial beneficial interest or as to which the interested stockholder serves as trustee or in a similar fiduciary
capacity; or (c) relative or spouse of the interested stockholder, or any relative of the spouse of the interested stockholder, who has the same home as the interested stockholder. A If applicable,
the prohibition is for a period of two years after the date of the transaction in which the person became an interested stockholder, unless such transaction is approved by the board of directors
prior to the date the interested stockholder obtained such status; or the combination is approved by the board of directors and thereafter is approved at a meeting of the stockholders by the
affirmative vote of stockholders representing at least 60% of the outstanding voting power held by disinterested stockholders; and extends beyond the expiration of the two-year period, unless
(a) the combination was approved by the board of directors prior to the person becoming an interested stockholder; (b) the transaction by which the person first became an interested
stockholder was approved by the board of directors before the person became an interested stockholder; (c) the transaction is approved by the affirmative vote of a majority of the voting power
held by disinterested stockholders at a meeting called for that purpose no earlier than two years after the date the person first became an interested stockholder; or (d) if the consideration to be
paid to all stockholders other than the interested stockholder is, generally, at least equal to the highest of: (i) the highest price per share paid by the interested stockholder within the three
years immediately preceding the date of the announcement of the combination or in the transaction in which it became an interested stockholder, whichever is higher, plus compounded interest
and less dividends paid, (ii) the market value per share of common shares on the date of announcement of the combination and the date the interested stockholder acquired the shares,
whichever is higher, plus compounded interest and less dividends paid, or (iii) for holders of preferred stock, the highest liquidation value of the preferred stock, plus accrued dividends, if not
included in the liquidation value. With respect to (i) and (ii) above, the interest is compounded at the rate for one-year United States Treasury obligations from time to time in effect. A 61 Table
of Contents A Applicability of the Nevada business combination statute would discourage parties interested in taking control of our company if they cannot obtain the approval of our Board.
These provisions could prohibit or delay a merger or other takeover or change in control attempt and, accordingly, may discourage attempts to acquire our company even though such a
transaction may offer our stockholders the opportunity to sell their stock at a price above the prevailing market price. A Control Share Acquisitions A The 4€cecontrol sharea€ provisions of
Sections 78.378 to 78.3793, inclusive, of the NRS, apply to d€ceissuing corporationsa€ that are Nevada corporations with at least 200 stockholders of record, including at least 100 stockholders
of record who are Nevada residents, and that conduct business directly or indirectly in Nevada, unless the corporation has elected to not be subject to these provisions. A The control share
statute prohibits an acquirer of shares of an issuing corporation, under certain circumstances, from voting its shares of a corporationa€™s stock after crossing certain ownership threshold
percentages, unless the acquirer obtains approval of the target corporationa€™s disinterested stockholders. The statute specifies three thresholds: (a) one-fifth or more but less than one-third,
(b) one-third but less than a majority, and (c) a majority or more, of the outstanding voting power. Generally, once a person acquires shares in excess of any of the thresholds, those shares and
any additional shares acquired within 90 days thereof become &€cecontrol sharesa€ and such control shares are deprived of the right to vote until disinterested stockholders restore the right.
These provisions also provide that if control shares are accorded full voting rights and the acquiring person has acquired a majority or more of all voting power, all other stockholders who do
not vote in favor of authorizing voting rights to the control shares are entitled to demand payment for the fair value of their shares in accordance with statutory procedures established for
dissentersa€™ rights. A A corporation may elect to not be governed by, or a&€ceopt outa€ of, the control shares provisions by making an election in its articles of incorporation or bylaws,
provided that the opt-out election must be in place on the 10th day following the date an acquiring person has acquired a controlling interest, that is, crossing any of the three thresholds
described above. We have not opted out of these provisions and will be subject to the control share provisions of the NRS if we meet the definition of an issuing corporation upon an acquiring
person acquiring a controlling interest unless we later opt out of these provisions and the opt out is in effect on the 10th day following such occurrence. A The effect of the Nevada control share
statute is that the acquiring person, and those acting in association with the acquiring person, will obtain only such voting rights in the control shares as are conferred by a resolution of the
stockholders at an annual or special meeting. The Nevada control share law, if applicable, could have the effect of discouraging takeovers of our company. A The NASDAQ Capital Market
Listing A Our common stock is listed on the NASDAQ Capital Market under the symbol 46ceRVYLA€. A Transfer Agent and Warrant Agent A The transfer agent and registrar for our common
stock and Warrant Agent is VStock Transfer LLC with an address 18 Lafayette Place, Woodmere, NY 11598, (212) 828-8436. A 62 Table of Contents A description of securities we are offering
A We are offering up to $20,000,000 of Units, each unit consisting of one share of our common stock and one Common Warrants to purchase up to oneA share of common stock. We are also
offering Pre-Funded Warrants to those purchasers whose purchase of shares of common stock in this offering would result in the purchaser, together with its affiliates and certain related
parties, beneficially owning more than 4.99% (or, at the election of the purchaser, 9.99%) of our outstanding shares of common stock following the consummation of this offering in lieu of the
shares of common stock that would result in such excess ownership. Each Pre-Funded Warrant will be exercisable for one share of common stock. For each Pre-Funded Warrant we sell, the
number of shares of common stock we are offering will be decreased on a one-for-one basis. No warrant for fractional shares of common stock will be issued, rather warrants will be issued only
for whole shares of common stock. We are also registering the shares of common stock issuable from time to time upon exercise of the Pre-Funded Warrants and Common Warrants offered
hereby. A Common Stock A The material terms and provisions of our common stock are described under the caption a€ceDescription of Capital Stocka€ in this prospectus. A Common
Warrants A The following is a summary of certain terms and provisions of the Common Warrants that are being offered hereby is not complete and is subject to, and qualified in its entirety by,
the provisions of the Common Warrant, the form of which will be filed as an exhibit to the registration statement of which this prospectus forms a part. Prospective investors should carefully
review the terms and provisions of the form of Common Warrant for a complete description of the terms and conditions of the Common Warrants. A Duration and Exercise Price A Each
Common Warrant offered hereby will have an exercise price equal to $ A (representing 100% of the price a Common Unit sold to the public in this offering). The Common Warrants will be
immediately exercisable and may be exercised until the fifth anniversary of the issuance date. The exercise price and number of shares of common stock issuable upon exercise is subject to
appropriate adjustment in the event of stock dividends, stock splits, reorganizations or similar events affecting our common stock and the exercise price. The Common Warrants will be issued
separately from the common stock or Pre-Funded Warrants, respectively, and may be transferred separately immediately thereafter. The Common Warrants will be issued in certificated form
only. A Exercisability A The Common Warrants will be exercisable, at the option of each holder, in whole or in part, by delivering to us a duly executed exercise notice accompanied by payment
in full for the number of shares of our common stock purchased upon such exercise (except in the case of a cashless exercise as discussed below). A holder (together with its affiliates) may not
exercise any portion of such holdera€™s Common Warrants to the extent that the holder would own more than 4.99% of the outstanding common stock immediately after exercise, except that
upon at least 61 daysa€™ prior notice from the holder to us, the holder may increase the amount of ownership of outstanding stock after exercising the holdera€™s Common Warrants up to
9.99% of the number of shares of our common stock outstanding immediately after giving effect to the exercise, as such percentage ownership is determined in accordance with the terms of the
Common Warrants. A Cashless Exercise A If, at the time a holder exercises its Common Warrants, a registration statement registering the issuance or resale of the shares of common stock
underlying the Common Warrants under the Securities Act is not then effective or available for the issuance of such shares, then in lieu of making the cash payment otherwise contemplated to
be made to us upon such exercise in payment of the aggregate exercise price, the holder may elect instead to receive upon such exercise (either in whole or in part) the net number of shares of
common stock determined according to a formula set forth in the Common Warrant. A 63 Table of Contents A Fundamental Transactions A In the event of any fundamental transaction, as
described in the Common Warrants and generally including any merger or consolidation with or into another entity, sale of all or substantially all of our assets, tender offer or exchange offer, or
reclassification of our common stock, then upon any subsequent exercise of a Common Warrant, the holder will have the right to receive as alternative consideration, for each share of our
common stock that would have been issuable upon such exercise immediately prior to the occurrence of such fundamental transaction, the number of shares of common stock of the successor
or acquiring corporation or of our company, if it is the surviving corporation, and any additional consideration receivable upon or as a result of such transaction by a holder of the number of
shares of our common stock for which the Common Warrant is exercisable immediately prior to such event. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event of a fundamental transaction, the
holders of the Common Warrants have the right to require us or a successor entity to redeem the Common Warrants for cash in the amount of the Black-Scholes Value (as defined in each
Common Warrant) of the remaining unexercised portion of the Common Warrants on the date of the consummation of such fundamental transaction, concurrently with or within 30 days
following the consummation of a fundamental transaction. A However, in the event of a fundamental transaction which is not in our control, including a fundamental transaction not approved
by our board of directors, the holders of the Common Warrants will only be entitled to receive from us or our successor entity, as of the date of consummation of such fundamental transaction
the same type or form of consideration (and in the same proportion), at the Black Scholes Value of the unexercised portion of the Common Warrant that is being offered and paid to the holders
of our common stock in connection with the fundamental transaction, whether that consideration is in the form of cash, stock or any combination of cash and stock, or whether the holders of our
common stock are given the choice to receive alternative forms of consideration in connection with the fundamental transaction. A Transferability A Subject to applicable laws, a Common
Warrant may be transferred at the option of the holder upon surrender of the Common Warrant to us together with the appropriate instruments of transfer. A Fractional Shares A No fractional
shares of common stock will be issued upon the exercise of the Common Warrants. Rather, the number of shares of common stock to be issued will, at our election, either be rounded up to the
nearest whole number or we will pay a cash adjustment in respect of such final fraction in an amount equal to such fraction multiplied by the exercise price. A Trading Market A There is no
established trading market for the Common Warrants, and we do not expect an active trading market to develop. We do not intend to apply to list the Common Warrants on any securities
exchange or other trading market. Without a trading market, the liquidity of the Common Warrants will be extremely limited. A Right as a Stockholder A Except as otherwise provided in the
Common Warrants or by virtue of the holdera€™s ownership of shares of our common stock, such holder of Common Warrants does not have the rights or privileges of a holder of our common
stock, including any voting rights, until such holder exercises such holdera€™s Common Warrants. A Waivers and Amendments A No term of the Common Warrants may be amended or waived
without the written consent of the majority of the holders of the Common Warrants purchased in this offering. A Pre-Funded Warrants A The following summary of certain terms and provisions
of the Pre-Funded Warrants that are being offered hereby is not complete and is subject to, and qualified in its entirety by, the provisions of the Pre-Funded Warrant, the form of which will be
filed as an exhibit to the registration statement of which this prospectus forms a part. Prospective investors should carefully review the terms and provisions of the form of Pre-Funded Warrant
for a complete description of the terms and conditions of the Pre-Funded Warrants. A 64 Table of Contents A Duration and Exercise Price A Each Pre-Funded Warrant offered hereby will have
an initial exercise price per share of common stock equal to $0.001. The Pre-Funded Warrants will be immediately exercisable and will expire when exercised in full. The exercise price and
number of shares of common stock issuable upon exercise is subject to appropriate adjustment in the event of share dividends, share splits, reorganizations or similar events affecting our
shares of common stock and the exercise price. A Exercisability A The Pre-Funded Warrants will be exercisable, at the option of each holder, in whole or in part, by delivering to us a duly
executed exercise notice accompanied by payment in full for the number of shares of common stock purchased upon such exercise (except in the case of a cashless exercise as discussed below).
A holder (together with its affiliates) may not exercise any portion of the Pre-Funded Warrant to the extent that the holder would own more than 4.99% of the outstanding shares of common
stock immediately after exercise, except that upon at least 61 daysa€™ prior notice from the holder to us, the holder may increase the amount of beneficial ownership of outstanding shares
after exercising the holdera€™s Pre-Funded Warrants up to 9.99% of the number of our shares of common stock outstanding immediately after giving effect to the exercise, as such percentage
ownership is determined in accordance with the terms of the Pre-Funded Warrants. Purchasers of Pre-Funded Warrants in this offering may also elect prior to the issuance of the pre- funded
warrants to have the initial exercise limitation set at 9.99% of our outstanding shares of common stock. A Cashless Exercise A In lieu of making the cash payment otherwise contemplated to be
made to us upon such exercise in payment of the aggregate exercise price, the holder may elect instead to receive upon such exercise (either in whole or in part) the number of shares of
common stock determined according to a formula set forth in the Pre-Funded Warrants. A Fractional Shares A No fractional shares of common stock will be issued upon the exercise of the Pre-
Funded Warrants. A Rather, at the Companya€™s election, the number of shares of common stock to be issued will be rounded up to the nearest whole number or the Company will pay a cash
adjustment in an amount equal to such fraction multiplied by the exercise price. A Transferability A Subject to applicable laws, a Pre-Funded Warrant may be transferred at the option of the
holder upon surrender of the Pre-Funded Warrants to us together with the appropriate instruments of transfer. A Trading Market A There is no trading market available for the Pre-Funded
Warrants on any securities exchange or nationally recognized trading system, and we do not expect a trading market to develop. We do not intend to list the Pre-Funded Warrants on any
securities exchange or nationally recognized trading market. Without a trading market, the liquidity of the Pre-Funded Warrants will be extremely limited. The shares of common stock issuable
upon exercise of the Pre-Funded Warrants are currently traded on Nasdaq. A Right as a Shareholder A Except as otherwise provided in the Pre-Funded Warrants or by virtue of such
holdera€™s ownership of shares of common stock, the holders of the Pre-Funded Warrants do not have the rights or privileges of holders of our shares of common stock, including any voting



rights, until they exercise their Pre-Funded Warrants. The Pre-Funded Warrants will provide that holders have the right to participate in distributions or dividends paid on our shares of common
stock. A Fundamental Transaction A In the event of a fundamental transaction, as described in the Pre-Funded Warrants and generally including any reorganization, recapitalization or
reclassification of our shares of common stock, the sale, transfer or other disposition of all or substantially all of our properties or assets, our consolidation or merger with or into another
person, the acquisition of more than 50% of our outstanding securities, or any person or group becoming the beneficial owner of 50% of the voting power represented by our outstanding shares
of securities, the holders of the Pre-Funded Warrants will be entitled to receive upon exercise of the pre- funded warrants the kind and amount of securities, cash or other property that the
holders would have received had they exercised the Pre-Funded Warrants immediately prior to such fundamental transaction on a net exercise basis. A 65 Table of Contents A PLAN OF
DISTRIBUTION A We are offering on a best efforts basis up to $20,000,000 ofA Units, at an assumed offering price of $A A A 4€~A per Common Unit, which is equal to the closing price of our
common stock on the Nasdaq Capital Market onA A 4€7A€74€74€ 7A€ A€ A€ A€ A€ A€ T4€TA€ 7A€ 7A€, 2025 pursuant to this prospectus, for gross proceeds of up to approximately

$20,000,000A million before deduction of placement agent fees and offering expenses, in a best-efforts offering. There is no minimum amount of proceeds that is a condition to closing of this
offering. The actual amount of gross proceeds, if any, in this offering could vary substantially from the gross proceeds from the sale of the maximum amount of securities being offered in this
prospectus. A Because this is a best-efforts offering, the Placement Agent does not have an obligation to purchase any securities. We expect that the offering will end two trading days after we
first enter into a securities purchase agreement relating to the offering and the offering will settle delivery versus payment (&€0eDVPa€). Accordingly, we and the Placement Agent have not
made any arrangements to place investor funds in an escrow account or trust account since the Placement Agent will not receive investor funds in connection with the sale of the securities
offered hereunder. A Pursuant to a placement agency agreement, we have engaged 86"/ AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAA to act as our exclusive placement agent (the &€cePlacement Agenta€) to
solicit offers to purchase the securities offered by this prospectus. The Placement Agent is not purchasing or selling any securities, nor is it required to arrange for the purchase and sale of any
specific number or dollar amount of securities, other than to use its a€cereasonable best effortsa€ to arrange for the sale of the securities by us. Therefore, we may not sell the entire amount of
securities being offered. A We will enter into a securities purchase agreement directly with the investors, at the investora€™s option, who purchase our securities in this offering. Investors who
do not enter into a securities purchase agreement shall rely solely on this prospectus in connection with the purchase of our securities in this offering. The Placement Agent may engage one or
more subagents or selected dealers in connection with this offering. A The placement agency agreement provides that the Placement Agenta€™ s obligations are subject to conditions contained
in the placement agency agreement. A We will deliver the securities being issued to the investors upon receipt of investor funds for the purchase of the securities offered pursuant to this
prospectus. We expect to deliver the securities being offered pursuant to this prospectus DVP on 4 A AAA A A, 2025 A A Placement Agent Fees, Commissions and 4€ Expenses A Upon the
closing of this offering, we will pay the Placement Agent a cash transaction fee up to 7.0% of the aggregate gross cash proceeds to us from the sale of the securities in the offering; provided,
however, that we will pay placement agent fees equal to 3.5% per share, with respect to sales to any Company Introduced Investors, and we agreed to reimburse the Placement Agent for
certain out-of-pocket expenses of the Placement Agent payable by us, in an aggregate amount not to exceed $100,000. A The following table shows the public offering price, placement agent

fees and proceeds, before expenses, to us. A A A Per Common UnitA A Per Prefunded UnitA A TotalA Public Offering PriccA $AAAAAAAAA $AAAAAAAAA $AAAAAA Placement
Agent fees (7.0%) (1)A $AAA $AAA $A A Proceeds, before expenses, tousA $AAA $AAA $AA A A (1)Assumes that all sales are made to investors who are not Company Introduced
Investors. A We estimate that the total expenses of the offering, including registration, filing and listing fees, printing fees and legal and accounting expenses, but excluding the placement
agent fees, will be approximately $ AAAAAAAAAAAA, all of which are payable by us. AA 66 Table of Contents A Lock-Up Agreements A Each of our officers and directors and holders of
five percent (5%) or more of our outstanding shares of common stock have agreed, subject to certain exceptions, not to offer, issue, sell, contract to sell, encumber, grant any option for the sale
of or otherwise dispose of any shares of our common stock or other securities convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable for our common stock for a period of ninety (90) days after this
offering is completed without the prior written consent of the Placement Agent. Additionally, we have agreed, subject to certain exceptions, not to offer, issue, sell, contract to sell, encumber,
grant any option for the sale of or otherwise dispose of any shares of our common stock or other securities convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable for our common stock for a period of
ninety (90) days after this offering is completed without the prior written consent of the Placement Agent (the 4€ceLock-Up Perioda€). A The Placement Agent may in its sole discretion and at
any time without notice release some or all of the shares subject to lock-up agreements prior to the expiration of the lock-up period. When determining whether or not to release shares from the
lock-up agreements, the Placement Agent will consider, among other factors, the security holdera€™ s reasons for requesting the release, the number of shares for which the release is being
requested and market conditions at the time. A Indemnification A We have agreed to indemnify the Placement Agent against certain liabilities, including liabilities under the Securities Act, and
to contribute to payments that the Placement Agent may be required to make for these liabilities. A Other Compensation A If within nine (9) months following the closing of this offering, we
complete any financing of equity, equity-linked, convertible or debt or other capital-raising activity for which the Placement Agent is not acting as underwriter or placement agent with any of
the investors that were directly contacted or introduced to us by the Placement Agent during the period for which the Company was engaged with the Placement Agent , then we shall pay to the
Placement Agent upon the closing of such financing or receipt of such proceeds the compensation described in this Plan of Distribution, in each case only with respect to the portion of such
financing received from such investors. A A Right of First Refusal A Pursuant to the terms of the placement agency agreement, subject to the closing of this offering, for a period of nine (9)
months after closing of this offering, the Placement Agent shall have a right of first refusal to act as lead managing underwriter and book runner, lead placement agent, or lead sales agent, for
any and all future public or private equity, equity-linked or debt (excluding commercial bank debt) offerings. We shall not offer to retain any entity or person in connection with any such offering
on terms more favorable than terms on which we offer to retain the Placement Agent . Such offer shall be made in writing in order to be effective. The Placement Agent shall notify us within ten
(10) business days of its receipt of the written offer contemplated above as to whether or not it agrees to accept such retention. If the Placement Agent should decline such retention, we shall
have no further obligations to the Placement Agent with respect to the offering for which we have offered to retain the Placement Agent. A Tail Period A For a period of nine (9) months after
this offering, if we complete any financing of equity, equity-linked securities or debt or other capital raising activity with, or receives any proceeds form, any of the investors in this offering,
other than Company Introduced Investors, where the Placement Agent introduced such investor to us, then we are required to pay the Placement Agent, upon the closing of any such financing,
seven percent (7%) of the gross proceeds raised from each such investor. A A Regulation M A The Placement Agent may be deemed to be an underwriter within the meaning of Section 2(a)(11)
of the Securities Act, and any commissions received by it and any profit realized on the resale of the securities sold by it while acting as principal might be deemed to be underwriting discounts
or commissions under the Securities Act. As an underwriter, the Placement Agent would be required to comply with the requirements of the Securities Act and the Exchange Act, including,
without limitation, Rule 10b-5 and Regulation M under the Exchange Act. These rules and regulations may limit the timing of purchases and sales of our securities by the Placement Agent
acting as principal. Under these rules and regulations, the Placement Agent (i) may not engage in any stabilization activity in connection with our securities and (ii) may not bid for or purchase
any of our securities or attempt to induce any person to purchase any of our securities, other than as permitted under the Exchange Act, until it has completed its participation in the
distribution. A Determination of Offering Price and Warrant Exercise Price A The actual offering price of the securities we are offering, and the exercise price of the Common Warrants and
Pre-Funded Warrants included in the Units and Pre-Funded Units that we are offering, were negotiated between us, the Placement AgentA and the investors in the offeringA based on the
trading of our shares of common stock prior to the offering, among other things. Other factors considered in determining the public offering price of the securities we are offering, as well as the
exercise price of the Common Warrants that we are offering include our history and prospects, the stage of development of our business, our business plans for the future and the extent to
which they have been implemented, an assessment of our management, the general conditions of the securities markets at the time of the offering and such other factors as were deemed
relevant. A 67 Table of Contents A Electronic Distribution A A prospectus in electronic format may be made available on a website maintained by the Placement Agent. In connection with the
offering, the Placement Agent or selected dealers may distribute prospectuses electronically. No forms of electronic prospectus other than prospectuses that are printable as AdobeA® PDF will
be used in connection with this offering. A Other than the prospectus in electronic format, the information on the Placement Agenta€™s website and any information contained in any other
website maintained by the Placement Agent is not part of the prospectus or the registration statement of which this prospectus forms a part, has not been approved and/or endorsed by us or the
Placement Agent in its capacity as placement agent and should not be relied upon by investors. A Certain Relationships A The Placement Agent and its affiliates have and may in the future
provide, from time to time, investment banking and financial advisory services to us in the ordinary course of business, for which they may receive customary fees and commissions. A Transfer
Agent and Registrar A The transfer agent and registrar for our common stock and Warrant Agent is VStock Transfer LLC with an address 18 Lafayette Place, Woodmere, NY 11598, (212) 828-
8436. A Listing A Our common stock are listed on the Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbolsA 4€eRVYL&€. A Selling Restrictions A Other than in the United States, no action has been
taken by us or the Placement Agent that would permit a public offering of the securities offered by this prospectus in any jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required. The securities
offered by this prospectus may not be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, nor may this prospectus or any other offering material or advertisements in connection with the offer and sale of any
such securities be distributed or published, in any jurisdiction, except under circumstances that will result in compliance with the applicable rules and regulations of that jurisdiction. Persons
into whose possession this prospectus comes are advised to inform themselves about and to observe any restrictions relating to this offering and the distribution of this prospectus. This
prospectus does not constitute an offer to sell or a solicitation of an offer to buy any securities offered by this prospectus in any jurisdiction in which such an offer or a solicitation is unlawful. A
Australia. No placement document, prospectus, product disclosure statement or other disclosure document has been lodged with the Australian Securities and Investments Commission (ASIC),
in relation to the offering. A This prospectus does not constitute a prospectus, product disclosure statement or other disclosure document under the Corporations Act 2001 (the Corporations
Act) and does not purport to include the information required for a prospectus, product disclosure statement or other disclosure document under the Corporations Act. A Any offer in Australia
of the securities may only be made to persons (the Exempt Investors) who are d€cesophisticated investorsa€ (within the meaning of section 708(8) of the Corporations Act), 4&€ceprofessional
investorsa€ (within the meaning of section 708(11) of the Corporations Act) or otherwise pursuant to one or more exemptions contained in section 708 of the Corporations Act so that it is lawful
to offer the securities without disclosure to investors under Chapter 6D of the Corporations Act. A The securities applied for by Exempt Investors in Australia must not be offered for sale in
Australia in the period of 12A months after the date of allotment under the offering, except in circumstances where disclosure to investors under Chapter 6D of the Corporations Act would not
be required pursuant to an exemption under section 708 of the Corporations Act or otherwise or where the offer is pursuant to a disclosure document which complies with Chapter 6D of the
Corporations Act. Any person acquiring securities must observe such Australian on-saleA restrictions. A This prospectus contains general information only and does not take account of the
investment objectives, financial situation or particular needs of any particular person. It does not contain any securities recommendations or financial product advice. Before making an
investment decision, investors need to consider whether the information in this prospectus is appropriate to their needs, objectives and circumstances, and, if necessary, seek expert advice on
those matters. A Brazil. The offer of securities described in this prospectus will not be carried out by means that would constitute a public offering in Brazil under Law No. 6,385, of
DecemberA 7, 1976, as amended, under the CVM Rule (InstruA§A£o) No. 400, of DecemberA 29, 2003. The offer and sale of the securities have not been and will not be registered with the
ComissA£o de Valores MA?bilearios in Brazil. The securities have not been offered or sold, and will not be offered or sold in Brazil, except in circumstances that do not constitute a public
offering or distribution under Brazilian laws and regulations. A Canada. The securities may be sold in Canada only to purchasers purchasing, or deemed to be purchasing, as principal that are
accredited investors, as defined in National Instrument 45- 106A Prospectus ExemptionsA or subsection 73.3(1) of the Securities Act (Ontario), and are permitted clients, as defined in National
Instrument 31 103A Registration Requirements, Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant Obligations. Any resale of the securities must be made in accordance with an exemption from, or in a
transaction not subject to, the prospectus requirements of applicable securities laws. A 68 Table of Contents A Securities legislation in certain provinces or territories of Canada may provide a
purchaser with remedies for rescission or damages if this prospectus supplement (including any amendment thereto) contains a misrepresentation, provided that the remedies for rescission or
damages are exercised by the purchaser within the time limit prescribed by the securities legislation of the purchasera€™ s province or territory. The purchaser should refer to any applicable
provisions of the securities legislation of the purchasera€™s province or territory for particulars of these rights or consult with a legal advisor. A Pursuant to section 3A.3 of National
Instrument 33 105 Underwriting Conflicts (NI 33 105), the Placement Agent is not required to comply with the disclosure requirements of NI 33-105 regarding conflicts of interest in connection
with this offering. A Cayman Islands.A No invitation, whether directly or indirectly, may be made to the public in the Cayman Islands to subscribe for our securities. A European Economic
Area. In relation to each Member State of the European Economic Area which has implemented the Prospectus Directive (each, a &€ceRelevant Member Statea€) an offer to the public of any
securities may not be made in that Relevant Member State, except that an offer to the public in that Relevant Member State of any securities may be made at any time under the following
exemptions under the Prospectus Directive, if they have been implemented in that Relevant Member State: A a—to any legal entity which is a qualified investor as defined in the Prospectus
Directive; A A a— to fewer than 100 or, if the Relevant Member State has implemented the relevant provision of the 2010 PD Amending Directive, 150, natural or legal persons (other than
qualified investors as defined in the Prospectus Directive), as permitted under the Prospectus Directive, subject to obtaining the prior consent of the representatives for any such offer; or A A &

— in any other circumstances falling within Article 3(2) of the Prospectus Directive, provided that no such offer of securities shall result in a requirement for the publication by us or any
placement agent of a prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of the Prospectus Directive. A For the purposes of this provision, the expression an a€oeoffer to the publica€ in relation to any securities
in any Relevant Member State means the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient information on the terms of the offer and any securities to be offered so as to enable an
investor to decide to purchase any securities, as the same may be varied in that Member State by any measure implementing the Prospectus Directive in that Member State, the expression
a€meProspectus Directivea€ means Directive 2003/71/EC (and amendments thereto, including the 2010 PD Amending Directive, to the extent implemented in the Relevant Member State), and
includes any relevant implementing measure in the Relevant Member State, and the expression 4€ce2010 PD Amending Directivea€ means Directive 2010/73/EU. A Hong Kong. The contents of
this prospectus have not been reviewed by any regulatory authority in Hong Kong. You are advised to exercise caution in relation to the offer. If you are in any doubt about any of the contents of
this prospectus, you should obtain independent professional advice. Please note that (i) our shares may not be offered or sold in Hong Kong, by means of this prospectus or any document other
than to a€ceprofessional investorsa€ within the meaning of Part I of Schedule 1 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap.571, Laws of Hong Kong) (SFO) and any rules made thereunder, or
in other circumstances which do not result in the document being a &€ceprospectusa€ within the meaning of the Companies Ordinance (Cap.32, Laws of Hong Kong) (CO) or which do not
constitute an offer or invitation to the public for the purpose of the CO or the SFO, and (ii) no advertisement, invitation or document relating to our shares may be issued or may be in the
possession of any person for the purpose of issue (in each case whether in Hong Kong or elsewhere) which is directed at, or the contents of which are likely to be accessed or read by, the public
in Hong Kong (except if permitted to do so under the securities laws of Hong Kong) other than with respect to the shares which are or are intended to be disposed of only to persons outside
Hong Kong or only to 4€ceprofessional investorsa€ within the meaning of the SFO and any rules made thereunder. A Israel. This document does not constitute a prospectus under the Israeli
Securities Law, 5728-1968, or the Securities Law, and has not been filed with or approved by the Israel Securities Authority. In the State of Israel, this document is being distributed only to, and
is directed only at, and any offer of the shares is directed only at, investors listed in the first addendum, or the Addendum, to the Israeli Securities Law, consisting primarily of joint investment
in trust funds, provident funds, insurance companies, banks, portfolio managers, investment advisors, members of the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange, underwriters, venture capital funds, entities with
equity in excess of NIS 50A million and &€cequalified individuals&€, each as defined in the Addendum (as it may be amended from time to time), collectively referred to as qualified investors (in
each case purchasing for their own account or, where permitted under the Addendum, for the accounts of their clients who are investors listed in the Addendum). Qualified investors will be
required to submit written confirmation that they fall within the scope of the Addendum, are aware of the meaning of same and agree to it. A 69 Table of Contents A The Peoplea€™s Republic



of China. This prospectus may not be circulated or distributed in the PRC and the shares may not be offered or sold, and will not offer or sell to any person for re-offeringA or resale directly or
indirectly to any resident of the PRC except pursuant to applicable laws, rules and regulations of the PRC. For the purpose of this paragraph only, the PRC does not include Taiwan and the
special administrative regions of Hong Kong and Macau. A Switzerland. The securities may not be publicly offered in Switzerland and will not be listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange (the SIX) or
on any other stock exchange or regulated trading facility in Switzerland. This document has been prepared without regard to the disclosure standards for issuance prospectuses under art. 652a
or art. 1156 of the Swiss Code of Obligations or the disclosure standards for listing prospectuses under art. 27 ff. of the SIX Listing Rules or the listing rules of any other stock exchange or
regulated trading facility in Switzerland. Neither this document nor any other offering or marketing material relating to the securities or the offering may be publicly distributed or otherwise
made publicly available in Switzerland. A A Neither this document nor any other offering or marketing material relating to the offering, or the securities have been or will be filed with or
approved by any Swiss regulatory authority. In particular, this document will not be filed with, and the offer of securities will not be supervised by, the Swiss Financial Market Supervisory
Authority FINMA, and the offer of securities has not been and will not be authorized under the Swiss Federal Act on Collective Investment Schemes (CISA). Accordingly, no public distribution,
offering or advertising, as defined in CISA, its implementing ordinances and notices, and no distribution to any non-qualifiedA investor, as defined in CISA, its implementing ordinances and
notices, shall be undertaken in or from Switzerland, and the investor protection afforded to acquirers of interests in collective investment schemes under CISA does not extend to acquirers of
securities. A Taiwan. The securities have not been and will not be registered with the Financial Supervisory Commission of Taiwan pursuant to relevant securities laws and regulations and may
not be sold, issued or offered within Taiwan through a public offering or in circumstances which constitutes an offer within the meaning of the Securities and Exchange Act of Taiwan that
requires a registration or approval of the Financial Supervisory Commission of Taiwan. No person or entity in Taiwan has been authorized to offer, sell, give advice regarding or otherwise
intermediate the offering and sale of the securities in Taiwan. A UnitedA Kingdom. This prospectus has only been communicated or caused to have been communicated and will only be
communicated or caused to be communicated as an invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity (within the meaning of SectionA 21 of the Financial Services and Markets Act of
2000, or the FSMA) as received in connection with the issue or sale of our common stock in circumstances in which SectionA 21(1) of the FSMA does not apply to us. All applicable provisions of
the FSMA will be complied with in respect to anything done in relation to our common stock in, from or otherwise involving the UnitedA Kingdom. A 70 Table of Contents A CERTAIN
MATERIAL U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES A The following is a general discussion of certain material U.S. federal income tax considerations relating to the acquisition,
ownership and disposition of Units, consisting of shares of common stock and Common Warrants, the acquisition, ownership and disposition of units consisting of Pre-Funded Warrants and
Common Warrants (such units are referred to in this discussion as &€cepre-funded unitsa€), the acquisition, ownership, and disposition of shares of common stock acquired as part of the Units,
the acquisition, ownership, and disposition of Pre-Funded Warrants acquired as part of the pre-funded units, the exercise, disposition, or expiration of Common Warrants acquired as part of the
Units or pre-funded units, the acquisition, ownership, and disposition of shares of common stock received upon exercise of the Pre-Funded Warrants, and the acquisition, ownership, and
disposition of shares of common stock received upon exercise of the Common Warrants (the &€cewarrant sharesa€), all as acquired pursuant to this prospectus. This discussion is based on
current provisions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the &€celnternal Revenue Codea€), existing and proposed U.S. Treasury Regulations promulgated or proposed thereunder
and current administrative and judicial interpretations thereof, all as in effect as of the date of this prospectus and all of which are subject to change or to differing interpretation, possibly with
retroactive effect. This summary does not discuss the potential effects, whether adverse or beneficial, of any proposed legislation that, if enacted, could be applied on a retroactive or
prospective basis. We have not sought and will not seek any rulings from the Internal Revenue Service (the &€eIRSa€), regarding the matters discussed below. There can be no assurance that
the IRS or a court will not take a contrary position. A This discussion is limited to U.S. holders and non-U.S. holders who hold Units, pre-funded units, shares of common stock, Pre-Funded
Warrants, Common Warrants, or warrant shares, as applicable, as a capital asset within the meaning of Section 1221 of the Internal Revenue Code (generally, as property held for investment).
This discussion does not address all aspects of U.S. federal income taxation, such as the U.S. alternative minimum income tax and the additional tax on net investment income, nor does it
address any aspect of state, local or non-U.S. taxes, or U.S. federal taxes other than income taxes, such as federal estate and gift taxes. Except as provided below, this summary does not address
tax reporting requirements. This discussion does not consider any specific facts or circumstances that may apply to a holder and does not address the special tax considerations that may be
applicable to particular holders, such as: A A—insurance companies; A 4—tax-exempt organizations and governmental orgamzatlons A a—banks or other financial institutions; A a—brokers or
dealers in securities or foreign currency; A 4—traders in securities who elect to apply a mark-to-market method of accounting; A a4—real estate investment trusts, regulated investment
companies or mutual funds; A A&—pension plans; A &—controlled foreign corporations; A 4&—passive foreign investment compames A a—corporations organized outside the United States, any
state thereof, or the District of Columbia that are nonetheless treated as U.S. persons for U.S. federal income tax purposes; A &—persons that own (dlrectly, indirectly or constructively) more
than 5% of the total voting power or total value of our common stock; A 4—corporations that accumulate earmngs to avoid U.S. federal income tax; A A—persons subject to the alternative
minimum tax; A 4—U.S. expatriates and certain former citizens or long-term residents of the United States; A &—persons that have a 4€cefunctional currencya€ other than the U.S. dollar; A &
—persons that acquire Units, pre-funded units, shares of common stock, Pre-Funded Warrants, Common Warrants or warrant shares as compensation for services; A &—owners that hold our
stock as part of a straddle, hedge, conversion transaction, synthetic security or other integrated investment; A 4—holders subject to special accounting rules; A 4—S corporations (and
shareholders thereof); A &—partnerships or other entities treated as partnerships for U.S. federal income tax purposes (and partners or other owners thereof); and A 4—U.S. holders that are
subject to taxing jurisdictions other than, or in addition to, the United States with respect to their Units, pre-funded units, shares of common stock, Pre-Funded Warrants, Common Warrants or
warrant shares, or that hold such securities in connection with a trade or business, permanent establishment or fixed base outside the United States. A 71 Table of Contents A If an entity or
arrangement taxable as a partnership (or other &€cepass-through entity) for U.S. federal income tax purposes holds our Units, pre-funded units, shares of common stock, Pre-Funded Warrants,
Common Warrants or warrant shares, the U.S. federal income tax treatment of such entity (or arrangement) and the partners (or other owners) of such entity generally will depend on the status
of the partners, the activities of the entity and certain determinations made at the partner level. This summary does not address the tax consequences to any such owner. Partners (or other
owners) of entities or arrangements that are classified as partnerships or as a€cepass-througha€ entities for U.S. federal income tax purposes should consult their own tax advisors regarding
the U.S. federal, U.S. federal net investment income, U.S. federal alternative minimum, U.S. federal estate and gift, U.S. state and local, and non-U.S. tax consequences arising from and relating
to the acquisition, ownership, and disposition our Units, pre-funded units, shares of common stock, Pre-Funded Warrants, Common Warrants or warrant shares. A For purposes of this
discussion, the term &€ceU.S. holdera€ means a beneficial owner of our Units, pre-funded units, shares of common stock, Pre-Funded Warrants, Common Warrants or warrant shares that is, for
U.S. federal income tax purposes: A A 4— an individual who is a citizen or resident of the United States; A A 4&— a corporation created or organized in or under the laws of the United States,
any state thereof or the District of Columbia; A A 4— an estate the income of which is subject to U.S. federal income taxation regardless of its source; or A A 4— a trust, if (1) a U.S. court is
able to exercise primary supervision over the administration of the trust and one or more U.S. persons have authority to control all substantial decisions of the trust or (2) the trust has a valid
election to be treated as a U.S. person under applicable U.S. Treasury Regulations. A A 4€cenon-U.S. holdera€ is a beneficial owner of our Units, pre-funded units, shares of common stock, Pre-
Funded Warrants, Common Warrants or warrant shares that is neither a U.S. holder nor a partnership (or other entity treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes). A THIS
DISCUSSION IS FOR INFORMATIONAL PURPOSES ONLY AND IS NOT, AND IS NOT INTENDED TO BE, LEGAL OR TAX ADVICE. PROSPECTIVE INVESTORS SHOULD CONSULT THEIR
OWN TAX ADVISORS REGARDING THE U.S. FEDERAL, STATE, LOCAL, AND NON-U.S. INCOME, ESTATE AND OTHER TAX CONSIDERATIONS OF ACQUIRING, HOLDING AND DISPOSING
OF OUR UNITS, PRE-FUNDED UNITS, SHARES OF COMMON STOCK, PRE-FUNDED WARRANTS, COMMON WARRANTS OR WARRANT SHARES. A U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences
of the Acquisition of Units or Pre-Funded Units A For U.S. federal income tax purposes, the acquisition by a U.S. holder or a non-U.S. holder of a Unit will be treated as the acquisition of one
share of common stock and one Common Warrant. The purchase price for each Unit will be allocated between these two components in proportion to their relative fair market values at the time
the Unit is purchased by the U.S. holder or non-U.S. holder. This allocation of the purchase price for each Unit will establish a U.S. holdera€™s or non-U.S. holdera€™s initial tax basis for U.S.
federal income tax purposes in the one share of common stock and one Common Warrant that comprise each Unit. For U.S. federal income tax purposes, each holder of our common stock and
Common Warrants must allocate the purchase price paid by such holder for such securities between the one share of common stock and the one Common Warrant based on the relative fair
market value of each at the time of issuance. Under U.S. federal income tax law, each investor must make its own determination of such value based on all the relevant facts and circumstances.
The price allocated to each share of common stock and one Common Warrant should constitute the holdera€™s initial tax basis in such share and Common Warrant, respectively. A For U.S.
federal income tax purposes, the acquisition by a U.S. holder or a non-U.S. holder of a pre-funded unit will be treated as the acquisition of one Pre-Funded Warrant and one Common Warrant.
The purchase price for each pre-funded unit will be allocated between these two components in proportion to their relative fair market values at the time the pre-funded unit is purchased by the
U.S. holder or non-U.S. holder. This allocation of the purchase price for each pre-funded unit will establish a U.S. holdera€™s or non-U.S. holdera€™s initial tax basis for U.S. federal income tax
purposes in the one Pre-Funded Warrant and one Common Warrant that comprise each pre-funded unit. For U.S. federal income tax purposes, each holder of our Pre-Funded Warrants and
Common Warrants must allocate the purchase price paid by such holder for such securities between the one Pre-Funded Warrant and the one Common Warrant based on the relative fair
market value of each at the time of issuance. Under U.S. federal income tax law, each investor must make its own determination of such value based on all the relevant facts and circumstances.
The price allocated to each one Pre-Funded Warrant share and one Common Warrant should constitute the holdera€™s initial tax basis in such Pre-Funded Warrant and Common Warrant,
respectively. A The foregoing treatment of our shares of common stock, Common Warrants, Pre-Funded Warrants, Units and pre-funded units and a holdera€™s purchase price allocation are
not binding on the IRS or the courts. No assurance can be given that the IRS or the courts will agree with the characterization described above or the discussion below. Accordingly, each
prospective investor is urged to consult its tax advisor regarding the tax consequences of an investment in our securities. The balance of this discussion assumes that the characterization of the
securities described above is respected for U.S. federal income tax purposes. A 72 Table of Contents A Treatment of Pre-Funded Warrants A Although it is not entirely free from doubt, we
believe that a Pre-Funded Warrant should be treated as a separate class of our shares of common stock for U.S. federal income tax purposes and a U.S. holder or non-U.S. holder of Pre-Funded
Warrants should generally be taxed in the same manner as a holder of shares of common stock except as described below. Accordingly, no gain or loss should be recognized upon the exercise of
a Pre-Funded Warrant and, upon exercise, the holding period of a Pre-Funded Warrant should carry over to the shares of common stock received. Similarly, the tax basis of the Pre-Funded
Warrant should carry over to the shares of common stock received upon exercise, increased by the exercise price of $0.001 per share. However, such characterization is not binding on the IRS,
and the IRS may treat the Pre-Funded Warrants as warrants to acquire shares of common stock. If so, the amount and character of a U.S. holdera€™s or non-U.S. holdera€™s gain with respect
to an investment in Pre-Funded Warrants could change. Accordingly, each U.S. holder and non-U.S. holder should consult its own tax advisors regarding the risks associated with the acquisition
of a Pre-Funded Warrant pursuant to this prospectus (including potential alternative characterizations). The balance of this discussion generally assumes that the characterization described
above is respected for U.S. federal income tax purposes. A In certain limited circumstances, a U.S. holder may be permitted to undertake a cashless exercise of Pre-Funded Warrants into
shares of common stock. The U.S. federal income tax treatment of a cashless exercise of Pre-Funded Warrants into shares of common stock is unclear, and the tax consequences of a cashless
exercise could differ from the consequences upon the exercise of a Pre-Funded Warrant described in the preceding paragraph. U.S. holders should consult their own tax advisors regarding the
U.S. federal income tax consequences of a cashless exercise of Pre-Funded Warrants. A U.S. Holders A U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Exercise, Disposition or Expiration of
Common Warrants or Certain Adjustments to the Common Warrants A Exercise of Common Warrants A A U.S. holder should not recognize gain or loss on the exercise of Common Warrants
and related receipt of warrant shares (unless cash is received in lieu of the issuance of a fractional warrant share). A U.S. holdera€™s initial tax basis in the warrant shares received on the
exercise of Common Warrants should be equal to the sum of (a) such U.S. holdera€™ s tax basis in such Common Warrants plus (b) the exercise price paid by such U.S. holder on the exercise of
such Common Warrants. It is unclear whether a U.S. holdera€™s holding period for the warrant shares received on the exercise of Common Warrants would commence on the date of exercise
of the Common Warrants or the day following the date of exercise of the Common Warrants. A In certain limited circumstances, a U.S. holder may be permitted to undertake a cashless exercise
of Common Warrants into warrant shares. The U.S. federal income tax treatment of a cashless exercise of Common Warrants into warrant shares is unclear, and the tax consequences of a
cashless exercise could differ from the consequences upon the exercise of Common Warrants described in the preceding paragraph. U.S. holders should consult their own tax advisors regarding
the U.S. federal income tax consequences of a cashless exercise of Common Warrants. A Disposition of Common Warrants A A U.S. holder will recognize gain or loss on the sale or other
taxable disposition of a Common Warrants in an amount equal to the difference, if any, between (a) the amount of cash plus the fair market value of any property received and (b) such U.S.
holdera€™s tax basis in the Common Warrant sold or otherwise disposed of. Any such gain or loss generally will be a capital gain or loss, which will be long-term capital gain or loss if the
Common Warrant is held for more than one year. Deductions for capital losses are subject to complex limitations under the Internal Revenue Code. A Expiration of Common Warrants Without
Exercise A Upon the lapse or expiration of a Common Warrants, a U.S. holder will recognize a loss in an amount equal to such U.S. holdera€™s tax basis in the Common Warrant. Any such loss
generally will be a capital loss and will be long-term capital loss if the Common Warrant is held for more than one year. Deductions for capital losses are subject to complex limitations under the
Internal Revenue Code. A Certain Adjustments to the Common Warrants A Under Section 305 of the Internal Revenue Code, an adjustment to the number of warrant shares that will be issued
on the exercise of the Common Warrants, or an adjustment to the exercise price of the Common Warrants, may be treated as a constructive distribution to a U.S. holder of the Common
Warrants if, and to the extent that, such adjustment has the effect of increasing such U.S. holdera€™s proportionate interest in the &€oeearnings and profitsa€ or our assets, depending on the
circumstances of such adjustment (for example, if such adjustment is to compensate for a distribution of cash or other property to our shareholders). Adjustments to the exercise price of
Common Warrants made pursuant to a bona fide reasonable adjustment formula that has the effect of preventing dilution of the interest of the holders of the Common Warrants should generally
not be considered to result in a constructive distribution. Any such constructive distribution would be taxable whether or not there is an actual distribution of cash or other property. (See more
detailed discussion of the rules applicable to distributions made by us at &€ceDistributions on Shares of Common Stock, Pre-Funded Warrants and Warrant Sharesa€ below). A 73 Table of
Contents A U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Acquisition, Ownership, and Disposition of Shares of Common Stock, Pre-Funded Warrants and Warrant Shares A Distributions on
Shares of Common Stock, Pre-Funded Warrants and Warrant Shares A A U.S. holder that receives a distribution, including a constructive distribution, with respect to a share of common stock,
Pre-Funded Warrant or warrant share (as well as any constructive distribution on a Common Warrant as described above) will be required to include the amount of such distribution in gross
income as a dividend to the extent of our current and accumulated 4€ceearnings and profitsa€, as computed under U.S. federal income tax principles. To the extent that a distribution exceeds
our current and accumulated a€ceearnings and profitsa€, such distribution will be treated first as a tax-free return of capital to the extent of a U.S. holdera€™s tax basis in the shares of
common stock, Pre-Funded Warrants or warrant shares and thereafter as gain from the sale or exchange of such shares of common stock, Pre-Funded Warrants or warrant shares (see a&€oeSale
or Other Taxable Disposition of Shares of Common Stock, Pre-Funded Warrants and/or Warrant Sharesa€ below). Dividends received on shares of common stock, Pre-Funded Warrants or
warrant shares may be eligible for a dividends received deduction, subject to certain restrictions relating to, among others, the corporate U.S. holdera€™ s taxable income, holding period and
debt financing. Dividends paid by us to non-corporate U.S. holders, including individuals, generally will be eligible for the preferential tax rates applicable to long-term capital gains for
dividends, provided certain holding period and other conditions are satisfied. The dividend rules are complex, and each U.S. holder should consult its own tax advisor regarding the application
of such rules. A Sale or Other Taxable Disposition of Shares of Common Stock, Pre-Funded Warrants and/or Warrant Shares A Upon the sale or other taxable disposition of shares of common
stock, Pre-Funded Warrants or warrant shares, a U.S. holder generally will recognize capital gain or loss in an amount equal to the difference between (a) the amount of cash plus the fair



market value of any property received and (b) such U.S. holdera€™s tax basis in such shares of common stock, Pre-Funded Warrants or warrant shares sold or otherwise disposed of. Gain or
loss recognized on such sale or other taxable disposition generally will be long-term capital gain or loss if, at the time of the sale or other taxable disposition, the shares of common stock, Pre-
Funded Warrants or warrant shares have been held for more than one year. Preferential tax rates may apply to long-term capital gain of a U.S. holder that is an individual, estate, or trust. There
are no preferential tax rates for long-term capital gain of a U.S. holder that is a corporation. Deductions for capital losses are subject to significant limitations under the Internal Revenue Code.
A Non-U.S. Holders A U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Exercise, Disposition or Expiration of Common Warrants or Certain Adjustments to the Common Warrants A Exercise of
Common Warrants A A non-U.S. holder generally will not recognize gain or loss on the exercise of Common Warrants and related receipt of warrant shares (unless cash is received in lieu of the
issuance of a fractional warrant share and certain other conditions are present, as discussed below under &€ceGain on Sale, Exchange or Other Taxable Disposition of Shares of Common Stock,
Pre-Funded Warrants, Warrants and Warrant Sharesa€). A non-U.S. holderd€™ s initial tax basis in the warrant shares received on the exercise of Common Warrants should be equal to the sum
of (i) the non-U.S. holdera€™ s tax basis in the Common Warrants, plus (ii) the exercise price paid by the non-U.S. holder on the exercise of the Common Warrants. It is unclear whether a non-
U.S. holdera€™s holding period for the warrant shares received on the exercise of Common Warrants would commence on the date of exercise of the Common Warrants or the day following the
date of exercise of the Common Warrants. A In certain limited circumstances, a non-U.S. holder may be permitted to undertake a cashless exercise of Common Warrants into warrant shares.
The U.S. federal income tax treatment of a cashless exercise of Common Warrants into warrant shares is unclear, and the tax consequences of a cashless exercise could differ from the
consequences upon the exercise of Common Warrants described in the preceding paragraph. Non-U.S. holders should consult their own tax advisors regarding the U.S. federal income tax
consequences of a cashless exercise of Common Warrants. A Disposition of Common Warrants A A non-U.S. Holder will recognize gain or loss on the sale or other taxable disposition of a
Common Warrant in an amount equal to the difference, if any, between (a) the amount of cash plus the fair market value of any property received and (b) such non-U.S. holdera€™s tax basis in
the Common Warrant sold or otherwise disposed of. Any such gain or loss generally will be a capital gain or loss, which will be long-term capital gain or loss if the Common Warrant is held for
more than one year. Any such gain recognized by a non-U.S. holder will be taxable for U.S. federal income tax purposes according to rules discussed under the heading &€ceGain on Sale,
Exchange or Other Taxable Disposition of Shares of Common Stock, Pre-Funded Warrants, Warrants and Warrant Sharesa€ below. A Expiration of Common Warrants without Exercise A Upon
the lapse or expiration of a Common Warrant, a non-U.S. holder will recognize loss in an amount equal to such non-U.S. holdera€™s tax basis in the Common Warrant. Any such loss generally
will be a capital loss and will be long-term capital loss if the Common Warrants are held for more than one year. Deductions for capital losses are subject to complex limitations under the
Internal Revenue Code. A Certain Adjustments to the Common Warrants A Under Section 305 of the Internal Revenue Code, an adjustment to the number of warrant shares that will be issued
on the exercise of the Common Warrants, or an adjustment to the exercise price of the Common Warrants, may be treated as a constructive distribution to a non-U.S. holder of the Common
Warrants if, and to the extent that, such adjustment has the effect of increasing such non-U.S. holdera€™ s proportionate interest in our &€ceearnings and profitsa€ or assets, depending on the
circumstances of such adjustment (for example, if such adjustment is to compensate for a distribution of cash or other property to our shareholders). Adjustments to the exercise price of a
Common Warrant made pursuant to a bona fide reasonable adjustment formula that has the effect of preventing dilution of the interest of the holders of the Common Warrants should generally
not result in a constructive distribution. See the more detailed discussion of the rules applicable to distributions made by us under the heading a4€ceDistributions on Shares of Common Stock,
Pre-Funded Warrants and Warrant Sharesa€ below. A 74 Table of Contents A U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Acquisition, Ownership, and Disposition of Shares of Common
Stock, Pre-Funded Warrants and Warrant Shares A Distributions on Shares of Common Stock, Pre-Funded Warrants and Warrant Shares A If we pay distributions of cash or property with
respect to our shares of common stock, Pre-Funded Warrants or warrant shares, those distributions generally will constitute dividends for U.S. federal income tax purposes to the extent paid
from our current or accumulated earnings and profits, as determined under U.S. federal income tax principles. If a distribution exceeds our current and accumulated earnings and profits, the
excess will be treated as a tax-free return of the non-U.S. holdera€™s investment, up to such holdera€™ s tax basis in its shares of common stock, Pre-Funded Warrants or warrants shares, as
applicable. Any remaining excess will be treated as capital gain, subject to the tax treatment described below under the heading 4€0ea€”A Gain on Sale, Exchange or Other Taxable Disposition
of Shares of Common Stock, Pre-Funded Warrants, Warrants and Warrant Shares.a€ Dividends paid to a non-U.S. holder generally will be subject to withholding of U.S. federal income tax at a
30% rate, or such lower rate as may be specified by an applicable income tax treaty between the United States and such holdera€™s country of residence. In the case of any constructive
distribution, it is possible that this tax would be withheld from any amount owed to the non-U.S. holder, including, but not limited to, distributions of cash, shares of common stock or sales
proceeds subsequently paid or credited to that holder. If we are unable to determine, at the time of payment of a distribution, whether the distribution will constitute a dividend, we may
nonetheless choose to withhold any U.S. federal income tax on the distribution as permitted by U.S. Treasury Regulations. If we are a USRPHC (as defined below) and we do not qualify for the
Regularly Traded Exception (as defined below), distributions which constitute a return of capital will be subject to withholding tax unless an application for a withholding certificate is filed to
reduce or eliminate such withholding. A Distributions that are treated as effectively connected with a trade or business conducted by a non-U.S. holder within the United States are generally
not subject to the 30% (or lower rate as may be specified by an applicable tax treaty) withholding tax if the non-U.S. holder provides a properly executed IRS Form W-8ECI stating that the
distributions are not subject to withholding because they are effectively connected with the non-U.S. holdera€™s conduct of a trade or business in the United States. If a non-U.S. holder is
engaged in a trade or business in the United States and the distribution is effectively connected with the conduct of that trade or business, the distribution will generally have the consequences
described above for a U.S. holder (subject to any modification provided under an applicable income tax treaty). Any U.S. effectively connected income received by a non-U.S. holder that is
treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes may also, under certain circumstances, be subject to an additional &€cebranch profits taxa€ at a 30% rate (or such lower rate as
may be specified by an applicable income tax treaty). A A non-U.S. holder who claims the benefit of an applicable income tax treaty between the United States and such holdera€™s country of
residence generally will be required to provide a properly executed IRS Form W-8BEN or W-8BEN-E, as applicable, and satisfy applicable certification and other requirements. A non-U.S. holder
that is eligible for a reduced rate of U.S. withholding tax under an income tax treaty generally may obtain a refund or credit of any excess amounts withheld by timely filing an appropriate claim
with the IRS. Non-U.S. holders should consult their own tax advisors regarding their entitlement to benefits under a relevant income tax treaty. A Gain on Sale, Exchange or Other Taxable
Disposition of Shares of Common Stock, Pre-Funded Warrants, Common Warrants and Warrant Shares A Subject to the discussions below inA 4€cea€”Information Reporting and Backup
Withholdinga€ andA 4€cea€”Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act,4€ a non-U.S. holder generally will not be subject to U.S. federal income tax on gain recognized on a sale, exchange or other
taxable disposition of our shares of common stock, Pre-Funded Warrants, Common Warrants, or warrant shares unless: A A a— the gain is effectively connected with the non-U.S. holdera€™s
conduct of a trade or business in the United States and, if an applicable income tax treaty so provides, the gain is attributable to a permanent establishment maintained by the non-U.S. holder in
the United States; in these cases, the non-U.S. holder will be taxed on a net income basis at the regular graduated rates and in the manner applicable to a U.S. holder, and, if the non-U.S. holder
is a corporation, an additional branch profits tax at a rate of 30%, or a lower rate as may be specified by an applicable income tax treaty, may also apply; A A 4— the non-U.S. holder is an
individual present in the United States for 183 days or more in the taxable year of the disposition and certain other conditions are met, in which case the non-U.S. holder will be subject to a 30%
tax (or such lower rate as may be specified by an applicable income tax treaty) on the amount by which such non-U.S. holdera€™ s capital gains allocable to U.S. sources exceed capital losses
allocable to U.S. sources during the taxable year of the disposition; or A A 4— we are or have been a 4€ceU.S. real property holding corporationa€ (4€ceUSRPHCA€) for U.S. federal income tax
purposes at any time during the shorter of the non-U.S. holdera€™ s holding period or the 5-year period ending on the date of disposition of shares of common stock, Pre-Funded Warrants,
Common Warrants or warrant shares; provided, with respect to the shares of common stock and warrant shares, that as long as our shares of common stock are regularly traded on an
established securities market as determined under the U.S. Treasury Regulations (the 4&€eRegularly Traded Exceptiona€), a non-U.S. holder would not be subject to taxation on the gain on the
sale of shares of common stock or warrant shares under this rule unless the non-U.S. holder has owned: (i) more than 5% of our shares of common stock at any time during such 5-year or
shorter period; (ii) Pre-Funded Warrants with a fair market value on the date acquired by such holder greater than the fair market value on that date of 5% of our shares of common stock; (iii)
Common Warrants with a fair market value on the date acquired by such holder greater than the fair market value on that date of 5% of our shares of common stock; or (iv) aggregate equity
securities of ours with a fair market value on the date acquired in excess of 5% of the fair market value of our shares of common stock on such date (in any case, a 4€0e5% Shareholdera€). Since
the Common Warrants are not expected to be listed on a securities market, the Common Warrants are unlikely to qualify for the Regularly Traded Exception. Special rules apply to the Pre-
Funded Warrants. Non-U.S. holders holding Pre-Funded Warrants should consult their own tax advisors regarding such rules. In determining whether a non-U.S. holder is a 5% Shareholder,
certain attribution rules apply in determining ownership for this purpose. We believe that we are not currently, and do not anticipate becoming in the future, a USRPHC for U.S. federal income
tax purposes. However, we can provide no assurances that we are not currently, or will not become, a USRPHC, or if we are or become a USRPHC, that the shares of common stock, Pre-Funded
Warrants, Common Warrants or warrant shares will meet the Regularly Traded Exception at the time a non-U.S. holder purchases such securities or sells, exchanges or otherwise disposes of
such securities. Non-U.S. holders should consult with their own tax advisors regarding the consequences to them of investing in a USRPHC. If we are a USRPHC, a non-U.S. holder will be taxed
as if any gain or loss were effectively connected with the conduct of a trade or business as described above in &€ceDistributions on Shares of Common Stock, Pre-Funded Warrants and Warrant
Sharesa€ in the event that (i) such holder is a 5% Shareholder, or (ii) the Regularly Traded Exception is not satisfied during the relevant period. A 75 Table of Contents A Information Reporting
and Backup Withholding A Distributions on, and the payment of the proceeds of a disposition of, our shares of common stock, Pre-Funded Warrants and warrant shares generally will be subject
to information reporting if made within the United States or through certain U.S.-related financial intermediaries. Information returns are required to be filed with the IRS and copies of
information returns may be made available to the tax authorities of the country in which a holder resides or is incorporated under the provisions of a specific treaty or agreement. A Backup
withholding may also apply if the holder fails to provide certification of exempt status or a correct U.S. taxpayer identification number and otherwise comply with the applicable backup
withholding requirements. Generally, a holder will not be subject to backup withholding if it provides a properly completed and executed IRS Form W-9 or appropriate IRS Form W-8, as
applicable. Backup withholding is not an additional tax. Amounts withheld under the backup withholding rules may be refunded or credited against the holdera€™s U.S. federal income tax
liability, if any, provided certain information is timely filed with the IRS. A Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act A Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Internal Revenue Code (commonly
referred to as 4€eFATCA4€) impose a separate reporting regime and potentially a 30% withholding tax on certain payments, including payments of dividends on our shares of common stock,
Pre-Funded Warrants and warrant shares. Withholding under FATCA generally applies to payments made to or through a foreign entity if such entity fails to satisfy certain disclosure and
reporting rules. These rules generally require (i) in the case of a foreign financial institution, that the financial institution agree to identify and provide information in respect of financial
accounts held (directly or indirectly) by U.S. persons and U.S.-owned entities, and, in certain instances, to withhold on payments to account holders that fail to provide the required information,
and (ii) in the case of a non-financial foreign entity, that the entity either identify and provide information in respect of its substantial U.S. owners or certify that it has no such U.S. owners. A
FATCA withholding also potentially applies to payments of gross proceeds from the sale or other disposition of our shares of common stock, Pre-Funded Warrants and warrant shares. Proposed
U.S. Treasury Regulations, however, would eliminate FATCA withholding on such payments, and the U.S. Treasury Department has indicated that taxpayers may rely on this aspect of the
proposed U.S. Treasury Regulations until final U.S. Treasury Regulations are issued. A Non-U.S. holders typically will be required to furnish certifications (generally on the applicable IRS Form
W-8) or other documentation to provide the information required by FATCA or to establish compliance with or an exemption from withholding under FATCA. FATCA withholding may apply
where payments are made through a non-U.S. intermediary that is not FATCA compliant, even where the non-U.S. holder satisfies the holdera€™s own FATCA obligations. A The United States
and a number of other jurisdictions have entered into intergovernmental agreements to facilitate the implementation of FATCA. Any applicable intergovernmental agreement may alter one or
more of the FATCA information reporting and withholding requirements. You are encouraged to consult with your own tax advisor regarding the possible implications of FATCA on your
investment in our shares of common stock, Pre-Funded Warrants or warrant shares, including the applicability of any intergovernmental agreements. A THE ABOVE SUMMARY IS NOT
INTENDED TO CONSTITUTE A COMPLETE ANALYSIS OF ALL TAX CONSIDERATIONS APPLICABLE TO PROSPECTIVE INVESTORS WITH RESPECT TO THE ACQUISITION, OWNERSHIP,
AND DISPOSITION OF UNITS, PRE-FUNDED UNITS, SHARES OF COMMON STOCK, PRE-FUNDED WARRANTS, WARRANTS OR WARRANT SHARES. PROSPECTIVE INVESTORS SHOULD
CONSULT THEIR OWN TAX ADVISORS AS TO THE TAX CONSIDERATIONS APPLICABLE TO THEM IN LIGHT OF THEIR OWN PARTICULAR CIRCUMSTANCES. A 76 Table of Contents A
Experts A Our consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholdersa€™ equity (deficit), and cash flows for each
of those two years and included in the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part have been audited by Simon & Edward, LLP, independent registered public accounting firm, as
indicated in its report with respect thereto, and have been so included in reliance upon the report of such firm given on their authority as experts in accounting and auditing. A Legal Matters A
Ellenoff Grossman & Schole LLP, New York, New York, is acting as counsel in connection with the registration of our securities under the Securities Act, and as such, will pass upon the validity
of the securities offered hereby. Certain matters are being passed on for the Placement Agent by AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAA.A Where You Can Find More Information A We have filed
with the SEC a registration statement on FormA S-1 under the Securities Act with respect to the shares of common stock and Common Warrants offered hereby. This prospectus, which
constitutes a part of the registration statement, does not contain all of the information set forth in the registration statement or the exhibits and schedules filed with the registration statement.
For further information about us and the common stock and Common Warrants offered hereby, we refer you to the registration statement and the exhibits filed with the registration statement.
Statements contained in this prospectus regarding the contents of any contract or any other document that is filed as an exhibit to the registration statement are not necessarily complete, and
each such statement is qualified in all respects by reference to the full text of such contract or other document filed as an exhibit to the registration statement. The SEC also maintains an
internet website that contains reports, proxy statements and other information about registrants, like us, that file electronically with the SEC. The address of that website is www.sec.gov. A We
are required to file periodic reports, proxy statements, and other information with the SEC pursuant to the Exchange Act. These reports, proxy statements, and other information will be
available on the website of the SEC referred to above. A We also maintain a website at www.ryvyl.com, through which you may access these materials free of charge as soon as reasonably
practicable after they are electronically filed with, or furnished to, the SEC. Information contained on or accessed through our website is not a part of this prospectus and the inclusion of our
website address in this prospectus is an inactive textual reference only. A 77 Table of Contents A INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS A A A Page Audited Financial Statements Report of
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm A F-2 Balance Sheets as of DecemberA 31, 2023 and 2022 A F-4 Statements of Operations for the year ended DecemberA 31, 2023 and
DecemberA 31, 2022 A F-5 Statements of Consolidated Changes for the year ended DecemberA 31, 2023 and DecemberA 31, 2022 A F-6 Statements of Cash Flows for the year ended
DecemberA 31, 2023 and DecemberA 31, 2022 A F-7 Notes to Financial Statements A F-8 A A A Unaudited Financial Statements Condensed Balance Sheets as of SeptemberA A 31, 2024
(Unaudited) and DecemberA 31, 2023 A F-34 Condensed Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income for the three months and nine months ended SeptemberA A 30, 2023 and 2024
(Unaudited) A F-35 Condensed Statements of Changes in Stockholdersa€™ Equity for the three months and nine months ended SeptemberA 30, 2024 and 2023 (Unaudited) A F-36 Condensed
Statements of Cash Flows for the nine months ended SeptemberA 30, 2024 and 2023 (Unaudited) A F-38 Notes to the Financial Statements (Unaudited) A F-39 A F-1 Table of Contents A
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm A Shareholders and Board of Directors RYVYL, Inc. San Diego, CA A Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements A We have
audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Ryvyl, Inc. (the 4€ceCompany4€) as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the related consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive income, stockholdersa€™ equity(deficit), and cash flows for each of the years then ended, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the a€ceconsolidated financial
statementsa€). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the results



of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. A Substantial Doubt About the
Company&€™s Ability to Continue as a Going Concern A The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern.
As described in Note 2 and Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements, there has been a notable decrease in processing volume during the first quarter of 2024 subsequently, primarily
due to the transition of the QuickCard product in North America. This transition has resulted in a significant decline in processing volume and revenue, consequently affecting the
Companya€™s short-term cash flow for operating activities. The cash flow shortage has jeopardized its ability to continue as a going concern. Managementa€ ™s evaluation of the events and
conditions and managementa€™s plans regarding these matters are also described in Note 2. The consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the
outcome of this uncertainty. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter. A Basis for Opinion A These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Companya€™s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company4a€™s consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (2€cePCAOBA€) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and
the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. A We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud.
The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding
of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Companya€™ s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we
express no such opinion. A Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and
performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated
financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. A Critical Audit Matter A The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from
the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that were communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relate to accounts or disclosures
that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not
alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing separate opinions on the
critical audit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate. A Goodwill A As described in Notes 2, 4 and 6 to the consolidated financial statements, the Companya€ ™
consolidated Goodwill balance was $26.753 million at December 31, 2023. A The Company utilized the qualitative assessment when performing annual goodwill impairment, based on Wthh the
management concluded there was no impairment as of December 31, 2023. A F-2 Table of Contents A We identified the goodwill impairment as a critical audit matter because the assessment
is solely relied on a qualitative assessment result which involves the managementa€™ s subjective interpretation of the potential events and circumstances. Auditing these elements involved a
high degree of auditor judgment and an increased extent of effort when performing audit procedures to evaluate the reasonableness of managementa€™ s interpretation in relation to the
potential events and circumstances. A The primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter included: A A 4— Conducted a comprehensive walkthrough of the financial
reporting cycles, specifically focusing on the procedures related to managementa€™ s annual evaluation of goodwﬂl impairment. A 4— Assessed the validity of managementa€™s analysis and
evaluation of pertinent events and circumstances, scrutinizing the financial data utilized in the assessment. A 4— Independently recalculated the fair value of each reporting unit using the
discounted cash flow method, aligning with managementa€™s long-term strategic plan and adjusting for the Company&€™s current performance. A &— Further assessed impairment by
comparing the net book value of assets to the Companya€™s market capitalization. A Modification and Conversion of Senior Convertible Note (the &€ceNotea€) A As outlined in Note 9 to the
consolidated financial statements, the Companya€™s consolidated balance of a Note amounted to $15.294 million as of December 31, 2023 following two modifications made to the Note
throughout the year. A The intricate accounting rules governing senior convertible note modification and conversion necessitate a detailed assessment of future cash flows, particularly
considering the variable conversion price and the fair market value of the conversion both before and after modification. Incorrectly applying payment scenarios could result in a significant
impact on accounting outcomes. A We identified the Note modification as a critical audit matter because of the Company has amended the Note twice in a year. Auditing these elements
involved complex auditor judgment due to the nature and extent of audit effort required to address these matters. A The primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter
included: A A 4— Conducted a comprehensive walkthrough of the financial reporting cycles, which encompassed the handling of significant equity and financing transactions. A &— Evaluated
the expertise of the specialist engaged by the Company to assess the impact of the Note modification. This assessment involved scrutinizing the reasonableness of assumptions made,
considering the Companya€™s historical stock prices, operational performance, third-party market data, and ensuring consistency with evidence obtained elsewhere in the audit. A 4—
Assessed the accounting treatment of the Note modification in accordance with ASC 470 and ASC 815 while also recalculating the cash flow used for 10% testing. A 4— Assessed the accuracy
of accounting entries based on the outcomes of the assessment, including the validation of principal repayment and principal conversion entries made upon modification A 4— Verified the
recognition of the Note by scrutinizing the input of the amortization schedule and recalculating said schedule to ensure accuracy. A /s/A A Simon & Edward, LLP We have served as the
Company4€™s auditor since 2022. Rowland Heights, CA A March 26, 2024 A F-3 Table of Contents A RYVYL INC. CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (in thousands, except share and per
share data) A AA December 31,A A A 2023A A 2022A ASSETSA AAA AA Current Assets:A AAA AA Cash and cash equivalentsA $12,180A A $13,961A Restricted cashA A 61,138A A
A 26,873A Accounts receivable, net of allowance for credit losses of $23 and $82, respectivelyA A 859A A A 1,156A Cash due from gateways, net of allowance of $2,636 and $3,917,
respectivelyA A 12,834A A A 7,427A Prepaid and other current assetsA A 2,854A A A 9,799A Total current assetsA A 89,865A A A59,216A AA AAAA AAA Non-current Assets:A
AAAA AAA Property and equipment, netA A 306A A A 1,696A GoodwillA A 26,753A A A 26,753A Intangible assets, netA A 5,059A A A 6,739A Operating lease right-of-use assets, netA
A4,279A A A 1,533A Other assetsA A 2,403A A A 1,720A Total non-current assetsA A 38,800A A A 38,441A AA AAAA AAA Total assetsA $128,665A A $97,657A AA AAAA AAA
meunmANDﬁoammmmmﬁmEomﬂmmHaDAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAcMmmuwmmSAAAAAAAAAmmmmpwwMAAlswAAA16wAAmmw
liabilitiesA A 5,755A A A 3,350A Accrued interestA A-A A A 1,728A Payment processing liabilities, netA A 76,772A A A 28,912A Current portion of operating lease liabilitiesA A 692A A

A 534A Other current liabilitiesA A 504A A A 582A Total current liabilitiesA A 85,542A A A 36,736A Long term debt, net of debt discount of $3,906 and $24,349, respectivelyA A 15,912A A
A 61,735A Operating lease liabilities, less current portionA A 3,720A A A 1,109A Total liabilitiesA A 105,174A A A 99,580A AA AAAA AAA Commitments and contingenciesA A ‘AAA
AAA AA AAAA AAA Stockholdersa€™ Equity/(Deficit):A AAAA AAA Preferred stock, Series B, par value $0.01, 5,000,000 shares authorized; shares issued and outstanding of 55,000
and 0, respectivelyA A 1AA A-A Common stock, par value $0.001, 100,000,000 shares authorized; shares issued and outstanding of 5,996,948 and 4,972,736, respectivelyA A 6A A A 5A
Additional pald in CapltalA A 175,664A A A 97,494A Accumulated other comprehenswe incomeA A 401A A A 357A Accumulated deficitA A (152,581)A A (99, 772) Less: Shares to be
returnedA A -A A A (7) Total stockholdersa€™ equity/(deficit)A A 23,491A A A (1, 923) AA AAAA AAA Total liabilities and stockholdera€™ s equity/(deficit)A $128,665A A $97,657A A
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these audited financial statements. A F-4 Table of Contents A RYVYL INC. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS (in thousands,
except share and per share data) A A A Year Ended December 31,A A A 2023A A 2022A RevenueA $65,869A A $32, 909A Cost of revenueA A 40,157A A A 16,786A Gross proﬁtA
A25712AA A16,123A AA AAAA AAA Operating expenses:A AAAA AAA Advertising and marketingA A 80AA A 1,337A Research and developmentA A 5,757A A A 6,276A General
and administrativeA A 8,678A A A 6,603A Payroll and payroll taxesA A 12,017A A A 10,547A Professional feesA A 7,076A A A 5,312A Stock compensation expenseA A 1,853A A A2,969A
Depreciation and amortizationA A 2,553A A A 20,917A Total operating expensesA A 38,014AA A53,961A AA AAAA AAA Loss from operationsA A (12,302)A A (37,838) AA A A AA

A A A Other income (expense):A AAAA AAA Interest expenseA A (3,340)A A (8,169) Accretion of debt discountA A (13,134)A A (13,980) Changes in fair value of derivative liabilityA

A 6,544A A A 16,857A Derecognition expense on conversion of convertible debtA A (25,035)A A (5,709) Legal settlement expenseA A (4,142)A A -A Gain on sale of property and equipmentA

A1,069AA A-A Other expenseA A (2,472)A A (405) Total other income (expense) netA A (40, 510)A A1, 406) AA AAAA AAA Loss before provision for income taxesA A (52 812)A

A (49 244) AA AAAA AAA Income tax pr0v1510nA A289AA A(B)AA AAAA AAA NetlossA $(53,101)A $(49, 236) AA AAAA AAA Comprehenswe income statement:A A A A A

AAA Net [ogsA $(53,101)A $(49 236) Foreign currency translation gamA A 44A A A 357A Total comprehenswe lossA $(5§ QSZ)A $(48,879) AA AAAA AAA Netloss per share:A
AAAA AAA Basic and dilutedA $(10.11)A $(10.80) Weighted average number of common shares outstandmg A AAAA AAA Basic and dilutedA A 5,251,852A A A 4,557,200A A The
accompanying notes are an integral part of these audited financial statements. A F-5 Table of Contents A RYVYL INC. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS&€™
EQUITY/(DEFICIT) (in thousands, except share and per share data) A A A Common Stock A A Treasury Stock A A Preferred Stock A A A’ A Other A A A A A A A A SharesA A Amount
A A Tobelssued A A Amount A A To be returned A A Amount A A Shares A A at Cost A A Series B Shares A A Amount A A Additional Paid In Capital A A Accumulated
Comprehensive Income A A Accumulated Deficit A A Total Stockholdersa€™ Equlty/(Peflplg)A AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAA A AAAAA
43 )

A A'AAA A A Balance at DecemberA 31, 2021 (as restated)A A 4,354,665AA SAAAAAA4AA A
AAA-AA $81,479AA $AAAAAA-AA $(50,536)A $29,469A A
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AANmmwmmemwammm$‘ AA A- - - A-AA A-AAAAAA-AAA-AA A-AA A-AA A44AA A (53,101)A
AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAABmmmaHMmmmm3lNBAASQ%QMAA
$6AA A-AA $- $-AA A55000AA $1AA $175,664A A $401A A $(152,581)A $23,491A A The accompanying notes are an mtegral part of these audited financial
statements. A F-6 Table of Contents A RYVYL INC. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (in thousands, except share and per share data)A A A A Year Ended December 31,A

A A 2023A A 2022A Cash flows from operating activities: A AAA AA NetlossA $(53,101)A $(49 236) Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities: A AAAA
AAA Depreciation and amortization expenseA A 2,553A A A 20,917A Noncash lease expenseA A 350A A A 43A Stock compensation expenseA A 1,853A A A 2,969A Stock issued for
interest expenseA A-A A A 2,418A Accretion of debt discountA A 13,134A A A 13,980A Derecognition expense on conversion of convertible debtA A 25,035A A A 5,709A Changes in fair
value of derivative liabilityA A (6,544)A A (16,857) Gain on sale of property and equipmentA A (1,069)A A -A Changes in assets and liabilities: A AAAA AAA Accounts receivable, netA
A297AA A (1, 367) Prepaid and other current assetsA A 6,568A A A (1,539) Cash due from gateways, netA A (5, 407)A A (1,218) Other assetsA A (1, 183)A A (6) Accounts payableA

A 189A A A1,161A Accrued and other current liabilitiesA A 2,080A A A 2,662A Accrued interestA A 546A A A 502A Payment processing liabilities, netA A 47,860